Governance in transition: Exploring people's mindset and institutional matches towards a governable coastal fisheries in South Korea

By

© Andrew Moonseok Song

A Thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Geography Memorial University of Newfoundland

May 2014

St. John's

Newfoundland and Labrador

#### Abstract

Many fisheries challenges are closely linked to the choice of governance style, with the typical top-down, hierarchical mode unable to effectively cope with ever more diverse, complex, dynamic, and multi-scalar fisheries reality. Subsequently, transition towards a co-management type has been a popular trend in many coastal fisheries around the world. Although this initiative has shown potential in bringing positive outcomes to local fishery and communities, in many cases the transition process has proved to be a 'wicked' undertaking with multiple intricate issues emerging to complicate the efforts and to frustrate community members, practitioners and researchers alike. Recognizing the need for alternate insights into these implementation challenges, this thesis argues for a thorough understanding of governance change by highlighting the importance of 'metaorder governance' elements, such as values, images and principles, of various fisheries stakeholders in shaping its outcomes. Further, it calls for an investigation of the institutional aspect of governance to underscore the structural elements being promoted in the transition and to elucidate its fit with the meta-level notions of governance actors, including the local fishers affected by them. These two areas of inquiry are inspired by the interactive governance theory and the governability concept, which emphasizes the need to examine all aspects of a governance system and their interconnectivity in order to solve problems and create societal opportunities. A government-initiated fisheries comanagement program currently underway in South Korea, called 'Javul', forms the context in which this new focus is applied. The main research question this thesis aims to explore is "how does the governance change instituted by the central government align with what fishers fundamentally conceive to be important and desirable for the fishery?" In addition to theoretical conceptualization, the research has a strong emphasis on method development, given the knowledge gap in the elicitation of values, images and principles in empirical settings. The approach advanced here can be extended to examine the implementation of other fisheries governance initiatives, such as marine protected areas, individual transferable quotas and seafood certification schemes, to provide a useful way of understanding their standings and prospects. In the process, new insights may surface, challenging and improving the core ideas raised in this research.

#### Acknowledgements

I wish to express my sincerest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Ratana Chuenpagdee. Every progress I have made, or even any future achievement, is indebted to her mentoring. I would also like to thank Dr. Arn Keeling and Dr. Svein Jentoft for their invaluable wisdom and guidance along the way.

This research was facilitated though funding from the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council, as well as through partial funding and institutional support of the Department of Geography and the School of Graduate Studies at the Memorial University.

I acknowledge the valuable assistance provided by Dr. Dong-ryul Chae of the Gyeongnam Development Institute, Dr. Dae-Young Kim of the Korea Maritime Institute, and Mr. Sun-Kwon Kim of the Korea Fisheries Association during fieldwork in Korea. In addition, a number of fishing community leaders, researchers, government officials, non-governmental consultants and other key informants located at various parts of the country, have treated me with kindness and empathy which I will not easily forget. Of course, the research would have not been possible without the generous contribution of the survey participants.

Cheers to the colleagues at the International Coastal Network – particularly Ahmed Khan, Ian Ivany, Darrell Kennedy, Sharmane Allen and María José Barragán Paladines, for camaraderie and much-needed light-heartedness in and out of the office.

iii

Last but not least, I express ultimate appreciation to friends, family, and relatives, especially my parents and grandmother, for their irreplaceable emotional, moral, and cultural support.

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	. viii
ů – Elektrik	
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
Theoretical foundation and analytical concepts	6
Interactive governance theory	6
Governability	9
Meta-order and second order of governance	10
Thesis scope, research questions and chapter outline	12
Case study: The Jayul Fisheries Community Management in South Korean coastal	
fisherv	18
Overview of the fisheries	18
Management history and setup	21
'Javul Community Fisheries Management' program	26
Methodology	28
Co-authorship statement	31
References	32
Chapter 2 Values, images, and principles: what they represent and how they may	/
improve fisheries governance	43
Chapter 3 Institutional thinking in fisheries governance: broadening perspective	s.78
Chapter 4 Eliciting values and principles of fishery stakeholders in South Korea:	а
methodological exploration	99
Chapter 5 Exploring stakeholders' images of coastal fisheries: a South Korean	
example	.135
Chapter 6 Co-management and people's mindset in South Korean fisheries:	
institutional match?	.175
Chapter 7 Conclusion	.210
Major conclusions	.211

# Table of Contents

Theoretical contributions	211
Methodological advances	213
Case study application: South Korean coastal fisheries	214
Practical governance insights	218
Future research directions	221
How values, images, and principles are linked to and influence each other	221
'Change in mindset' and governmentality	222
Methodological improvement	224
Application to other governance efforts	225
Final reflection – governability	225
References	228

Appendix I Survey instrument (for resource-dependent community members)	230
Appendix II Survey instrument (for managers/researchers)	236

# List of Tables

Chapter 1 Table 1	List of data collection and analysis methods used in the research organized by chapter
Chapter 2	
Table 1	Twenty-four thematic value types that emerged from a review of eight value schemes, followed by the number of articles generated in a literature scan conducted for each value type in the fisheries governance context. The value types are described by the search words and categorized under the four broad value orientations
Table 2	Three types of arguments concerning image emerged in fisheries governance literature and examples of supporting ideas
Chapter 4	
Table 1	Key characteristics of comparable value elicitation methods 105
Table 2	Descriptive statements for (a) 16 values and (b) 16 principles 113
Table 3	(a) Fishery attributes and (b) demographic information of respondent
Table 4	Kendall's W and chi-square scores for the nine surveyed groups118
Chapter 5	
Table 1	(a) Fishery attributes and (b) demographic information of respondent groups
Table 2	11 image themes and 28 categories generated in the survey representing an inclusive range of stakeholders' images about fisheries and fishing life152
Chapter 6	
Table 1	Summary of mismatches between the institutional aims of the Jayul program and the mindset of fishing communities organized under the broad analysis scheme inspired by Scott (2008)

# List of Figures

Chapter 1 Figure 1 Figure 2 Figure 3 Figure 4	Conceptualization of interactive governance theory
Chapter 2 Figure 1	Ordering of 20 most frequently referred to and discussed governance principles in fisheries identified by this review. The total numbers of articles featuring the principles that belong to each sub-system and the breakdown of the 20 principles according the sub-system classification are also displayed
Chapter 3 Figure 1	Diagrammatic representation of institutional thinking in fisheries governance centering on a broadened scheme proposed by Scott of what institutions comprise
Chapter 4 Figure 1 Figure 2 Figure 3	Generic design of the P+ sort method comprising cards, a sorting board and semi-structured follow-up questions
Figure 4	Percentages displaying the sorting patterns of the significantly different (a) values and (b) principles, compared between aggregate community group (CM, n=200) and manager/researcher group (M/R, n=25)
Chapter 5 Figure 1 Figure 2	Map of South Korea

Figure 3	Ten widely-elicited categories that form the main images about fisheries and fishing life, as conceived by the surveyed stakeholders and prompted by the	
Figure 4	four aspects of a fisheries system	4 51
Chapter 6 Figure 1	Map of South Korea	4

## Chapter 1 Introduction

Fisheries governance has been a subject of research for several decades. Yet, while successful cases of fisheries that are moving towards sustainability have been documented (Hilborn et al. 2005; Hilborn 2007), a general decline of the resources at the macro-scale observed around the world (Pauly et al. 2002; Myers and Worm 2003; Allan et al. 2005; FAO 2012a) suggests that fisheries governance faces many challenges (Cochrane 2000; Beddington et al. 2007; Berkes et al. 2007; Mora et al. 2009). Unsustainable fishery outcomes bring real as well as serious consequences on several fronts. About 200 million full-time jobs provided by global fisheries (Teh and Sumaila 2013) could be put in a vulnerable position, for instance. Such a scenario was observed in the collapse of a Newfoundland cod fishery, which resulted in soaring unemployment in the traditionally fishing-heavy regions (Hamilton and Butler 2001; Schrank 2005). Poorly governed fishery also creates grave concerns in securing animal protein supply for the world's population, especially for the poor (Kent 1997; Béné et al. 2007; Jentoft and Eide 2011). Further, fisheries hold cultural meanings and significance to local communities, which may face abrupt erosion with a fisheries collapse (McGoodwin 2001; Close et al. 2002; Foale et al. 2011). The need for a global effort on rebuilding marine resources is being called upon in moving forward, with consideration of a diverse set of governance options congruent with local context (Worm et al. 2009; Khan and Neis 2010).

One of the key developments in addressing the fisheries challenges has been an effort towards governance transition. Broadly meaning changes in the mode of

governance, which involves hierarchical, co- and self-governance (Gray 2005; Kooiman et al. 2005), many jurisdictions in various parts of the world have begun to experiment with governance reforms, particularly those embodying a process of transition (e.g., Hall-Arber 2005; Olsson et al. 2008; Armitage et al. 2011; Cinner et al. 2012). Appearing under the rubric of fisheries co-governance (more commonly referred to as 'comanagement') or self-governance (see Wilson et al. 2003; Townsend et al. 2008), such transition typically involves a move from a long-established top-down, hierarchical governing structure to a more decentralized and collaborative one, based on the premise that greater fisher participation and responsibility in managing a local fishery could lead to better governance. Co-management is built on partnership between various actors to create an arrangement for joint, trust-based and democratic governance (see Jentoft 2005; Frangoudes et al. 2008; Berkes 2009). Self-governance in fisheries relies on elements such as customary tenure, group norms, social taboos, and informal rules. While this form of arrangement has persisted in certain parts of the world, particularly in the South, a renewed interest in instituting it in developed countries context is also being observed (Johannes 2002; Basurto 2008; Townsend et al. 2008). Overall, the change in the governance mode involves a shift in the relative weights of the main actors (e.g., state, market, civil society and community) with regard to the role and power dynamics (Meuleman 2008; Foley 2013) in order to produce a setup more conducive to resolving issues and creating opportunities.

Despite decades of thinking and experience in governance transition, which have resulted in numerous case studies and a large quantity of research material, its progress has not been without significant challenges and failures. For instance, co-management can be path-dependent, meaning that outcomes may have already been largely determined by the time it was conceived and initiated (Chuenpagdee and Jentoft 2007). There are also social and political concerns such as the participation paradox (Suárez de Vivero et al. 2008), elite capture (Platteau and Abraham 2002), and the lack of capacity of resource user communities (Fabricius et al. 2007). Other less fruitful attempts have been observed around the world (e.g., Scholtz et al. 1998; Pinkerton 1999; Cheong 2005; Blaikie 2006; Gelcich et al. 2006; Njaya 2007; Béné et al. 2009; Cudney-Bueno and Basurto 2009). As such, transition to a new governance mode is never a straightforward affair, further contributing to the 'wickedness' in the governing of world's fisheries (Ludwig et al. 1993; Dietz et al. 2003; Jentoft and Chuenpagdee 2009). In this backdrop, there appears a need for a sustained research attention and alternative outlooks on the issues of governance transition to examine it in a new light and also to stimulate further discussion on the topic.

Affiliated with interactive governance theory, an emerging perspective called governability has come to the fore in recent years offering a novel way of approaching fisheries governance and therefore studying governance transition (Kooiman et al. 2005; Kooiman 2008; Bavinck et al. 2013). With an emphasis on understanding an inherent and constructed quality of a fisheries arrangement, a governability-inspired inquiry would seek whether a system (e.g., an inshore fishery) or a process in question (e.g., governance transition) is a governable one, capable of dealing with the multiple problems and issues facing the sector. Subsequently, it searches for ways to make it more governable, recognizing also limits to governability.

The purview of governability is wide-ranging and raises various possibilities for a potentially innovative analytical direction in which fisheries research can be undertaken. Among them is an interest in the meta-order of governance. Representing one of the understudied areas of governance, this aspect focuses on people's normative ideas and underlying convictions that form the basis of governing decisions and actions (Kooiman and Jentoft 2009). The assertion is that all those involved in fisheries governance hold certain deeply-held notions about the fishery, policies and also about themselves, and they can inspire, guide, and shape the process and outcome of governance. Likewise, the meta-order is also posited to influence governability of governance transition. Yet, studies that fully examine this concept are rare. The elements that constitute the meta-order, such as values and principles, thus, remain hidden under the radar and the potential to spark alternative insights go unnoticed.

An example of this is a concept framed as the 'mindset'. We often hear a call such as "ultimately, change in mindset (or a new mindset) is necessary" when attempting to effectuate lasting positive changes in natural resource policy (e.g., fisheries– Mace and Gabriel 1999; Francis et al. 2007; Korda et al. 2008; water management– Sadler 1998; Postel 2003; Biswas 2009; agriculture– Wall 2007; Ahnström et al. 2008), and climate change adaptation– Capili et al. 2005). In this sense, people's mindset is regarded as a crucial link in initiating or maintaining successful governance outcomes. Despite a common usage of the term, both what a new mindset specifically refers to and how to bring about a new mindset is not well accounted for in many cases. Furthermore, who initiates, who it targets and how widespread it may occur is rarely discussed, leaving this sweeping generalization hollow in its projection. Thus, there is a need for a study that firmly engages with the meta-order aspect of governance to generate potentially useful discoveries.

In deepening the understanding of meta-order mechanisms, this study relies on another order of governance, which deals with institutions and complements the governance actors' normative notions. According to the interactive governance, designing and caring for institutions is the second order matter. Institutions are identified as a structural frame that gives substance to governance transition as well as provides stability and continuity to people's underlying thoughts (Kooiman et al. 2005). How institutions constrain normative notions and how they in return strengthen or weaken institutions are the types of insights that can be sought. Uncovering such interactions between the two orders of governance is expected to enrich the overall analysis and also illuminate their influence on governability (Chuenpagdee and Jentoft 2013).

In summary, this dissertation research is interested in studying the changes in governance mode, especially one that undergoes a transition from hierarchical to co-, or self-governance. It aims to enhance the existing body of knowledge by engaging in the under-explored theoretical angles of meta- and second order of governance inspired by the governability perspective. Since these topics are under-researched, the dissertation also intends to contribute to the methodological development of governance research through an innovative design.

The introduction chapter resumes with a description of interactive governance theory which forms an overarching theoretical framework for this dissertation research. This is followed by an explanation of the governability concept, a useful analytics that guides the formulation of the research questions. Drawing from a co-management process

taking place in South Korean coastal fisheries, together with the theoretical inspirations, the research aims and objectives are presented. Next, an outline of the thesis is provided, together with a summary of the chapters, which is followed by a detailed description of the South Korean fisheries. Finally, the chapter offers a discussion on methods, and ends with the co-authorship statement.

#### Theoretical foundation and analytical concepts

#### Interactive governance theory

This research stems from the ideas raised in interactive governance theory, whose interdisciplinary deliberation was grounded in Kooiman's concept of governance (Kooiman 1993; Kooiman 2003) and later refined by others in the context of fisheries and aquaculture (Kooiman et al. 2005; Chuenpagdee 2011; Bavinck et al. 2013). Its general premise lies in the view that interactions are the fundamental conditions for the existence and functioning of social-ecological systems (Kooiman 2008). In this sense, any fisheries or human-in-nature system can be characterized and evaluated by the concept of interaction, whether through the presence or the absence of interactions, or the types and the nature of interactions, or the actors involved in them, or finally the speed at which interactions happen and hindrances that exist to impede its vigour. Kooiman et al. (2005, p.17) define interactive governance as:

the whole of public as well as private interactions taken to solve societal problems and create societal opportunities. It includes the formulation and application of principles guiding those interactions and care for institutions that enable them. One of the key aspects it brings forward is the mode of governance (see Fig. 1). The governance mode sets an overarching perimeter within which the formation and execution of governing activities unfold. With hierarchical, co- and self-governance as the three most prevalent modes, it has a far-reaching effect in how a fishery operates. The interest in the mode has arisen from observing the limitations of centrally-coordinated hierarchical governance, in which problems in goal-setting, garnering legitimacy, and maintaining responsiveness may reduce its effectiveness (Jentoft et al. 2005). The attention on the mode also stems from the common property research (Ostrom 1990; Young 2001; Ostrom et al. 2002), which argues that the collective action problem, visualized as the "tragedy of the commons", can be alleviated by an alternate mode involving community-based initiatives beyond the usual prescriptions of stronger government direction or privatization.

Governing modes operate in tandem with other aspects of the governance system. Interactive governance specifies three orders of governance at which the governing modes are constructed (see Fig. 1). The first order deals with day-to-day activities required to solve societal problems and create societal opportunities. This is the domain of governance that mostly resembles management, i.e., technical and mundane decisions and actions related to performing tasks and solving operational problems (Chuenpagdee 2011). Governance implies more, however, involving two extra outer layers. Captured in the definition of interactive governance above and also shown in Fig. 1, the second order refers to the institutional aspect – a structural arrangement and mechanism that houses and enables the first order activities. The third, or meta-order, is about the ideas and processes that "govern the governance". The stipulation of the meta-order is a firm

recognition that fisheries governance is grounded in certain underlying normative concepts of governance actors, such as values, principles, and images, referred to as the 'meta-order' elements. It is these elements, more so than those at the other orders such as actions (1<sup>st</sup>) and instruments (2<sup>nd</sup>), that can have a far-reaching effect in how fisheries is shaped and implemented (Kooiman and Jentoft 2009). Its articulation has been identified as the most distinguishing and innovative facet about interactive governance theory (Symes 2006; McGoodwin 2007).



Fig. 1 Conceptualization of interactive governance theory (source: Chuenpagdee 2011)

Lastly, interactive governance theory recognizes a broadening purview of governing actors to comprise direct resource users, as well as to see a role for community groups as bona fide participants in the evolving and expanding sphere of resource governance (Fig. 1). With the inclusive array of actor groups, multiple forms of interactions also need to be accounted for and facilitated. This would include, but not limited to, communication among various groups at different positions, partnership building to foster collaboration, and societal learning through reflection and self-examination.

#### Governability

The emerging analytical approach this research uses to generate research questions is called governability. It is seen as a synthesizing construct in the scheme of interactive governance, which enables connecting and utilizing the various components described in the earlier section and also shown in Fig. 1. Defined as the integrated quality of governance in a societal system (Bavinck et al. 2013), governability is distinct in the sense that emphasis is less on attaining governance performance or specific outcomes per se but on fostering the overall capacity of the system which would then lend itself to attaining whatever outcomes one finds necessary. Higher governability implies being more apt to deal with any societal problems that may arise and also being more conducive to creating societal opportunities. In this sense, Bavinck et al. (2013) argues that the act of governance is basically about influencing and improving governability.

From the governability perspective, then, the question shifts from what must be done to rebuild a depleted fishery to what inherent and constructed characteristics of the fishery system (including the governing system and the governing interactions) that may lower or enhance the possibility of a fish stock to recover. Chuenpagdee and Jentoft (2013) introduce a systematic assessment framework as a guideline to explore factors that may determine governability. As they explain, governability may be influenced by the degree of 'wickedness' of fisheries problems which arises from various stakeholder concerns, trade-offs and hard choices. How well the institutions of a governing system match the demanding requests and characteristics of systems-to-be-governed brought about by their diversity, complexity, dynamics and scale is described as another aspect that could contribute to the level of governability. In addition, presence and quality of governing interactions among fisheries sub-systems with consideration of power relationships is theorized to also impact governability. As such, governability is grounded in the recognition that various features may affect governance, and that there are likely no easy solutions and quick fixes for improving governance effectiveness. Overall, the governability lens opens up a comprehensive and sensible viewpoint to understand fisheries governance, offering a promising avenue with which to conduct a study of fisheries governance.

#### Meta- and second order of governance

From the governability perspective, the meta-order and the second order of governance represent important aspects of governance that may intricately influence governability. First, as meta-order elements, values, images and principles highlight agents' capacity to imagine and inspire, and are viewed as the fundamental building blocks of governance. They are something that governors' speeches are framed in and specific management measures are built on, as well as where the reactions of those-being-governed are rested upon. This would imply that these normative elements of governance actors have a bearing on how policy decisions are to be acted out or neglected, promoted or resisted.

In addition, agreement or compatibility in these underlying notions between governors and those-being-governed is theorized as a variable that affects the quality of a governance system (Chuenpagdee and Jentoft 2013). The system would be considered more governable when the meta-order elements of various actors are first made known and explicit, and when general agreements appear between them. On the other hand, obscureness and/or disagreements in these elements would intensify 'wickedness' in the system likely lowering governability. Following from this similarities or dissimilarities in the values, images and principles of stakeholders would be expected to influence the course of governance transition as well. A similar value system may increase synergy and efficacy in moving towards a shared goal. On the other hand, value disparity and incompatibility may impede the progress by creating dissent or trade-offs and enlarging social-political complexity (see Song and Chuenpagdee 2011; Almerigi et al. 2013 for early examples of examining convergence and differences in the meta-order elements). Thus, in order to understand why governance transition unfolds the way it does and to anticipate where fisheries governance is headed, an examination into the metagovernance aspect may prove useful.

The governability perspective also identifies institution as a crucial feature that can affect the level of governability of a system. This research, therefore, draws from the second order of governance and connects with the institutional component. Generally speaking, institutions are structural guidance that provide continuity, reduce uncertainty and shape people's interactions (North 1990; Peters 1999; Scott 2008). They provide an overarching environment which enables or controls governing decisions and actions. As such, an institution transcends individual actors to involve larger groups of people in patterned interactions that are somewhat predictable and stable, and that creates some sense of shared values and meanings among the members of the institutions (Peters 1999).

While institutions can work to resist change and reinforce the status quo, they can also serve as a catalyst in bringing changes to the system (Scott 2008). In this sense, governance transition is often approached institutionally, meaning that co-management or community-based management schemes are treated as institutional arrangements to facilitate governance change (e.g., Ostrom 1990; Pomeroy 1995; Jentoft et al. 1998; Acheson 2006; Berkes 2009). A co-management program would represent a bundle of rules, norms, and organizational structures that are arranged together to sustain or foster certain behaviors and mindsets of involved groups. As governance transition is conceptualized to take place via an alteration or introduction of an institutional arrangement, understanding what the institution embodies and how it works becomes a crucial inquiry. If the behaviors or ideas that an institution aims to promote happen to be far-fetched from the mindsets of affected people, for instance, it may face immense difficulty in bringing intended changes. Thus, an institutional analysis can also explore the extent of institutional match between co-management and governance actors, which governability hinges upon. The postulation is that the greater the match, the higher the governability, and the greater propensity to produce successful governance transition.

### Thesis scope, research questions and paper outline

This dissertation research aims to contribute to the understanding of governance transition, from the perspectives of meta- and second order governance. These two areas are worthy of research attention as they are key parts of what determines governability. Examining the meta-order aspect would be about revealing the degree of social

complexity, or 'wickedness', of the governance system through the similarity or disagreement in people' underlying notions, such as values, images, and principles, as they pertain to governance transition. The second order governance inquiry centers on assessing institutional aims and mechanisms, and comparing them with the normative notions of stakeholders to understand institutional match and to draw implications for governability.

This research is applied to small-scale coastal fisheries of South Korea, in which a fisheries co-management program has been undergoing in the past decade. Although this co-management setup is an installation of the central government and thus being implemented in a top-down manner, government managers and academic researchers generally agree that a true, enduring shift into co-governance (or even self-governance) can be ultimately achieved if and when a 'change in mindset' of fishers takes place. Here, a change in mindset is about affecting the fundamentals of people, such that they appreciate a new way of doing things and have a genuine interest in upholding it. In the context of the case study (i.e., the transition towards a more collaborative mode of governance), it would mean that fishers develop a sense of ownership and responsibilities for the coastal fishery. More specifically, they would have acquired a robust inclination and justifying reasons for embracing active and sustained participation in the management of local fishery, even when the incentives to do so disappear or when the grip of regulative measures or social norms weakens.

Given the emphasis on the change in mindset in the governance process of the South Korean fisheries, together with the theoretical motivations explained earlier (see Fig. 2), this research poses the following questions: What are the 'mindsets' of fishery

stakeholders, as represented by, and studied through, their values, images, and principles? Do their values, images and principles agree or differ among fishery stakeholder groups, and to what extent? What does the co-management program as an institutional arrangement aim to promote, and how do they compare with the 'mindsets' of fishery stakeholders? The findings of this research aim to generate insights into whether the implementation of the Jayul co-management program (and thereby governance transition) through a change in mindset is a feasible venture in South Korea and what hinders its progress.

Following the research questions, eight specific objectives are pursued. They are:

- To develop a conceptualization of the meta-order governance to comprise values, principles, and images, and review them as they have been discussed in fisheries research
- 2. To review and understand institutional theory as it corresponds to the second order of governance and pertains to fisheries resources
- To develop a method for eliciting values, principles, and images of stakeholder groups
- To examine the convergence and disparity of values and principles among coastal fishery groups in South Korea and also the dominant images across the groups
- To understand the institutional aims of the co-management program in South Korea and explore its fit with respect to the values, principles, and images of fishery stakeholder groups

- To generate policy implications based on the findings of the study towards the change in mindset and the future implementation of the co-management program in Korea
- 7. To reflect on interactive governance theory and the governability concept and share insights



Fig. 2 Study context, thesis structure and paper outline

The thesis contains five papers in addition to the introduction and conclusion chapters (Fig. 2). The five papers (Chapters 2 to 6) form the main body and are organized as follows. Chapter 2 and 3 initiates the research by providing a conceptual development and review of the two main theoretical perspectives – the meta-order and the second order of governance. Chapter 2 reviews the meta-governance theory and connects it with a set of operational concepts that can be used and studied in the context of fisheries governance. Values, images, and principles are conceptualized as the appropriate meta-governance elements, and their standalone meanings as well as inter-linkages among them are elucidated. This is followed by a literature scan to examine how frequently the values, images, and principles have been featured and discussed in fisheries governance research so far.

Connecting with the second order of governance, the purpose of Chapter 3 is to review institutional theory and highlight an emerging institutional perspective appearing within fisheries research in the last decade. Based on this, it also identifies and explains a holistic scheme (i.e., three "pillars" of institution by Scott (2008)), with which to study fisheries institutions. Embodying a broadening purview of an institution that encompasses normative and cultural-cognitive dimensions as well as a regulative aspect (Scott 2008; Jentoft 2004), a growing body of fisheries literature is calling for a more inclusive consideration of different institutional elements such as cultural preferences, social taboos, and rule systems. Adopting this inclusive approach is expected to help governance actors to be more fully aware of and utilize the various institutional mechanisms in achieving a governing goal (e.g., changes in the mode of governance).

Chapter 4 and 5 illustrate the methods and results of an empirical application of the meta-governance aspect. Together, they focus on examining the 'mindsets' of fishery stakeholders in the context of the Korean example. Chapter 4 focuses on the design and testing of an alternative survey method for eliciting stakeholder values and principles. The method developed here is called 'P+ sort', and it incorporates sorting techniques to generate both quantitative and qualitative data. The method is also designed to offer simplicity and interactivity in data collection, for the reason that values and principles can be something that people may have difficulty in verbalizing. This exploratory design is then applied to the case of South Korean coastal fisheries to examine the values and principles considered important by two main fishery stakeholder groups: fishers/resource-dependent community members and government managers/researchers. Comparisons are made between the two groups to identify their convergence or disagreement and draw implications towards the Jayul program.

Chapter 5 documents a study of images that South Korean fishery groups have about the fishery and fishing life. Concise but open-ended questions are formulated to elicit the content and the general characteristics of images. These questions form a part of the survey instrument package used to target values and principles (Chapter 4). This exploratory design is applied to elicit a range of images held by two main fishery stakeholder groups: fishers/resource-dependent community members and government managers/researchers. Representing the respondents' central aspirations or concerns linked to the fishery, images are examined and discussed to inform the co-management implementation.

Finally, in order to deepen the understanding of governance transition in Korean fisheries, Chapter 6 complements the meta-order study by conducting an institutional analysis of the Jayul program. Acknowledging the critical role of 'mindset change' in facilitating nationwide Jayul implementation, it examines the institutional aims of the program and draws comparison with the 'mindsets' of fishery stakeholders (fishers/community members in particular who represent the target group). More specifically, the analysis identifies the mismatches between the aims, organized according to the scheme of three pillars (introduced in Chapter 3), and with the result of the value-image-principle survey (Chapters 4 and 5).

The conclusion chapter summarizes the main points of the thesis, discusses future research needs, and offers reflection. Each paper is formatted in a style that meets the requirements of a target journal.

Case study: The Jayul Fisheries Community Management in South Korean coastal fishery

This dissertation research examines a case of governance transition taking place in the coastal fisheries in South Korea. First, an overview of the fisheries is presented, followed by a description of its management history and setup. The process of governance change is then explained to further introduce the empirical context.

### Overview of the fisheries

South Korea (officially the Republic of Korea) is located in the southern part of the Korean Peninsula in a temperate climate zone of the Northwest Pacific region (Fig. 3). Its geographical configuration displays a great biophysical variability in its coastal environment. The west coast faces the Yellow Sea which is set in an epicontinental shelf with relatively flat bathymetry and a generally shallow depth of less than 100m (Alexander et al 1991; Liu et al. 2004). The Yellow sea receives a large amount of finegrained sediment from the Yellow River and Yangtze River in China as well as a number of smaller rivers in the Korean peninsula, which contributes to high turbidity in the nearshore water column (Lee and Chough 1989). The west coast also features a very low gradient (< I m/km) and contains numerous embayments and islands, as well as extensive wetlands and tidal flats (Lim and Park 2003). On the contrary, the east coast follows a mountain range and steeply connects to deep water basins of the East Sea (also known as the Sea of Japan) which has a maximum depth of roughly 3,500m. Its deep water is replenished every winter by deep convection, and it also contains well-defined subpolar fronts in the surface layer between warm and cold water masses, suggesting the East Sea to be a model of the large global ocean (Ichiye 1984; Yamada et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2004).

Waters around Korea experience comparably high annual primary production (over 150 g Chl m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup>) as estimated from upper ocean chlorophyll concentration (Antoine et al. 1996). Other large-scale phylogeographic and oceanographic processes, such as Pleistocene glacial oscillations, associated tectonic sea-level changes, and the dominant warm surface Kuroshio Current, have fundamentally influenced the distribution and genetic diversity of marine coastal species, creating a region of productive fishing

grounds in all three adjacent seas – the Yellow Sea, the East Sea, and the Korea Strait which joins onto the East China Sea (Kang 2006; Hu et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2012; Lee et al. 2012). In 2010, South Korea produced 2,208,489 metric tons of fish, crustaceans, and molluscs, of which 1,732,928 tons are from capture fisheries (FAO 2012b). With additional 914,715 tons of aquatic plant production (e.g., laver and wakame), South Korea ranks among the top fish producing nations in the world.



Fig. 3 Map of South Korea and the distribution of Jayul fisher organizations (number in parenthesis indicates the number of organizations in each jurisdiction)

From ancient times, fishing has naturally taken place in Korea, and helped satisfy much of the domestic fish consumption demands over the years (Hong 1995). Fish occupies an integral part of Koreans' dietary life and intimately connected to their culture even to this date. According to data recorded since 1960s, fish has consistently contributed over 40-50% of the animal protein intake per capita per day (Han 2009). Moreover, in 2007, South Korea was the 4<sup>th</sup> biggest consumer in the world in the annual per capita consumption of fish, shellfish and seaweed at 65.5kg, only to be surpassed by the island nations of Maldives, Iceland and Kiribati (FAO 2010). In the coastal fishery, there are nearly 150 target species of commercial significance, which include anchovy, squid, mackerel, hairtail, swimming crab, Pacific herring, snow crab, and yellow croaker (in the decreasing order of landed volume), as well as a wide variety of shellfish and seaweeds (Kang 2006; KMI 2010). Also, with over 28 licensed fishing gear types permitted in the coastal fishery, it has the strong character of multi-gear/multi-species (Han 2009). There were 71,046 fishing households nationwide in 2008, which marked 11.1% decrease from 2005. The number of full-time fishing households and those who engage in capture fisheries decreased by greater margins than the part-time and the aquaculture households, respectively, for the same period (KMI 2010). A similar downward trend is observed in the number of coastal fishing vessels (defined as under 8 tons generally), showing a steady decline from 60,892 in 2005 to 53,792 in 2008 (KMI 2010).

Management history and setup

In the pre-modern period, many inshore fishing grounds were privatized by clans and village authorities. With the beginning of the Japanese occupation of Korea in 1911, the colonial government took over and restructured Korean fisheries by introducing fishing rights and laws and also founded fisheries cooperatives at the village level (known as uchon-gye). This shift endowed the government with an exclusive power to grant and manage licenses and effectively placed the colonial state in charge of overall fisheries management (Cheong 2004). Following independence in 1945, post-colonial government inherited much of the colonial setup, and the fishery has been chiefly operated under the overarching direction of the central government who sets the regulations, issues licenses, enforces the rules, and provides benefits and subsidies to communities (Hong 1995; Cheong 2004). A simple scheme depicting the present-day organizational structure of the South Korean coastal fishery is displayed in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4 General organizational structure of South Korean coastal fishery showing main organizations and their mainly hierarchical relationships (double-lined boxes denote government organizations; thick-single-lined boxes represent community-level fishing organizations or industry group; and thin-single-lined boxes represent non-governmental support organizations)

The centrally coordinated fisheries management regime is currently composed of three main elements – a license system, technical regulations (e.g. mesh size, catch size, and closed seasons), and the Total Allowable Catch (TAC). The TAC system is a recently introduced measure first taking effect in 1999. It came about in response to the limitations of the input control and technical restrictions alone to curb overexploitation of economically important species, such as yellow croaker and hairtail (Nam 2007). A need to construct scientific and efficient management system in the era of Economic Exclusive Zone sovereignty also contributed to the development of the TAC (OECD 2011). Quotas are allocated to individual vessels based on the recommendations of local governments taking historical catches and vessel sizes into consideration. It thus resembles individual quota system without transferability, although the introduction of quota trade is reasonably expected in the future (Nam 2007). As of 2013, there are 11 species of high volume and high value managed under the TAC system including mackerel, squid, sardine, snow crab, swimming crab, and pen shell. Early results, however, indicate several issues related to quota allocation, reporting of catch, and bycatch (Nam 2007; OECD 2011).

Limited entry through the license system has been the primary means of regulating fishery since the beginning of the modern day management (Cheong 2004). A common classification specifies three types of fishing, i.e., license-, permit-, and report-based. First, license-based fisheries include those taking place in intertidal and nearshore areas such as shellfish and seaweed gleaning, fixed gear operation, and aquaculture. The harvesting privileges are licensed to lawful holders allowing them to maintain exclusive management and fishing rights to a designated area. While license can be granted to

individuals or private enterprises, much of the areas covered by licenses are 'villageowned' fishing grounds governed by fishing village cooperatives (i.e., uchon-gyes). This makes uchon-gyes an important local resource manager. In this sense, community-based management of local fisheries has been a conspicuous part of the seascape in Korea, which also receives support from two other levels of cooperative organizations: nationaland regional fisheries cooperatives, as shown in Fig. 4. As the main economic and social organization of the fishing community, uchon-gyes play a key role in maintaining order with community-set rules, fostering cooperation among members, and representing local fishery interests vis-à-vis the central and municipal government and the regional fisheries cooperative. In recent years, however, a dwindling fisher population, continuing fisheries resource decline, and an increasing scale of production and capital investment in aquaculture activities have weakened the cooperative-based local fishing operation (Cheong 2003a). Less prevalent are collective harvest and equal distribution of fishing grounds and earnings. Instead, privatizing tendencies and individualistic modes of operation such as leasing out the village fishing ground to individual households or hiring outside labor to harvest fishes have become a more common occurrence.

The second type of fishery involves fishing using vessels and gears in the inshore and offshore waters. Regulated through issuance and withdrawal of quinquennial fishing permits by the county and city governments, the permits are held by individual fishers, who may be members of uchon-gyes and/or sector-specific fishing gear associations. This permit-based boat fishery is a significant sector in coastal fishery in terms of both catch volume and value. According to 2001 data, this fishery recorded 213,003 metric tons of catch with the landed value of 766,623,987,000 won (approx. 766 million dollars US)

(Han 2009). This is compared to 49,470 metric tons and 88,011,422,000 won (approx. 88 million dollars US) of license-based community fishery, and 655,827 metric tons and 717,162,507,000 won (approx. 717 million dollars US) of license-based aquaculture fishery (Han 2009).

The third type is called 'report' fishery. Although it has the highest number of certificate holders (121,453 in 2009) among the three types, it forms a minor part, as it allows fishers to carry out smaller-scale, rudimentary type of fishing operations on an individual basis. City or county government responds to the request of each fisher by issuing a certificate which is valid for five years (MIFAFF, 2012).

### 'Jayul Community Fisheries Management' Program

Building on the tradition of uchon-gye-based fishery management, the 'Jayul Community Fisheries Management' program was initiated by the central government in 2001 (hereafter referred to as the 'Jayul' program). It attempts a nationwide shift from the hierarchical, unilateral governing of the central government buttressed by the regulation and enforcement regime to consensus, trust, and collaboration-based governance mode, entailing more direct involvement of multiple actors and resource user groups. Under this scheme, government sets out policy guidelines and provides financial and technical assistance, while local fisher organizations (e.g. uchon-gyes and gear associations, see Fig. 4) draft and carry out a management plan for their fishery. As an alternate direction for resolving various environmental and social challenges such as stock depletion, illegal fishing, rising operational costs, and decline of coastal villages (Cheong 2003b; Han 2009), as well as reducing fishers' over-reliance on government support (Lee 2010;
OECD 2011), its overall aim is to raise the level of community participation in managing local fisheries through reinvigoration of uchon-gyes and fisher associations, and to ultimately instill a sense of ownership (MOMAF 2003; Lee et al. 2006).

Since its inception a decade ago, the number of community fisher organizations participating in the program has reached 893 in 2011, whose distribution is shown in Fig. 3, and there have been several exemplary cases in which fishing income has increased and illegal fishing have subsided through this process (MOMAF 2005; Uchida et al. 2010, 2012). The general view is that the Jayul program has been helpful in instituting fisher involvement and/or revitalizing uchon-gye-based management in many communities (OECD 2011). Yet, doubts are also raised as to whether fishers' activities are really self-regulatory and voluntary, or they are simply responding to external incentives, i.e., whether the change in mindset of fishers to embrace this governance mode is genuinely taking root. Many Jayul communities simply exist only on paper with no substantial follow-up activities, or they have quit the program altogether (Seo and Byeon 2006). Moreover, a financial reward system that the central government has set up to entice fishing community organizations to join and keep up with the activities could be promoting further reliance on government, negating thus its original intention. For instance, there is a worry that a discontinuation of the funding or facing low prospect of receiving financial benefits may arouse negative sentiments towards further participation. As a result, communities may be induced to lapse back into inaction (Lee 2010).

The central government has expressed the ambition of broadening its participation and benefits to 1,400 fisher organizations by 2014 and to nearly all 2,000 coastal communities nationwide in a foreseeable future (PPACP 2008; Lee 2010). Lee and Shin

(2004) also submits that achieving this new mode of governance represents the only viable option available in improving the fisheries situation in Korea. Corresponding to these high expectations, an examination of the normative and institutional elements of the Jayul program would serve a useful and timely inquiry into understanding its impeded progress and identifying areas of (re-)consideration.

## Methodology

This research employs mixed methods (Axinn and Pearce 2006; Creswell and Plano Clark 2007) and includes both quantitative and qualitative techniques for data collection and analysis. The three main data collection methods are (1) literature and document review; (2) a questionnaire survey that combines a sorting exercise and a series of open-ended questions; and (3) participant observation and informal discussions. The method(s) used for each of the five papers (Chapters 2 to 6) are listed in Table 1. Review of relevant documents includes both published and grey literature, and those written in Korean as well as in the English language, and is conducted by the candidate who holds proficiency in both languages. This has allowed making use of government reports and research articles that are only available in the Korean language, which can contribute towards gaining in-depth information about the domestic fishery situation. A questionnaire survey is chosen as the main method of primary data collection for its flexibility to produce both quantitative and qualitative data while targeting potentially a large number of respondents (Hines 1993). A sorting technique called "P+ sort" is also developed as part of the survey, building on the methodological foundation of both pile sort (P) and O sort. "P+ sort" aims to achieve an 'intermediate' level of sophistication by offering a more structured format than the pile sort while remaining simple with fewer assumptions and constraints than the Q sort, for the reason that 'mindset' can be something that people may have difficulty in verbalizing. The survey method is thus designed to offer simplicity and userapproachability in data collection. Two versions of the questionnaire are used, which feature slight variations in the sections seeking personal opinions and demographic information – one intended for the resource-dependent community members and the other for the researchers/managers (See Appendix I and II). The design and application of the survey method employed in this research is described in Chapter 4 and 5. Lastly, informal chats with additional key informants and direct observation during 1 to 2 week long visits to each of the surveyed fishing communities are used to triangulate the data, thereby complementing the survey process.

A meta-analysis of fisheries governance literature forms a significant mode of analysis for Chapter 2 and 3 (see Zhao 1991; Paterson et al. 2001). The numerical data obtained from the survey questionnaire based on the sorting technique is analyzed using frequency analysis and non-parametric statistical procedures, such as the Kendall coefficient of concordance W and the chi-square test through an assignment of weighted scores to sorted patterns (see Chapter 4). An analysis of the transcribed and coded qualitative data utilizes 'thematic analysis' to identify appropriate categories and prevalent themes in people's responses (Braun and Clarke 2006). This is employed as the primary method for understanding stakeholder images, as discussed in Chapter 5. Finally, Chapter 6 applies a generic form of document analysis, which offers a

systematic way of reviewing various forms of documents, usually those found in the public domain (Bowen 2009).

Table 1 List of data collection and analysis methods used in the research organized by paper

Paper number and the main	Data collection methods	Analysis
topic		methods
Chapter 2: Conceptualization of meta-governance and review of values, images, and principles	Literature review	Meta-analysis
Chapter 3: Review of institutional thinking	Literature review	Meta-analysis
Chapter 4: Value and principle survey	Questionnaire survey (a sorting exercise and open-ended questions); informal chats; participant observation	Non-parametric statistical tests; Thematic analysis
Chapter 5: Content and characteristics of stakeholder images	Questionnaire survey (open-ended questions); informal discussions with key informants, participation observation	Thematic analysis
Chapter 6: Institutional analysis	Literature review, informal discussions with key informants, participation observation	Document analysis

The research process is outlined as follows. The first phase of data collection coincided with the initial fieldwork period that span from September 2009 to June 2010. Through activities such as informal discussions with key informants, reconnaissance visits to fishing villages, and establishing contacts with a domestic fishery research community, this initial groundwork has helped the candidate to develop an adequate sense of the salient fisheries issues in South Korea and subsequently build research ideas around the local context. After a year spent on campus in St. John's, Canada, during which a research plan was formulated, an ethics approval granted, and the initial drafts of the two review papers prepared, the second phase of fieldwork took place from September 2011 to July 2012. In this period, the survey design was finalized through incorporating input from domestic experts and pre-tests, and the survey was conducted together with informal chats and participant observation. Also, data verification and preliminary analyses were carried out during this phase involving re-visits to the communities and management offices to discuss the findings and seek explanations for the attained results. Full analysis and the write up of the results were followed occupying the main activities in the subsequent year in St. John's.

## Co-authorship statement

Chapter 2, 3, 4 and 5 share co-authorship with the supervisor and/or supervisory committee members with Chapter 6 having single-authorship. The candidate is the principal author of Chapter 2, 4 and 5, for which the candidate formulated research questions, conceived study design, collected and analyzed primary and secondary data, and prepared initial drafts. All these steps were guided by the supervisor, and supported by the committee members. The preparation of final manuscripts incorporated critical input and editorial suggestions of the supervisor and the committee members. The candidate is the second author of Chapter 3. Here, the supervisor took a lead role in formulating research ideas and study design. Writing of the manuscript took a

collaborative effort, while the candidate was mainly responsible for literature review and revision of the manuscript in response to reviewers' comments.

#### References

- Acheson, J.M. (2006). Institutional Failure in Resource Management. Annual Review of Anthropology, 35, 117-134.
- Ahnström, J., Höckert, J., Bergea, H.L, Francis, C.A., Skelton, P., and Hallgren, L. (2008). Farmers and nature conservation: what is known about attitudes, context factors and actions affecting conservation? Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems, 24, 38-47.
- Alexander, C.R., DeMaster, D.J., and Nittrouer, C.A. (1991). Sediment accumulation in a modern epicontinental-shelf setting: The Yellow Sea. Marine Geology, 98, 51-72.
- Allan, J.D., Abell, R., Hogan, Z., Revenga, C., Taylor, B.W., Welcomme, R.L., and Winemiller, K. (2005). Overfishing of inland waters. BioScience, 55, 1041-1051.
- Almerigi, S., Fanning, L., Mahon, R., and McConney, P. (2013). Working with principles and visions. In M. Bavinck, R. Chuenpagdee, S. Jentoft, and J. Kooiman (Eds.), Governability of fisheries and aquaculture: theory and applications (pp. 315-331). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Antoine, D., André, J.M., Morel, A. (1996). Oceanic primary production: 2. Estimation at global scale from satellite (Coastal Zone Color Scanner) chlorophyll. Global Biogeochemical Cycles, 10, 57-69.
- Armitage, D., Marschke, M., and van Tuyen, T. (2011). Early-stage transformation of coastal marine governance in Vietnam? Marine Policy, 35, 703-711.
- Axinn, W.G., and Pearce, L.D. (2006). Mixed method data collection strategies. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Basurto, X. (2008). Biological and ecological mechanisms supporting marine selfgovernance: the Seri callo de hacha fishery in Mexico. Ecology and Society, 13(2), 20. Retrieved from http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol13/iss2/art20/
- Bavinck, M., Chuenpagdee R., Jentoft S., and Kooiman J. (Eds.) (2013). Governability of fisheries: theory and applications. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Beddington, J.R., Agnew, D.J., and Clark, C.W. (2007). Current problems in the management of marine fisheries. Science, 316, 1713-1716.
- Béné, C., Macfadyen, G., and Allison, E.H. (2007). Increasing the contribution of small-scale fisheries to poverty alleviation and food security (FAO Fisheries Technical Paper 481). Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization.
- Béné, C., Belal, E., Baba, M.O., Ovie, S., Raji, A., Malasha, I., Njaya, F., Na Andi, M., Russel, A., and Neiland, A. (2009). Power struggle, dispute and alliance over local resources: analyzing 'democratic' decentralization of natural resources through the lenses of Africa inland fisheries. World Development, 37, 1935-1950.
- Berkes, F. (2009). Evolution of co-management: Role of knowledge generation, bridging organizations and social learning. Journal of Environmental Management, 90, 1692-1702.
- Berkes, F., Hughes, T.P., Steneck, R.S., Wilson, J.A., Bellwood, D.R., Crona, B.,... Worm, B. (2007). Globalization, roving bandits, and marine resources. Science, 311, 1557-1558.
- Biswas, A.K. (2009). Water management: some personal reflections. Water International, 34, 402-408.
- Blaikie, P. (2006). Is small really beautiful? Community-based natural resource management in Malawi and Botswana. World Development, 34, 1942-1957.
- Bowen, G.A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. Qualitative Research Journal, 9, 27-40.
- Braun, V., and Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2), 77-101.
- Capili, E.B., Ibay, A.C.S., and Villarin, J.R.T. (2005). Climate change impacts and adaptation on Philippine Coasts. Oceans 2005, Vol 1-3, Oceans-IEEE, 2299-2306.

- Cheong, S.-M., (2003a). Privatizing tendencies: fishing communities and tourism in Korea. Marine Policy, 27, 23-29.
- Cheong, S.-M. (2003b). Depleting fish resources, declining fishing communities, and the state revitalization project in Korea. Environmental Management, 32, 382-390.
- Cheong, S.-M. (2004). Managing fishing at the local level: the role of fishing village cooperatives in Korea. Coastal Management, 32, 191-202.
- Cheong, S.-M., (2005). Korean fishing communities in transition: limitations of community-based resource management. Environment and Planning A, 37, 1277-1290.
- Chuenpagdee, R. (2011). Interactive governance for marine conservation: an illustration. Bulletin of Marine Science, 87(2), 197-211.
- Chuenpagdee, R., and Jentoft, S. (2007). Step-zero for fisheries co-management: what precedes implementation. Marine Policy, 31, 657-668.
- Chuenpagdee, R., and Jentoft, S. (2013). Assessing governability what's next. In M. Bavinck, R. Chuenpagdee, S. Jentoft, and J. Kooiman (Eds.), Governability of fisheries and aquaculture: theory and applications (pp. 335-349). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Cinner, J.E., Daw, T.M., McClanahan, T.R., Muthiga, N., Abunge, C., Hamed, S., Mwaka, B., Rabearisoa, A., Wamukota, A., Fisher, E., and Jiddawi, N. (2012). Transitions toward co-management: the process of marine resource management devolution in three east African countries. Global Environmental Change, 22, 651-658.
- Close, D.A., Fitzpatrick, M.S., and Li, H.W. (2002). The ecological and cultural importance of a species at risk of extinction, Pacific lamprey. Fisheries, 27(7), 19-25.
- Cochrane, K.L. (2000). Reconciling sustainability, economic efficiency and equity in fisheries: the one that got away? Fish and Fisheries, 1, 3-21.
- Creswell, J.W., and Plano Clark, V.L. (2007). Designing and conducting mixed methods research. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications.
- Cudney-Bueno, R., and Basurto X. (2009). Lack of cross-scale linkages reduces robustness of community-based fisheries management. PLoS ONE 4(7), e6253. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006253

- Dietz, T., Ostrom, E., and Stern, P.C. (2003). The struggle to govern the commons. Science, 302, 1907-1912.
- Fabricius, C., Folke, C., Cundill, G., and Schultz, L. (2007). Powerless spectators, coping actors, and adaptive co-managers: a synthesis of the role of communities in ecosystem management. Ecology and Society, 12(1), 29. Retrieved from http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol12/iss1/art29/
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) (2010). Consumption of fish and fishery products. Retrieved from http://www.fao.org/fishery/statistics/global-consumption/en, accessed on August 15, 2010.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) (2012a). The state of world fisheries and aquaculture 2012. Rome: FAO.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). (2012b). World fisheries production, by capture and aquaculture, by country (2010) [Data file]. Retrieved from ftp://ftp.fao.org/fi/STAT/summary/a-0a.pdf, accessed on November 28, 2012.
- Foale, S., Cohen, P., Januchowski-Hartley, S., Wenger, A., and Macintyre, M. (2011). Tenure and taboos: origins and implications for fisheries in the Pacific. Fish and Fisheries, 12, 357-369.
- Foley, P. (2013). National government responses to Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) fisheries certification: insights from Atlantic Canada. New Political Economy, 18, 284-307.
- Francis, R.C., Hixon, M.A., Clarke, M.E., Murawski, S.A., and Ralston, S. (2007). Ten commandments for ecosystem-based fisheries scientists. Fisheries, 32(5), 217-233.
- Frangoudes, K., Marugán-Pintos, B., and Pascual-Fernández, J.J. (2008). From open access to co-governance and conservation: The case of women shellfish collectors in Galicia (Spain). Marine Policy, 32, 223-232.
- Gelcich, S., Edwards-Jones, G., Kaiser, M.J., Castilla, J.C. (2006). Co-management policy can reduce resilience in traditionally managed marine ecosystem. Ecosystems, 9, 951-966.

- Gray, T.S. (2005). Theorizing about participatory fisheries governance. In T.S. Gray (Ed.), Participation in fisheries governance (pp. 1-25). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Hall-Arber, M. (2005). Co-management at the eleventh hour? Participation in the governance of the New England groundfish fishery. In T.S. Gray (Ed.), Participation in fisheries governance (pp. 141-162). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Hamilton, L.C., and Butler, M.J. (2001). Outport adaptations: Social indicators through Newfoundland's cod crisis. Human Ecology Review, 8(2), 1-11.
- Han, K.-S. (2009). The Agony of 21<sup>st</sup> Korea Fisheries, Seoul: Sunhaksa. [In Korean]
- Hilborn, R. (2007). Moving to sustainability by learning from successful fisheries. Ambio, 36, 296-303.
- Hilborn, R., Orensanz, J.M., and Parma, A. (2005). Institutions, incentives and the future of fisheries. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B, 360, 47-57.
- Hines, A.M. (1993). Linking qualitative and quantitative methods in cross-cultural survey research: techniques from cognitive science. American Journal of Community Psychology, 21, 729-746.
- Hong, S.-Y. (1995). Marine policy in the Republic of Korea. Marine Policy, 19, 97-113.
- Hu, Z.-M., Uwai, S., Yu, S.-H., Komatsu, T., Ajisaka, T., and Duan, D.-L. (2011). Phylogeographic heterogeneity of the brown macroalga Sargassum horneri (Fucaceae) in the northwestern Pacific in relation to late Pleistocene glaciation and tectonic configurations. Molecular Ecology, 20, 3894-3909.
- Ichiye, T. (1984). Some problems of circulation and hydrography of the Japan Sea and the Tsushima Current. In T. Ichiye (Ed.), Ocean hydrodynamics of the Japan and East China Seas. Elsevier oceanography series 39 (pp. 15-54). Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Jentoft, S. (2004). Institutions in fisheries: what they are, what they do, and how they change. Marine Policy, 28, 137-149.
- Jentoft, S. (2005). Fisheries co-management as empowerment. Marine Policy, 29, 1-7.
- Jentoft, S., and Chuenpagdee, R. (2009) Fisheries and coastal governance as a wicked problem. Marine Policy, 33, 553-560.
- Jentoft, S., and Eide, A. (Eds.). (2011). Poverty mosaics: realities and prospects in smallscale fisheries. Dordrecht: Springer.

- Jentoft, S., McCay, B.J., and Wilson, D.C. (1998). Social theory and fisheries comanagement. Marine Policy, 22, 423-436.
- Jentoft, S., Kooiman, J., and Chuenpagdee, R. (2005). National institutions. In J. Kooiman, M. Bavinck, S. Jentoft, and R.S.V. Pullin (Eds.), Fish for life: interactive governance for fisheries (pp. 173-193). Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.
- Johannes, R.E. (2002). The renaissance of community-based marine resource management in Oceania. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 33, 317-340.
- Kang, J.-S. (2006). Analysis on the development trends of capture fisheries in North-East Asia and the policy and management implications for regional co-operation. Ocean & Coastal Management, 49, 42-67.
- Kent, G. (1997). Fisheries, food security, and the poor. Food Policy, 22(5), 393-404.
- Khan, A.S., and Neis, B. (2010). The rebuilding imperative in fisheries: clumsy solutions for a wicked problem? Progress in Oceanography, 87, 347-356.
- Kim, K.M., Hoarau, G.G., and Boo, S.M. (2012). Genetic structure and distribution of Gelidium elegans (Gelidiales, Rhodophyta) in Korea based on mitochondrial cox1 sequence data. Aquatic Botany, 98, 27-33.
- KMI (Korea Maritime Institute). (2010). Fisheries prospects and issues 2010. Seoul:KMI. 245pp. [in Korean]
- Kooiman, J. (1993). Modern governance: new government-society interactions. London: Sage Publications.
- Kooiman, J. (2003) Governing as governance. London: Sage Publications.
- Kooiman, J. (2008). Exploring the concept of governability. Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis, 10, 171-190.
- Kooiman, J., and Jentoft, S. (2009). Meta-governance: values, norms and principles, and the making of hard choices. Public Administration, 87(4), 818-836.
- Kooiman, J., Bavinck, M., Jentoft, S., and Pullin, R.S.V. (Eds.). (2005): Fish for life: interactive governance for fisheries. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.
- Korda, R.C., Hills, J.M., and Gray, T.S. (2008). Fishery decline in Utila: disentangling the web of governance. Marine Policy, 32, 968-979.

- Lee, S.-G. (2010). A study on practices and effective mechanism of fisheries selfgovernance and institutional strategies. In Proceedings of the International Symposium: A New Decade! The Role of Cooperatives for the Sustainable Development of Fisheries (pp. 110-162). Seoul: National Federation of Fisheries Cooperatives.
- Lee, H.J., and Chough, S.K. (1989). Sediment distribution, dispersal and budget in the Yellow Sea. Marine Geology, 87, 195-205.
- Lee, S.-G., and Shin, Y.,-M. (2004). A study on the self regulatory management model of coastal fisheries in Korea. The Journal of Fisheries Business Administration, 35(1), 87-114. [In Korean]
- Lee, KN., Gates, JM, and Lee, J. (2006). Recent developments in Korean fisheries management. Ocean & Coastal Management, 49, 355-366.
- Lee, K.M., Yang, E.C., Coyer, J.A., Zuccarello, G.C., Wang, W.-L., Choi, C.G., and Boo, S.M. (2012). Phylogeography of the seaweed Ishige okamurae (Phaeophyceae): evidence for glacial refugia in the northwest Pacific region. Marine Biology, 159, 1021-1028.
- Lim, D.I., and Park, Y.A. (2003). Late Quaternary stratigraphy and evolution of a Korean tidal flat, Haenam Bay, Southeastern Yellow Sea, Korea. Marine Geology, 193, 177-194.
- Liu, J.P., Milliman, J.D., Gao, S., and Cheng, P. (2004). Holocene development of the Yellow River's subaqueous delta, North Yellow Sea. Marine Geology, 209, 45-67.
- Ludwig, D., Hilborn, R., and Walters, C. (1993). Uncertainty, resource exploitation, and conservation: lessons from history. Science, 260, 17-36.
- Mace, P.M., and Gabriel, W.L. (1999). Evolution, scope, and current applications of the precautionary approach in fisheries. In V.R. Restrepo (Ed.), Proceedings of the fifth National Marine Fisheries Service Stock Assessment Workshop: providing scientific advice to implement the precautionary approach under the Magnuson-Stevens Fishery Conservation and Management Act. NOAA Technical Memorandum. NMFS-F/SPO 40, 65-73.

- McGoodwin, J.R. (2001). Understanding the cultures of fishing communities: a key to fisheries management and food security (FAO Fisheries Technical Paper 401). Rome: FAO. 287pp.
- McGoodwin, J.R. (2007). Review of the books Fish for life: interactive governance for fisheries and interactive fisheries and interactive fisheries governance: a guide to better practice. Ocean and Coastal Management, 50, 590-596.
- Meuleman, L. (2008) Public management and the metagovernance of hierarchies, networks and markets: the feasibility of designing and managing governance style combinations. Heidelberg: Physica-Verlag.
- MIFAFF (Ministry of Food, Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries. (2012). A study on foundational fisheries institution, year 1. Seoul: MIFAFF. 425pp. [in Korean]
- MOMAF (Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries) (2003). A study on successful establishment of Jayul fisheries management. Seoul: MOMAF. 247pp. [in Korean]
- MOMAF (Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries) (2005). Jayul Fisheries Program outstanding cases II. Seoul: MOMAF. [in Korean]
- Mora, C., Myers, R.A., Coll, M., Libralato, S., Pitcher, T.J., Sumaila, R.U.,...Worm, B. (2009). Management Effectiveness of the World's Marine Fisheries. PLoS Biol, 7(6), e1000131. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000131
- Myers, R.A., and Worm, B. (2003). Rapid worldwide depletion of predatory fish communities. Nature, 423, 280-283.
- Nam, J.-O. (2007). Korean fisheries: policies, stock assessment and compliance issues. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Rhode Island, Kingston.
- Njaya, F. (2007). Governance challenges for the implementations of fisheries comanagement: experiences from Malawi. International Journal of the Commons, 1, 137-153.
- North, D.C. (1990). Institutions, institutional change and economic performance. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development). (2011). Fisheries policy reform: national experiences. Paris: OECD Publishing. 118pp.

- Olsson, P., Folke, C., and Hughes, T.P. (2008). Navigating the transition to ecosystembased management of the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. PNAS, 105, 9489-9494.
- Ostrom, E. (1990). Governing the commons: the evolution of institutions for collective action. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ostrom, E., Dietz, T., Dolsak, N., Stern, P.C., Stonich, S., and Weber, E.U., (Eds.). (2002). The drama of the commons. Washington D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Paterson, B.L., Thorne, S.E., Canam, C., and Jillings, C. (2001). Meta-study of qualitative health research: a practical guide to meta-analysis and meta-synthesis. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications
- Pauly, D., Christensen, V., Guénette, S., Pitcher, T.J., Sumaila U.R., Walters, C.J.,... Zeller, D. (2002). Towards sustainability in world fisheries. Nature, 418, 689-695.
- PPACP (Policy Planning Advisory Committee to the President) (2008). Fisheries selfgovernance policy: towards increase in fishing household income through SangSaeng. Seoul: PDACP. 82pp. [in Korean]
- Peters, B.G. (1999). *Institutional theory in political science: the 'new' institutionalism*. London: Continuum.
- Pinkerton, E. (1999). Factors in overcoming barriers to implementing co-management in British Columbia salmon fisheries. Conservation Ecology, 3(2), 2. Retrieved from http://www.consecol.org/vol3/iss2/art2/
- Platteau, J.-P., and Abraham, A., (2002). Participatory development in the presence of endogenous community imperfections. The Journal of Development Studies, 39(2), 104-136.
- Pomeroy, R.S. (1995). Community-based and co-management institutions for sustainable coastal fisheries management in Southeast Asia. Ocean & Coastal Management, 27(3), 143-162.
- Postel, S.L. (2003). Securing water for people, crops, and ecosystems: new mindset and new priorities. Natural Resources Forum, 27, 89-98.
- Sadler, R. (1998). The Australian experience: managing a non-metropolitan urban water utility – paradigm shifting towards a new mindset. International Journal of Public Sector Management, 11, 596-610.

- Scott, W.R. (2008). Institutions and organizations: ideas and interests (3rd ed.). Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Scholtz, U., Njaya, F.J., Chimatiro, S., Hummel, M., Donda, S., and Mkoko, B.J. (1998).
  Status and prospects of Participatory Fisheries Management Programs in Malawi. In T.
  Petr (Ed.), Inland Fishery Enhancements (Fisheries Technical Paper 374) (pp. 407-425). Rome: Food and Agricultural Organization.
- Schrank, W.E. (2005). The Newfoundland fishery: ten years after the moratorium. Marine Policy, 29, 407-420.
- Seo, B.-G., and Byeon, D.-S., (2006). Improvement measures for vitalization of Jayul Fisheries Program, with special attention to inshore boat fishery. Aquatic Industry Science Research, 24, 31-42. [in Korean]
- Song, A.M., and Chuenpagdee, R. (2011). Conservation principle: a normative imperative in addressing illegal fishing in Lake Malawi. Maritime Studies (MAST), 10, 5-30.
- Symes, D. (2006). Fisheries governance: a coming of age for fisheries social science? Fisheries Research, 81, 113-117.
- Suárez de Vivero, J.L., Rodríguez Mateos, J.C., and Florido del Corral, D. (2008). The paradox of public participation in fisheries governance. The rising number of actors and the devolution process. Marine Policy, 32, 319-325.
- Teh, L.C.L., and Sumaila, U.R. (2013). Contribution of marine fisheries to worldwide employment. Fish and Fisheries, 14, 77-88.
- Townsend, R.E., Shotton, R., and Uchida, H. (2008). Case studies in fisheries selfgovernance (FAO Fisheries Technical Paper 504). 451pp.
- Uchida, H., Uchida, E., Lee, J.-S., Ryu, J.-G., and Kim, D.-Y. (2010). Does self management in fisheries enhance profitability? Examination of Korea's coastal fisheries. Marine Resource Economics, 25, 37-59.
- Uchida, E., Uchida, H., Lee, J.-S., Ryu, J.-G., and Kim, D.-Y (2012). TURFs and clubs: empirical evidence of the effect of self-governance on profitability in South Korea's inshore (maul) fisheries. Environment and Development Economics, 17, 41-65.
- Wall, P.C. (2007). Tailoring conservation agriculture to the needs of small farmers in developing countries. Journal of Crop Improvement, 19, 137-155.

- Wilson, D.C., Nielsen, J.R., and Degnbol, P. (Eds.). (2003). The fisheries co-management experience: accomplishments, challenges and prospects., Dordrecht, Kluwer Academic Publishers
- Worm, B., Hilborn, R., Baum, J.K., Branch, T.A., Collie, J.S., Costello, C.,... Zeller, D. (2009). Rebuilding global fisheries. Science, 325, 578-585.
- Yamada, K., Ishizaka, J., Yoo, S., Kim, H.-c., and Chiba, S. (2004). Seasonal and interannual variability of sea surface chlorophyll a concentration in the Japan/East Sea (JES). Progress in Oceanography, 61, 193-211.
- Young, E. (2001). State intervention and abuse of the commons: fisheries development in Baja California Sur, Mexico. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 91, 283-306.
- Zhang, C.I., Lee, J.B., Seo, Y.I., Yoon, S.C., and Kim, S. (2004). Variations in the abundance of fisheries resources and ecosystem structure in the Japan/East Sea. Progress in Oceanography, 61, 245-265.
- Zhao, S. (1991). Meta-theory, meta-method, meta-data-analysis: what, why, and how? Sociological Perspectives, 34, 377-390.

Chapter 2 Values, images, and principles: what they represent and how

they may improve fisheries governance

Published in Marine Policy, Volume 40, July 2013, Pages 167-175, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.01.018

Andrew M. Song<sup>a,\*</sup>, Ratana Chuenpagdee<sup>a</sup> and Svein Jentoft<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Geography, Science Building, Memorial University of Newfoundland, St. John's, Newfoundland, A1B 3X9, Canada

<sup>b</sup> Norwegian College of Fishery Science, University of Tromsø, Breivika, N-9037 Tromsø, Norway

\* Corresponding author

Telephone: +1 709 864 8019, Fax: +1 709 864 3119

Email addresses: amsong@mun.ca (A.M. Song), ratanac@mun.ca (R. Chuenpagdee), svein.jentoft@uit.no (S. Jentoft)

Abstract

Natural resource governance is expected to respond effectively and timely to dynamic environmental conditions, also in a manner that reflects social and political complexity of the system that it aims to govern. Values, images and principles that resource users and governing actors hold about how the world works represent a fundamental part of that complexity. These elements have indefinite form and meaning, may be incommensurable, competing and incompatible, and they often go unnoticed in governance discourse. This paper examines how values, images and principles are represented in a fisheries setting, and explores their diversity and ubiquity as well as the potential differences in the way they are conceived by various stakeholders. These characteristics are shown to give rise to the difficulties in policy planning and implementation, and create implications to power relations and overall governability of a fisheries system. The paper posits that governance challenges could be lessened if stakeholders' values, images, and principles are made explicit, understood, and articulated into policy and decision-making process. It concludes with suggestions about future research steps.

Keywords: value; image; principle; fisheries; interactive governance; governability

## 1. Introduction

The complexity, dynamics and multi-scaled interactions between humans and the environment make governance of natural resource industries such as fisheries among the most challenging systems to govern [1-3]. Conventional and popular policy initiatives that resemble 'panaceas' [4] or 'technical fixes' [5], even if well-implemented, often remain ineffective and produce disappointing results [6]. Recently, some researchers have begun drawing parallel to the dilemmas confronting planning theory [7] in characterizing resource governance issues as 'wicked problems' [8-13]. Here, defining a problem itself is a problem, and the problems are never solved, but re-solved for the time being. This conundrum stems from the inherent nature of social problems, or any problems that have social implications, in which diverse groups of individuals express their interests, judgments and worldviews [7,9].

According to the interactive governance perspective [14], dealing with 'wicked problems' may start with an examination of fishery systems in order to understand their social and ecological limits [15], as well as potential and opportunities embedded within [16]. This includes a study of fisheries institutions, how they are created and what are expected of their functions [17]. Ultimately, a thorough investigation of what underlies people's behaviors, actions and decisions is required to make these problems more comprehensible. As posited by Kooiman and Jentoft [18], this understanding is fundamentally what governors should strive for.

Studies illustrating how stakeholders vary in their interests and motivation include those emphasizing users' attitude (e.g., [19,20]) and perception (e.g., [21,22]). Though they provide a useful way of understanding people's sentiment about specific objects, situations or issues, these attributes are based on other mental constructs, particularly values, images and principles which are slow-changing, few in number and deeply ingrained [23-25]. It is these latter elements that create 'hard choices' in resource governance, requiring decisions about incommensurable trade-offs that a simple opinion poll or attitudinal survey is ill-suited to resolve [26,27]. There have been numerous studies to understand these fundamental concepts, as well as other related notions, such as beliefs, norms and worldviews (e.g., [23,28,29]). While they endeavour to distinguish these constructs from each other, they also acknowledge that there is a great amount of overlap. In fact, they may be best used in conjunction with each other as suggested in studies of values, theories of planning, and governance [27,30-32].

In this paper, the benefit of understanding 'meta-level' governance elements, i.e., values, images and principles, of those involved in governance in resolving fisheries

problems is examined. It does so by exploring the diversity in these elements, how they have informed and dominated the fisheries discourse, as well as revealing the elements that have been seldom discussed. The paper posits that an enhanced understanding of what these meta-elements are and how they might be differently conceived by various stakeholders may contribute to lessening the complexity and making fisheries a less wicked affair.

In the following, a description of these elements according to the interactive governance perspective is presented. A literature review is then conducted to examine what values, images and principles entail and how they have been approached in the fisheries context. The paper reflects on the findings by discussing their implications to governability, and concludes with suggestions on future research direction.

## 2. Meta-level governance elements

The interactive governance perspective shares many key ideas promoted by other governance approaches [16], but has its own emphasis on interactions as the fundamental conditions for the existence of social-ecological systems [14,33]. It is within these interactions, especially between the systems that are being governed (whether natural or social) and the governing system, where problems and opportunities for governance lie. In its deliberation, meta-level governance, which deals with elements such as values, images, and principles, is identified as the most distinguishing and innovative facet about the interactive governance [34,35]. Symes [34, p. 116] notes, for instance, that the "firm foundations in ethical values and carefully articulated governing principles" on which

interactive governance bases its focus is a pioneering notion that could lead fisheries governance to a new height. The explicit attention on meta-level governance stems from the acknowledgement that governance is value-ridden from top to bottom [36]. In other words, the normative and cognitive concerns of fishery stakeholders are what underpin the overall governance process, guiding, shaping and inspiring decisions and actions. Kooiman [36, p. 170] explains that meta-level governing is like "an imaginary governor, teleported to a point 'outside' and holding the whole governance experience against a normative light." This imaginary governor can be envisaged as having a set of values, images and principles, by which his/her decision is evaluated and judged.

According to Rokeach [23, p. 5], values are "enduring beliefs that a specific mode of conduct is personally or socially preferable to an opposite or converse mode of conduct or end-state of existence." Hence, they are ultimately about what is desirable. They transcend specific situations, guide selection or evaluation of behaviour, and are ordered by relative importance [37]. Despite being abstract and ideal [38], the essence of governance lies in the determination and allocation of values [39], the process in which power dynamics are embedded. Images are "a way of thinking and a way of seeing that pervade how we understand our world generally" [40, p. 4]. Cognitive in nature and tied to real practices, they are neither easily recognized nor often questioned, and mostly remain unverbalized and implicit [41]. Boulding [42] maintains that images are what one believes to be true; one's subjective knowledge that largely governs his/her behaviour. Principles are codes of conduct, operating guidelines, or yardsticks to internally refer to when decisions and actions are made, evaluated, criticized and when changes are proposed. Principles are the most applied notion in the sense that they have a more direct bearing on real-life choices and practices than values and images [18].

Two properties of values, images and principles give rise to difficulties in resource governance. They often differ between stakeholders, especially those with different interests, and they are subjected to change. In addition to their diverse and dynamic nature, they tend to interact in ways that are not easy to explain. As implied by several theories, such as those of Planned Behavior [30] and the value-belief-norm model [31], they may be best understood together. Biggs et al. [29] also explain how values and beliefs interact with mental models (i.e., images) in multi-loop learning processes. These studies suggest that one can expect lively interplay among these elements, requiring therefore joint consideration when attempting to understand how they influence resource governance decisions.

The difficulties observed through the meta-level elements also highlight governability challenges, which need to be addressed for improving governance. Governability is a concept loosely defined as the capacity to govern, given the real and foreseeable demands of those being governed [33,43,44]. Incommensurable values between fisheries stakeholders, for example, may act as a limit to how governable a fishery can be [15]. But in another case where people's images appear consistent with their value priorities, the system would be deemed more governable. Focusing on stakeholders' values, images, and principles would present one way of permitting recognition of different degrees of governability that exists in a fisheries system.

3. Values, images, and principles in fisheries governance

#### 3.1. Values

Generally speaking, values are discussed in a number of different ways with varying foci. A broad range of disciplines, such as philosophy, psychology, sociology, anthropology, ecological economics, and resource management, all contribute to value literature. This section outlines salient values being evoked in fisheries and by the same token identifies values that have received less attention by fisheries stakeholders. Because value can be a bewildering concept whose meanings may vary depending on one's disciplinary frame, an introduction of the general value literature is first presented to illustrate the diverse array of existing value discourses.

Satterfield and Kalof [45] refer to two dominant traditions in categorizing values – axiomatic and relativistic. An axiomatic approach operates on the premise that certain values are better, more important, and intellectually defensible than others. Values under this tradition are formulated based on argument (e.g., [46,47]) and/or measurement (e.g., [48]), and are typically expert-driven from the field of ethics, philosophy and ecological economics. The relativistic approach, on the other hand, assumes that there are no right or wrong values, only different ones. Abiding by the principle of 'value-neutrality', this tradition is well-accepted by practitioners and applied researchers, who rely on expressed preferences to elicit or monitor public beliefs and conduct survey exercises for policy and management purposes [45].

Another way to organize values is by the distinction of held and assigned values [49]. Held values refer to underlying values or ideals that prioritize modes of conduct or

desirable qualities. Mainly advocated through sociology and psychology, this perspective sees values as fundamental beliefs, which are typically subject to ordering of relative importance (e.g., ranking). On the other hand, assigned values refer to a benefit, worth, or merit that is given to an object, most often assessed through valuation techniques. Here, value is "not a characteristic of the object per se but the importance of which is derived, at least partially, from held values" [45, p. xxv].

The approach taken in this paper to study values in fisheries governance was through developing a set of common value types. Dietz et al. [28] mentions that the Rokeach/Schwartz tradition of conceiving human values, for example, needs an expansion to capture altruism in order to better link with environmental concerns and be more useful for the study of environmentalism. Supported by such ideas that combining different ways of seeing values can be a value-added activity, this study consolidated eight well-established value schemes (i.e., [23,37,46,50-54]) that are judged collectively to reflect the diverse traditions that exist in the value literature. A considerable overlap among the examined value schemes was observed, and these commonalities allowed for the forming of 24 value types, as listed in Table 1. Though not a universal list, it reasonably captures the broad value discourse offering a comprehensive scope in a concise fashion. These 24 value types provide the basis for the search words used to conduct literature scan that identifies the values frequently or seldom discussed in fisheries governance.

A journal article scan using 'ISI Web of Knowledge' as a search engine was conducted for each value type in October 2012 using the search words listed in Table 1 in combination with ("fisheries" OR "fishery") AND ("governance" OR "management").

Owing to the many different linguistic connotations associated with the word "value", a direct scan of the word "value" was deemed less meaningful and thus deliberately omitted.

The results indicated that ecosystem conservation, wealth, knowledge, equality, secure livelihoods, achievement, tradition, and influence are the eight most widely discussed values in fisheries governance research in the decreasing order. This is perhaps not a surprising finding, given the prominence of the topics concerning ecosystem, economic growth, and livelihoods in the general fisheries discourse (e.g., ecosystemapproach to management [55], wealth-based fisheries management [56], and sustainable livelihoods approach [57]). On the other hand, what also becomes evident from the results is the type of values that have been less well-embraced, but potentially important and worthy of greater attention. It is argued, for instance, that spiritual values reified through religious practices and sacred rituals can serve as a driving force in reviving longneglected traditional ecological knowledge for facilitating sustainable management of fisheries in East Africa [58]. Also, striving for peace can be an enabling factor in developing an integrated management plan that overlays commercial fisheries, tourism activities, claims of indigenous people, and territorial disputes, as demonstrated in the case of the Shiretoko World Natural Heritage area in Japan [59]. In addition to these discrete empirical cases, a conceptual framework centering on social wellbeing has recently emerged which highlights the subjective and psychological aspirations of individuals for enhancing guality of life [60,61]. Such perspective appears to align well with less advanced value types such as self-esteem, freedom, and attachment to place.

Coulthard et al. [61] further argues that when applied to a fishery context these values can provide a basis for poverty reduction and ecosystem conservation in fishing communities.

Further examination enabled categorization of the value types into four broad orientations. The value types in the 'better world' category can be said to hold a worldly orientation, as something that is desired for the world/broader society. As such, promoting ecosystem conservation, advocating equality, or deepening knowledge all carries an altruistic appeal that strives for the common good. Those in the 'good life' category are oriented towards what is desired for an individual's satisfactory, eudaimonic life. Accumulation of wealth, enhancement of spiritual wellbeing, and hedonistic aspirations can be said to closely follow egoistic motives, although it needs not be strictly egoistic at all times. Values in the 'personal virtues' category hold the orientation of desired righteousness of a person. Striving for self-esteem, moderation, or honesty would tend to promote a higher attainment of personal merit. Lastly, 'outward aspirations' signify those values oriented toward desired relationship/quality with outer beings, that is, they represent the so-called social values that guide interactions with fellow humans or objects outside of self.

Table 1 Twenty-four thematic value types that emerged from a review of eight value schemes, followed by the number of articles generated in a literature scan conducted for each value type in the fisheries governance context. The value types are described by the search words and categorized under the four broad value orientations

Type of values	Search words	Number of	Broad value
		articles	orientations

		generated		
(1) Ecosystem conservation	Ecosystem conservation, environmental protection, existence value, intrinsic value	315	Better world (what is desired for	
(2) Appreciation of beauty	Beauty, aesthetic value	29	the world/broade	
(3) Peacefulness	Peaceful, social order	3	r society)	
(4) Equality	Equality, equity, social justice, future generation	149		
(5) Freedom	Freedom	45		
(6) Knowledge	Knowledge value, scientific knowledge, ecological knowledge, intelligence	221		
(7) Wealth	Wealth, economic value, utilitarian value	269	'Good' life (what is	
(8) Spiritual wellbeing	Spiritual value, religious value, moral value	2	desired for an individual's satisfactory, eudaimonic,	
(9) Secure livelihoods	Livelihood security, food security	140		
(10) Hedonism	Joy, pleasure, recreational value	30	ille)	
(11) Achievement	Achievement	106		
(12) Novelty	Novelty, creativity	11		
(13) Benevolence	Benevolence, compassion	2	Personal	
(14) Moderation	Moderation, self-control	8	virtues (desired virtuous inner	
(15) Self-esteem	Self-esteem, self-respect	1		
(16) Honesty	Honesty	0	quality of a	
(17) Politeness	Polite	0	person	
(18) Attachment to place	Attachment to place, sense of place, place value, heritage value	6	Outward aspirations	
(19) Social cohesion	Social cohesion, social capital, community value, sense of belonging	37	(desired relationship	
(20) Influence	Social power	95	with	

(21) Social recognition	Social recognition, public image	35	human/object outside of
(22) Tradition	Tradition, cultural sustainability, cultural value	102	self)
(23) Conformity	Conformity, obedience	21	
(24) Affection	Humanistic love	0	

3.2. Images

Images have been associated with a wide array of conceptual backgrounds and framed in different terminologies, such as mental model [62], cognitive map [63], cognitive orientation [41], and virtual reality [64]. The traditions of anthropology and cognitive science have emphasized their linkages to aspects such as culture and internal information processing, respectively. Focusing on the fisheries governance context, this paper approaches images from the angle of policy decision-making and implementation. In other words, it aims to understand how images of governance systems held by stakeholders influence policy initiation, execution and evaluation, and in turn how the images are affected by the very process. This entry point has been supported by an argument such as "individual cognitions or mental models of resources are not irrelevant to environmental decision making, as assumed by content-free framing in terms of utilities" [62, p. 771].

An analysis of the images followed a more qualitative and interpretive approach than those aimed for values and principles. This strategy is grounded in the discursive and contextual nature of image [65]. Following a journal article scan using 'ISI Web of

Knowledge' in October 2012 based on the criteria of ("image" OR mental model" OR "cognitive map" OR "virtual reality") AND ("fisheries" OR "fishery") AND ("governance" OR "management"), an in-depth review of the returned articles was conducted to grasp the ways in which images have been discussed in fisheries. The result was organized into three main types of image-based arguments, accompanied by examples of supporting ideas, as listed in Table 2.

One of the most prominent uses of images and associated concepts in fisheries research has been to expose faulty, or at least worrisome, conceptions of various aspects relating to fisheries reality. The assertion is that these images, such as the sea as a 'frontier' [66], fishing as 'mining' [67], and the ecosystem as a linear, stable 'pyramid' [68,69], have misled governance effort into the current demise of resource health. The cognitive bias described by "Pauly's ratchet" or "shifting baseline," which creates a short-term illusion of resource abundance [70], is also argued to bring serious consequences. While real practices and experience shape one's images, the reverse is also true because people are driven by their ideas held in their images. Because people tend to see the world in the way the images are drawn, and then act in ways that make the world conform to the images, images have a predictive quality [41,64]. In other words, they do not just describe what is happening but prescribe what the world ought to be. This line of argument maintains that fixing fisheries problems requires a critical review of the use of images in fisheries discourse and likely a complete overhaul of certain images, as a consequence.

Explicit recognition of the similarities and differences in the images of various stakeholder groups is another theme discussed in the literature. It posits that the general public or different sectors of the society may have certain images of the fisheries.

According to Downs and Stea [63], group images arise due to a combination of three factors. First, a set of socio-cultural environment contains many regular and recurrent features common to all members of a group. This is perhaps why connection to the coast and tie to the sea are common images in fisheries. Second, members also share similar information-processing capabilities and strategies, that is, the range of fishers' knowledge and expertise may not be too disparate from each other. Thirdly, behavior patterns may contain similar origins, destinations and frequencies. In other words, fishers working in the same environment may operate with the similar modus operandi about fishing practices. As such, when images are shared by a group of people, they serve as the basic bond of an organization, culture, or even society [42].

While images are capable of creating important insights, they are also incomplete, biased and potentially misleading [40]. This may thus result in different tiers of people possessing disparate images about fisheries. For example, the images held by managers and scientists may deviate a great deal from those held by fishers and community members [65,71,72]. In governance context, this poses a potential danger as ill-matched images could lead to misunderstanding and confrontation, bogging down management efforts and generating public outcry. This does not imply that there must be one unifying image, however. Jentoft et al. [65, p. 195] advises that "stakeholders need not necessarily agree on images, but they must at least be aware of which images are present, how they vary or concur, and they must understand where such images come from and what prospects they hold". Smith [71, p. 209] further asserts that "…making explicit these underlying cognitive modes would provide more "common ground" for addressing management problems".

The third type of argument in fisheries casts a caution against discursive power and dominance of a particular image. Kooiman [36, p. 29] argues that "anyone involved in governing, in whatever capacity or authority, forms images about what he or she is governing". Similarly, Jentoft et al. [73, p. 1315] explains that "governing is inconceivable without the formation of images, and that they are needed for the sake of understanding, communication and action". Such statements affirm that images are omnipresent and integral in the act of governing. Images thus play a persuasive and rhetorical role in steering the course of governance, shaping how stakeholders view issues, problems and other involved parties. By the same token, failure to control images can lead to loss of control over policy itself, opening up for a change in regimes [74]. It is in the interest of governors, then, to find or create compelling metaphorical images that can help clarify or favorably represent their vision of governance and persuade those being governed [40]. A powerful example in the history of fisheries is Garrett Hardin's 'tragedy of the commons' image based on the premise that "freedom in a commons brings ruin to all" [75], which became the root metaphor for an enclosure of the open sea, leading eventually to the empowerment of coastal states and the declaration of the Exclusive Economic Zone [76]. Furthermore, images can be created by a dominant societal discourse which constructs a version of reality that is widely perceived as true. For instance, St. Martin [77] warns that the neoliberal logic tends to paint fishing economies as pre-capitalist, a barrier to capital accumulation, and consequently dictates fishers to become capitalist subjects through a blanket promotion of industrialization and commercialization. Such a dominant discourse can create forceful images about fisheries which may deny other alternative fishing forms such as subsistence, spiritual, and community-based fishery. As such, how images can become hegemonic, and by what means, is an area of governance analysis that needs to be continuously explored [27].

Table 2 Three types of arguments concerning image emerged in fisheries governance

literature and examp	les of s	supporting	ideas
----------------------	----------	------------	-------

Argument	Ideas	Reference
Faulty and	The idea of the "frontier" being at the core of	Bromley
worrisome images	American fisheries policy making it difficult to	[66]
of ecosystems and	undertake ecosystem management	
fishers	The frame used in management being similar to that of "mining", seen as a non-renewable resource	McCay et al. [67]
	A particular image of fish and fishermen - of nature and society - forged by strong bonds between science and the state, which is problematic for accommodating the complexities of real world fisheries	Holm [68]
	The image of humans at the top of the trophic pyramid no longer applicable for ecosystem- based approach	Bundy et al. [69]
	Pauly's ratchet or shifting baseline	Pitcher [70]
Similarity and disparity in the	Governability hinging upon image diversity and compatibility	Jentoft et al. [65]
views of various stakeholders	Different cognitive models exist, and play an important role in the way people think about the world, affect decision-making	Smith [71]
	Differences in the views of scientists, resource managers, and watermen on how best to manage and protect a local fishery	Paolisso [72]
Discursive power and dominance of images	The 'tragedy of the commons', described as undoubtedly the most influential image governing fisheries, leading to widespread policy prescriptions in terms of limited access programs, quota systems and rights allocations	Jentoft et al. [73]
	Fishing economies represented as pre-capitalist and	St. Martin

## 3.3. Principles

Principles are likely the most well-articulated concept of the three. There is already an array of national and international guidelines concerning natural resource governance. The World Bank [78], the United Nations Development Programme [79], and the European Commission [80], as well as Ostrom's design principles for common property resource institutions [81] all provide normative guidance. The fisheries sector also sees a collection of overarching standards, most notably the Code of Conduct for Responsible Fisheries [82] and the International Guidelines for Securing Sustainable Small-scale Fisheries recently launched by the FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) [83].

As with the review of values and images, a journal article scan using 'ISI Web of Knowledge' was conducted in October 2012 to identify some of the most frequently discussed governance principles that research attention has been drawn to in fisheries over the years. This returned 1175 journal articles containing ("principle" OR "guideline") AND ("fisheries" OR "fishery") AND ("governance" OR "management") in the article title, abstract, or keywords. Further, in this study a general governance principle was framed as a normative concept that stipulates how fisheries should be guided by (i.e., a basis on which decisions should be made). Applying this criterion

resulted in 141 articles, containing 88 unique varieties of principles akin to the idea of principle as 'how what needs to be done ought to be done,' proposed in the interactive governance.

Of these, 20 are most frequently referred to and discussed in fisheries, meaning they have been mentioned by at least four articles in a non-trivial manner, either with their concepts centrally featured or the cause and effect of their application fully elaborated (Fig. 1). The collection does not purport to be an exhaustive list, but an illustration of a major trend in the discourse about governance principles. Precaution receives the most attention by far, followed by principles relating to ecosystem integrity and function, adaptability, use of scientific information, participation, conservation, and human welfare. As shown in Fig. 1, these principles cover the entire range of sub-systems central to the interactive governance, i.e., the natural and social systems-to-be-governed, the governing system and the governing interactions. The basis for associating principles with governance sub-systems is by determining which system is likely to benefit most from the service of each principle. For example, the natural system would arguably be the most direct beneficiary of the activation of precautionary principle. Likewise, transparency or the use of scientific information would act as relevant guidelines for how governing should be carried out. It is notable that more emphasis has been given to the principles pertaining to the governing system and the natural system-to-be-governed than the other two sub-systems. In terms of the number of different kinds of principles, again the focus has been on the principles that inform and guide the functioning of the governing system and the natural system-to-be-governed.

Precaution				54 (NSG)
Ecosystem integrity and function	18 (NSG)			. ,
Adaptability		17 (GS)		
Scientific information		13 (GS)		
Participation	1	13 (GI)		
Conservation	12	12 (NSG)		
Human welfare and values	10 (	SSG)		
Transparency	9 (GS	S)		
Interdisciplinary understanding	7 (GS)	,		
Accountability	6 (GS)			
Subsidiarity	5 (GS)			
Equity	5 (SSG)	Sub-systems	Total # of	Total # of
Balance of objectives	5 (GS)		articles	principles
Use of technology as tools	4 (GS)	Governing system (GS)	74	10
Social justice	4 (SSG)	Natural-system-to-be-	92	5
Responsibility	4 (NSG)	governed (NSG)		
Intersectoral intervention	4 (GS)	Social-system-to-be-	23	4
Environmental stewardship	4 (NSG)	governed (SSG)		
Effectiveness	4 (GS)	Governing interactions (GI)	13	1
Economic viability	4 (SSG)			
-		Frequency		

Fig. 1. Ordering of 20 most frequently referred to and discussed governance principles in fisheries identified by this review (the numbers in italics show the frequency of articles featuring each principle). The total numbers of articles featuring the principles that belong to each sub-system and the breakdown of the 20 principles according the sub-system classification are also displayed

The less frequently mentioned principles (the other 68 found in articles) cover a wide range, including legitimacy, adjacency, user-pays, no-net-loss, relative stability, and limits/sufficiency. While receiving less attention, they are arguably crucial in many specific governance situations, hence likely not any less important. For instance, the principle of legitimacy is likely to contribute to rule compliance by invoking normative obligations of fishers [84]. This principle is expected to improve governing interactions, and becomes a highly requisite concept in co-management where resource users themselves become part of the governing system, as elaborated by Jentoft [85]. Limit or sufficiency is another principle that has perhaps not gained wide currency but argued by many to be worthy of critical consideration. From the natural system perspective, it can be expressed as willfully limiting fishing pressure, for instance, on those larger predatory species with low productivity rates, given their important role in top-down control of ecological processes [86]. Similarly, in the social domain, it is about being satisfied with an attainment of a modest and reasonable level of governing goals [87]. Instead of striving for the absolute maximum, learning to live with a sufficient amount is suggested to be an intuitively sensible, and even rational, guideline. This can underpin personal endeavors as well as organized social-economic activities, as Monhegen lobster fishery in the state of Maine has demonstrated through self-imposed seasonal closures and limited entry [88].

# 4. Discussion

Review of the values, images, and principles point to two main areas of reflection in their roles and potential for improving fisheries governance. First, it has shown that some meta-level elements have been topics of active discussion and promotion while there are others which have not been given equal consideration. As observed earlier, the current study found that fisheries work so far has been making minimal connections to the value types in the 'personal virtues' category. Yet, striving for personal values could profoundly influence governance stakeholders' leanings towards their decisions and actions. Certain
governance challenges such as corruption may in part spring from governors' lack of regard towards benevolence, honesty, or politeness value types, for instance. By the same token, it is plausible that any combination of values may be borne by governing actors as a source of inspiration. While a well-publicized 'core' set of values may take precedence in many instances, one must recognize that other value types could be deemed more important by certain segments of stakeholders, whether powerful leaders or minority groups. How to keep abreast of a wide range of values, understand how they may align more to certain stakeholder groups, and re-balance them in governance consideration whenever necessary are important research questions. The same logic holds for images which at times require re-examination and adjustment to provide checks and balances for the hegemonic dominance of influential governing images. Similarly, a set of new principles can become promoted and in need of wider subscription for governance innovation. It has been cautioned, however, that updating or bringing forward new principles in fisheries is "a Herculean task that lies beyond the competence of bureaucrats and scientists and requires the mobilization of considerable social forces" [89, p. 782].

Secondly, generally underpinning the cognitive and normative internal decisionand action-generating process, values, images, and principles have distinct roles to play and occupy different thematic niches in one's mindset, i.e., (1) general value priorities of an individual, (2) his or her images about the world/fishery, and (3) governance principles he/she subscribes to. From the governance perspective, what is most meaningful may not be the separate accounts of the values, images and principles that people hold, but how they work as a whole to influence governance processes and outcomes. Thus, it is not one or the others, but likely a melding of the three that would

produce the most holistic and relevant insights. Since different stakeholder groups may be imbued with a different meta-level elements, their interests and positions are likely varied, depending also on how these elements interplay. For instance, if economic wealth and individual freedom are prioritized values, when combined with an image of the fishery that resembles 'race to fish' or 'too many boats chasing too few fish,' this mix could give rise to efficiency, exclusivity, and decentralization as their guiding principles. A group of stakeholders (e.g., government bureaucrats) in a certain setting with this set of value, image, principle arrangement would likely orient their policy decisions towards the privatization of the commons with an emphasis on market- and incentive-based approaches such as individual transferable guotas and catch shares [90,91]. In another case, if social and altruistic values such as equality, social cohesion, and attachment to place are prioritized instead and merged with a different set of images that are consonant with 'community solidarity' or 'cooperative model' [77,92,93], fisheries governance might come to be organized around principles such as cooperation, equity, and adjacency. A group of stakeholders (e.g., nongovernmental organizations) who adhere to this blend of values, images, and principles would tend to advocate community-based approaches to fisheries management as a result. In a similar manner, it may also be possible to characterize the underlying values, images, and principles of the proponents involved in large-scale and small-scale fisheries to help better make sense of the large divide that seems to exist in their assumptions and operational traits. Recognizing the similarity and disparity in the meta-level elements as well as the way they interplay, could, therefore, provide an alternate way of deepening an understanding of stakeholder differences and reducing the complexity of fisheries governance.

Given their potential to influence the course of policy decisions, one of the future directions for empirical research could be ascertaining to what extent these meta-level governance elements are directly related to, and thus can be used to explain, the occurrence of real-world practices, and what effect they produce towards the initiation and implementation of governance policies. Already there are studies that have begun to explore these aspects. In trying to detect a relationship between the use of illegal fishing gear and a bearing of a principle on conservation in a Lake Malawi fishery, Song and Chuenpagdee [94] found that fishers who engaged in illegal practices were most frequently found having relatively low levels of awareness about conservation as well as inclination to promote it. Contrastingly, fishers who held elevated conservation principle were mostly associated with owning or operating legal gears. In another example, Agrawal [95] draws on the case in India in which initially forced or incentive-based participation in environmental practices generates new conceptions of what constitutes people's mindset and lead to formation of new environmentally caring subjectivities. The study demonstrated that the quality and the degree of involvement in governance initiatives by stakeholder groups could affect the shaping of their meta-level elements and vice versa. Taken together, these studies support the view that values, images, and principles are relevant components in the governing of people's actions, and that their examination provides another pathway towards facilitating governance initiatives.

Ultimately, the values, images, and principles that stakeholders hold would in part determine the capacity to govern a fisheries system. Incommensurable values, or conflicting and incompatible images and principles not only would make wickedness of fisheries governance to persist but also contribute to lower governability. Stakeholders

may not agree on issues, for instance. With each group promoting their own image of 'what is desirable' or 'how things ought to be', what one sees as a favorable decision could be a disadvantage for others. As a result, governance initiatives can be marred with resistance or indifference rendering the system less governable. Interactive governance theory posits that improving stakeholder interactions could enhance governability via democratic participation and wide representation, for example. But the contrary can also hold true, for malicious governing interactions, in the case of dictatorship, may deceivingly inflate governability by moderating people's demands through oppression and censorship. This is why the quality of interactions is important and should be carefully assessed [16]. A critical look at the meta-level governance elements can be expected to help uncover ethical reasoning as well as power relations that tend to dominate interactions among governance actors. For example, questions need to be raised about the degree to which local resource users accept and are ready to follow state rules, visions, and policy messages, or how non-governmental organizations represented by their staff and activities become a vehicle that serves to extend the political rationalities of the state [96]. Such an investigation opens an avenue for bringing in the analytics of 'governmentality,' submitted by Foucault [97], into the discussion. "As indicated by the semantic linking of the words governing and mentality, governmentality... is a field of enquiry that problematises the collective and often taken-for-granted systems of thought that make governing strategies appear natural and given at certain times in history" [98, p. 8]. The comparison of values, images, and principles and ensuing examination of the flow and unevenness of power may reveal a sense of coercion, marginalization, or contestation implicated in governance process. One's values may be co-opted or silenced via interactions with other stakeholders, which would invariably affect the governability of the system. Bringing the analytics of governmentality into the overall governability of a fisheries system presents a prospective theoretical inquiry that can build upon the articulation of the meta-level governance elements.

#### 5. Conclusion

This paper examined values, images, and principles in the context of fisheries governance. Exploring their diversity through a review of journal articles, it was shown that a wide array of these meta-level elements have been discussed in the literature, but with a varying degree of attention. Values that promote ecosystem conservation, wealth, knowledge, equality, and secure livelihoods appear to be more frequently featured. Images that worrisomely liken fishery to an extractive and competitive resource frontier have been sharply pointed out. Further, principles that aim to guide the operation of natural and governing systems, such as precaution and adaptability emerged as the prevailing topics of debate. While their eminence signifies a major pattern in the way a fisheries discourse has been conceived and aspired, the review also revealed those that have been seldom discussed, but nevertheless, deemed important by various groups of fishery stakeholders. Being aware of the diversity in these elements as well as the potential differences in the way various stakeholders embrace them would offer an alternate entry point to approaching governance for resolving fisheries problems, especially those with a high degree of wickedness.

67

Ensuing research could focus on learning about, or developing, mechanisms for reconciling and re-balancing the wide spectrum of values, images, and principles. This will be important not to lose sight of other noble elements and help bring holism and open-mindedness into stakeholder interactions. Values, images and principles are difficult to discern due to their inherent nature and their subtleness. However, a survey tradition in the social sciences that employs direct ranking or rating of a set of values offers one possible method of eliciting and comparing stakeholder values [23,99]. Principles could take a similar survey approach that utilizes choice inquiries, for example, based on paired comparisons [94]. Because these methods offer numerically-based results, they would likely need to be corroborated by qualitative information in order to capture nuanced context-driven details and derive proper meanings. Understanding images could be led by qualitative techniques to permit exploration of rich and multi-faceted imaginations but also aided by modeling or mapping exercises to attain a mixed method design [29,65].

By using methodological approaches such as these with necessary modifications, elucidating values, images, and principles' linkage and effect on governance responses, decisions and actions, and vice versa, presents an area of future research that can strengthen their policy relevance. For example, questions such as "would a marine protected area succeed in this region given the existing set of values, images, and principles of involved stakeholders?" or "would the reorientation of policies aimed at small-scale fisheries require a reconceptualization of current images, values, and governance principles?" pose a useful inquiry. Finally, the articulation of the meta-level elements offers potential in facilitating an analysis of power dynamics between stakeholder groups. One could raise a question as to "to what extent are the images,

68

values and principles of some stakeholders hegemonic, thus suppressing those of others?" Here, how a related concept of governmentality by Foucault can be drawn in to help facilitate this inquiry represents a prospective research direction.

Understanding values, images, and principles may help broaden the discussion, raise new research questions, and create an opportunity for stakeholders to heighten appreciation of diversity and compatibility among each other. At the same time, an explicit expression of these underlying elements could bring greater transparency, accountability and more equitable exercise of power. A more systematic and holistic understanding of values, images, and principles is thus warranted to enhance governability and remains an important area for empirical research.

#### Acknowledgements

This research was made possible by the funding support of the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

## References

- [1] Ludwig D, Hilborn R, Walters C. Uncertainty, resource exploitation, and conservation: lessons from history. Science 1993;260:17-36.
- [2] Cochrane KL. Reconciling sustainability, economic efficiency and equity in fisheries: the one that got away? Fish and Fisheries 2000;1:3-21.
- [3] Pauly D, Christensen V, Guénette S, Pitcher TJ, Sumaila UR, Walters CJ, et al. Towards sustainability in world fisheries. Nature 2002;418:689-695.

- [4] Ostrom E. A diagnostic approach for going beyond panaceas. PNAS 2007;104:15181-15187.
- [5] Degnbol P, Gislason H, Hanna S, Jentoft S, Nielsen JR, Sverdrup-Jensen S, et al. Painting the floor with a hammer: technical fixes in fisheries management. Marine Policy 2006;30:534-543.
- [6] Pitcher TJ, Lam ME. Fishful thinking: rhetoric, reality, and the sea before us. Ecology and Society 2010;15(2):12.
- [7] Rittel HWJ, Webber MM. Dilemmas in a general theory of planning. Policy Sciences 1973;4:155-169.
- [8] Ludwig D, Mangel M, Haddard B. Ecology, conservation, and public policy. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 2001;32:481-517.
- [9] Jentoft S, Chuenpagdee R. Fisheries and coastal governance as a wicked problem. Marine Policy 2009;33:553-560.
- [10] Boyd IL. Assessing the effectiveness of conservation measures: resolving the "wicked" problem of the Steller sea lion. Biological Conservation 2010;143:1664-1674.
- [11] Khan AS, Neis B. The rebuilding imperative in fisheries: clumsy solutions for a wicked problem? Progress in Oceanography 2010;87:347-356.
- [12] Onyango P, Jentoft S. Assessing poverty in small-scale fisheries in Lake Victoria. Fish and Fisheries 2010;11:250-263.
- [13] Berkes F. Implementing ecosystem-based management: evolution or revolution? Fish and Fisheries, in press. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-2979.2011.00452.x.
- [14] Kooiman J, Bavinck M, Jentoft S, Pullin RSV, editors. Fish for life: interactive governance for fisheries. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press; 2005.
- [15] Jentoft S. Limits of governability: institutional implications for fisheries and coastal governance. Marine Policy 2007;31:360-370.
- [16] Chuenpagdee R. Interactive governance for marine conservation: an illustration.Bulletin of Marine Science 2011;87:197-211.

- [17] Chuenpagdee R, Song AM. Institutional thinking in fisheries governance: broadening perspectives. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 2012;4:309-315.
- [18] Kooiman J, Jentoft S. Meta-governance: values, norms and principles, and the making of hard choices. Public Administration 2009;87:818-836.
- [19] Pollnac RB, Carmo F. Attitudes toward cooperation among small-scale fishermen and farmers in the Azores. Anthropological Quarterly 1980;53:12-19.
- [20] Richardson EA, Kaiser MJ, Edwards-Jones G. Variation in fishers' attitudes within an inshore fishery: implications for management. Environmental Conservation 2005;32:213-225.
- [21] Gelcich S, Godoy N, Castilla JC. Artisanal fishers' perceptions regarding coastal comanagement policies in Chile and their potentials to scale-up marine biodiversity conservation. Ocean & Coastal Management 2009;52:424-432.
- [22] Wilson DCK, Ahmed M, Delaney A, Donda S, Kapasa CK, Malasha I, et al. Fisheries co-management institutions in Southern Africa: a hierarchical analysis of perceptions of effectiveness. International Journal of the Commons 2010;4:643-662.
- [23] Rokeach M. The nature of human values. New York: The Free Press; 1973.
- [24] Homer PM, Kahle LR. A structural equation test of the value-attitude-behavior hierarchy. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology 1988;54:638-646.
- [25] Vaske JJ, Donnelly MP. A value-attitude-behavior model predicting wildland voting intentions. Society and Natural Resources 1999;12:523-537.
- [26] Bailey C, Jentoft S. Hard choices in fisheries development. Marine Policy 1990;14:333-344.
- [27] Kooiman J, Jentoft S. Hard choices and values. In: Kooiman J, Bavinck M, Jentoft S, Pullin RSV, editors. Fish for life: interactive governance for fisheries. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press; 2005. p. 285-299.
- [28] Dietz T, Fitzgerald A, Shwom R. Environmental values. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 30;2005:335-372.

- [29] Biggs D, Abel N, Knight AT, Leitch A, Langston A, Ban NC. The implementation crisis in conservation planning: could "mental models" help? Conservation Letters 2011;4:169-183.
- [30] Ajzen I.. The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes 1991;50:179-211.
- [31] Stern PC. Toward a coherent theory of environmentally significant behavior. Journal of Social Issues 2000;56:407-424.
- [32] Buijs AE. Lay people's images of nature: comprehensive frameworks of values, beliefs, and value orientations. Society and Natural Resources 2009;22:417-432.
- [33] Kooiman J. Exploring the concept of governability. Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis 2008;10:171-190.
- [34] Symes D. Fisheries governance: a coming of age for fisheries social science? Fisheries Research 2006;81:113-117.
- [35] McGoodwin JR. Review of the books Fish for life: interactive governance for fisheries and interactive fisheries and interactive fisheries governance: a guide to better practice. Ocean & Coastal Management 2007;50:590-596.
- [36] Kooiman J. Governing as governance. London: Sage Publications; 2003.
- [37] Schwartz SH. Universals in the content and structure of values: theoretical advances and empirical tests in 20 countries. Advances in Experimental Social Psychology 1992;25:1-65.
- [38] Hitlin S, Piliavin JA. Values: reviving a dormant concept. Annual Review of Sociology 2004;30:359-393.
- [39] Kjær AM. Governance. Cambridge: Polity Press; 2004.
- [40] Morgan G. Images of organization. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications; 1997.
- [41] Foster GM. Peasant society and the image of limited good. American Anthropologist, 1965;67:293-315.
- [42] Boulding KE. The image: knowledge in life and society. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press; 1956.
- [43] Chuenpagdee R, Jentoft S. Governance assessment for fisheries and coastal systems: a reality check. Human Ecology 2009;37:109-120.

- [44] Song AM, Chuenpagdee R. Operationalizing governability: a case study of a Lake Malawi fishery. Fish and Fisheries 2010;11:235-249.
- [45] Satterfield T, Kalof L. Environmental values: an introduction relativistic and axiomatic traditions in the study of environmental values. In: Kalof L, Satterfield T, editors. The Earthscan reader in environmental values. London: Earthscan; 2005. p. xxi-xxxiii.
- [46] Kellert SR. The biological basis for human values of nature. In: Kellert SR, Wilson EO, editors. Biophilia hypothesis. Washington DC: Island Press; 1993. p. 42-69.
- [47] Rolston H III. Conserving natural value. New York: Columbia University; 1994.
- [48] Constanza R, Andrade F, Antunes P, van den Belt M, Boersma D, Boesch DF, et al. The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Ecological Economics 1998;25:3-15.
- [49] Brown TC. The concept of value in resource allocation. Land Economics 1984;60:231-246.
- [50] Kinnier RT, Kernes JL, Dautheribes TM. A short list of universal moral values. Counseling and Values 2000;45:4-16.
- [51] Stern PC, Dietz T, Guagnano GA. A brief inventory of values. Educational and Psychological Measurement 1998;58:984-1001.
- [52] Satterfield T. In search of value literacy: suggestions for the elicitation of environmental values. Environmental Values 2001;10:331-359.
- [53] Chan KMA, Goldstein J, Satterfield T, Hannahs N, Kikiloi K, Naidoo R, et al. Cultural services and non-use values. In: Kareiva P, Tallis H, Ricketts TH, Daily GC, Polasky S, editors. Natural capital theory and practice of mapping ecosystem services. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2001. p. 206-228.
- [54] Freeman AM III. The measurement of environmental and resource values: theory and methods. Washington DC: Resources for the Future; 1993.
- [55] Murawski SA. Ten myths concerning ecosystem approaches to marine resource management. Marine Policy 2007;31:681-690.

- [56] Cunningham S, Neiland AE, Arbuckle M, Bostock T. Wealth-based fisheries management: using fisheries wealth to orchestrate sound fisheries policy in practice. Marine Resource Economics 2009;24:271-287.
- [57] Allison EH, Ellis F. The livelihoods approach and management of small-scale fisheries. Marine Policy 2001;25:377-388.
- [58] Mathooko JM. Application of traditional ecological knowledge in the management and sustainability of fisheries in East Africa: a long-neglected strategy? Hydrobiologia 2005;537:1-6.
- [59] Makino M, Sakurai Y. Adaptation to climate-change effects on fisheries in the Shiretoko World Natural Heritage area, Japan. ICES Journal of Marine Science 2012;69:1134-1140.
- [60] Gough I, McGregor JA, editors. Wellbeing in developing countries: from theory to research. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2007.
- [61] Coulthard S, Johnson D, McGregor JA. Poverty, sustainability and human wellbeing: a social wellbeing approach to the global fisheries crisis. Global Environmental Change 2011;21:453-463.
- [62] Atran S, Medin DL, Ross NO. The cultural mind: environmental decision making and cultural modeling within and across populations. Psychological Review 2005;112:744-776.
- [63] Downs RM, Stea D. Cognitive maps and spatial behavior: process and products. In: Downs RM, Stea D, editors. Image and environment. Chicago: Aldine Publishing; 1973. p. 8-26.
- [64] Carrier JG. Introduction. In: Carrier JG, Miller D, editors. Virtualism: a new political economy. Oxford: Berg; 1998. p. 1-24.
- [65] Jentoft S, Pascual-Fernandez JJ, De la Cruz Modino R, Gonzalez-Ramallal M, Chuenpagdee R. What stakeholders think about marine protected areas: case studies from Spain. Human Ecology 2012;40:185-197.
- [66] Bromley DW. Purging the frontier from our mind: crafting a new fisheries policy. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 2005;15:217-229.

- [67] McCay BJ, Brandt S, Creed CF. Human dimensions of climate change and fisheries in a coupled system: the Atlantic surfclam case. ICES Journal of Marine Science 2011;68:1354-1367.
- [68] Holm P. Fisheries management and the domestication of nature. Sociologia Ruralis 1996;36:177-188.
- [69] Bundy A, Chuenpagdee R, Jentoft S, Mahon, R. If science is not the answer, what is? An alternative governance model for the world's fisheries. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 2008;6:152-155.
- [70] Pitcher TJ. Fisheries managed to rebuild ecosystems? Reconstructing the past to salvage the future. Ecological Applications 2001;11:601-617.
- [71] Smith ME. The nature of nature: conflict and consensus in fisheries management. Aquatic Living Resources 1995;8:209-213.
- [72] Paolisso M. Blue crabs and controversy on the Chesapeake Bay: a cultural model for understanding watermen's reasoning about blue crab management. Human Organization 2002;61:226-239.
- [73] Jentoft S, Chuenpagdee R, Bundy A, Mahon R. Pyramids and roses: alternative images for the governance of fisheries systems. Marine Policy 2010;34:1315-1321.
- [74] Baumgartner FR, Jones BD. Agenda dynamics and policy subsystems. The Journal of Politics 1991;53:1044-74.
- [75] Hardin G. The tragedy of the commons. Science 1968;163:1243-1248.
- [76] Mansfield B. Property regime or development policy? Explaning growth in the US Pacific groundfish fishery. The Professional Geographer 2001;53:384-397.
- [77] St. Martin K. The difference that class makes: neoliberalization and non-capitalism in the fishing industry of New England. Antipode 2007;39:527-549.
- [78] Kaufmann D, Kraay A, Mastruzzi M. Governance matters III: governance indicators for 1996-2002. Washington DC: The World Bank; 2003.
- [79] UNDP. Good governance for sustainable human development. <http://mirror.undp.org/magnet/policy/chapter1.htm>; 1997. [accessed 15 September 2012].

- [80] European Commission. White paper on governance. Brussels: European Commission; 2001.
- [81] Ostrom E. Governing the commons: the evolution of institutions for collective action. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1990.
- [82] FAO. The code of conduct for responsible fisheries. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization; 1995.
- [83] FAO. International guidelines for securing sustainable small-scale fisheries: zero draft. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization; 2012.
- [84] Nielsen JR. An analytical framework for studying: compliance and legitimacy in fisheries management. Marine Policy 2003;27:425-432.
- [85] Jentoft S. Legitimacy and disappointment in fisheries management. Marine Policy 2000;24:141-148.
- [86] Appeldoorn RS. Transforming reef fisheries management: application of an ecosystem-based approach in the USA Caribbean. Environmental Conservation 2008;35:232-241.
- [87] Chuenpagdee R, Juntarashote K. Learning from the experts: attaining sufficiency in small-scale fishing communities in Thailand. In: Jentoft S, Eide A, editors. Poverty mosaics: realities and prospects in small-scale fisheries. Dordrecht: Springer; 2011. p. 309-331.
- [88] Princen T. The logic of sufficiency. Cambridge: The MIT Press; 2005.
- [89] Symes D. Fisheries management and institutional reform: a European perspective. ICES Journal of Marine Science 2007;64:779-785.
- [90] Hilborn R. Managing fisheries is managing people: what has been learned? Fish and Fisheries 2007;8:285-296.
- [91] Costello C, Gaines SD, Lynham J. Can catch shares prevent fisheries collapse? Science 2008;321:1678-1681.
- [92] Jentoft S. Models of fishery development: the cooperative approach. Marine Policy 1985;9:322-331.

- [93] Oracion EG, Miller ML, Christie P. Marine protected areas for whom? Fisheries, tourism, and solidarity in a Philippine community. Ocean & Coastal Management 2005;48:393-410.
- [94] Song AM, Chuenpagdee R. Conservation principle: a normative imperative in addressing illegal fishing in Lake Malawi. Maritime Studies 2011;10:5-30.
- [95] Agrawal A. Environmentality: community, intimate government, and the making of environmental subjects in Kumaon, India. Current Anthropology 2005;46:161-190.
- [96] Bryant RL. Non-governmental organizations and governmentality: 'consuming' biodiversity and indigenous people in the Philippines. Political Studies 2002;50:268-292.
- [97] Rose N, O'Malley P, Valverde M. Governmentality. Annual Review of Law and Social Science 2006;2:83-104.
- [98] Lövbrand E, Stripple J, Wilman B. Earth system governmentality: reflections on science in the Anthropocene. Global Environmental Change 2009;19:7-13.
- [99] Alwin DF, Krosnick JA. The measurement of values in surveys: a comparison of ratings and rankings. Public Opinion Quarterly 1985;49:535-552.

# Chapter 3 Institutional thinking in fisheries governance: broadening perspectives

Published in Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, Volume 4, Issue 3, July 2012, Pages 309-315, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2012.05.006

Ratana Chuenpagdee Department of Geography, Memorial University St. John's, NL A1B3X9 Canada ratanac@mun.ca

Andrew M. Song Department of Geography, Memorial University St. John's, NL A1B3X9 Canada amsong@mun.ca

## Abstract

Institutional thinking has long been central to fisheries governance. Defined in its most generic form as structural constraints that provide regularities, reduce uncertainties and shape people's interactions, institutions create an enabling or controlling environment for specific governing actions and decisions to take place. Over the years, fisheries governance has relied heavily on the creation and evolution of institutions, especially those related to property rights and access rules. A growing body of literature is calling, however, for a broader notion of institutions that can deal with the social, cultural and

historical aspects of fisheries, including meanings and values, trust, and norms. This review highlights recent changes and emerging trends, relevant to addressing current challenges in fisheries governance and promoting sustainability.

#### Introduction

Institution is a wide-ranging concept, differently conceived and applied to diverging circumstances and topical fields. Many meanings and usage of the concept of institution have been well-noted by scholars of various academic disciplines interested in deciphering and classifying its details (see [1,2]). Jentoft [3] provided a critical view of institutions in fisheries, suggesting the key roles that institutional design and dynamics play in the effectiveness of fisheries management. He called for clarification about what institutions mean, what they do, and how they develop over time. Rather than solely relying on rational choice theory which has dominated institutional thinking in fisheries, Jentoft followed Scott's definition of institutions as consisting of 'cognitive, normative, and regulative' structures and activities that provide stability and meaning to social behavior [1], suggesting that a broader concept of institutions is required. This proposition aligns well with the increasing consensus that today's challenges in fisheries governance are linked in part to institutional failure [4,5], and with the recognition that these challenges are 'wicked' problems [6\*\*]. Supported by a growing body of literature in recent years, we argue that the purview of institution should be extended to include regulative, normative, and cultural-cognitive elements in order to more adequately inform the design and maintenance of institutional arrangements (Figure 1). This, according to Kooiman [7] is needed to facilitate legitimate and effective governance and address current global fisheries problems.

We begin by introducing various strands of theoretical approaches, whose diversity and commonality has given rise to Scott's conception of institution. This is followed by a brief summary of the four main types of institutional arrangements much discussed in fisheries policy making in the past decades. Governance challenges brought about by these existing arrangements are also presented. In light of these, we emphasize key emerging institutional thinking grounded in a more inclusive notion of institution, which we consider to have major influences in addressing concerns in global fisheries governance and sustainability.



Figure 1 Diagrammatic representation of institutional thinking in fisheries governance centering on a broadened scheme proposed by Scott of what institutions comprise

Institutional thinking in fisheries

#### Theoretical approaches

Various facets of institutional thinking have garnered much attention in fisheries research and policy making. The most well-known account is the common-property analysis of Ostrom and her colleagues [8-10], which theorizes and tests institutional ideas for solving collective action problems such as the "tragedy of the commons" in the context of fisheries (and other common pool resources) [11]. At the core of their inquiry lies a question about why the rationality of individual fishers leads to a collective irrationality in the form of resource depletion, when resource sustainability would be in their longterm self-interest. As a version of rational choice approaches to institutions, it assumes that economic calculations drive individual behavior, and the rules that prescribe and permit behavior are thus conceived as the institutions that help reconcile individual and collective rationality. This line of thinking has led to the implementation of highly influential fisheries management schemes that include incentives, access regimes, and property rights (see for example [12-18]). Other institutional studies take in a more sociological view, such as the 'embeddedness' concept of Granovetter [19], and organizational theory of Meyer and Rowan [20] and DiMaggio and Powell [21], which highlight some overlooked aspects of institution such as trust, reciprocity, ideology, and organizational values (see for example [22,23]). Sharing a similar theoretical foundation, the 'normative institutionalism' of March and Olsen [24] proposes institutions as a collection of values and rules that are normative in the way in which they impact

institutional members. Here, individuals operate under the 'logic of appropriateness', that is, individual behavior is motivated by the dominant institutional values, and would remain within their parameters [2]. Other fisheries scholars have a more cognitive approach by defining institutions as structured and persisting patterns of behavior as they mediate access to, and control over, natural resources (see for example [25,26,27\*]). This way of theorizing institutions would tend to focus on cultural habits, customs and social taboos, for instance, as 'taken-for-granted' sources of constraining fisher behavior. In another case, those who are conscious of historical institutionalism are more likely to take a macro-perspective, tracing the evolution of an institutional form and asking how it shapes fisher interaction with one another and with nature (see for example [28,29,30\*]).

# Institutional arrangements

In fisheries, four main types of institutional arrangements are much discussed, commonly called hierarchical, private property, community-based and co-management, respectively. While their conceptual characteristics can be discerned from each other with relative ease, there is often an overlap and blurred distinction between them. The hierarchical, state-controlled system has been a long-standing feature in natural resource management including fisheries. Supported by the idea that individual self-interest inevitably drives resources to depletion when left alone in an open-access regime, and propelled by the idea of territoriality of coastal seas under the Law of the Sea, fisheries were put under the control of the state and many government-coordinated fisheries institutions were created around the world in the mid-twentieth century [22,31,32]. This form of government-centered institution has suffered numerous instances of failures, however, stemming from

the 'principal agent problem,' i.e. the behavior of politicians and government officials who serve their own interests more than those of the public [4,33]. This problem may occur through agents exploiting information asymmetries, entering into corrupt transactions, or engaging in the promotion of special interests at the cost to the public. Other reasons for failure are a strong penchant for regulatory uniformity giving little regard to variations in the local ecology [34], poor interest and understanding of social organization [35], introduction of perverse subsidies [36], and concentration of power in the hands of local elites [37,38]. Blind faith and uncritical reliance in science and technical progress can also cause government efforts to break down and introduce errors [34,39,40]. Failed attempts to manage the Newfoundland cod fisheries are a clear example of a hierarchical institutional failure, as illustrated by Bavington [31]. Oran Young [41] has extended this idea of state management of natural resources to study inter-state institutional arrangements, alternately called as international regimes, to tackle transboundary natural resource issues and mull over the effectiveness of supra-national structures.

Driven by the similar logic as the state control model, private property institutions were introduced to provide fishers with an assurance that benefits from their investments will accrue to them, accompanied by secure entitlements [42]. The main thrust of recent debate about property right schemes has been on Individual Transferable Quotas (ITQs). According to Chu [43], eighteen countries are currently using ITQs to manage their fisheries, but not all of them are successful. Based on the anecdotal analysis by Hilborn et al. [44], top-down, state control with poor ability for monitoring and implementing

regulations is one of the reasons for unsuccessful ITQ systems, such as those in New England groundfish and Argentinian hake fisheries. Success stories experienced in New Zealand rock lobster, Canadian sablefish, and Canadian and US Pacific halibut fisheries can be attributed to factors such as strong local cooperatives, effective government control and appropriate incentives that encourage behavior consistent with conservation value. Scholars like Bromley [45] and Pinkerton and Edwards [46] warn, however, against indiscriminate promotion of ITQs, noting that they do not always lead to economic benefits. Failure can still occur, for instance, with uncertainty about resource availability, long time horizons, absence of efficient markets for certain resources [4], as well as the many unexpected and unanticipated outcomes of management processes and institutional design [30<sup>\*</sup>]. The spatial dimension of private property institution is also being considered. Holland [47] advocates the establishment of spatially-designated property rights and zoning regulations that will attenuate the problems of ITQs and territorial user rights in fisheries (TURFs). Opposing views are, however, highly critical of privatization and spatial enclosure through raising concerns with respect to equity and erosion of community identities [48,49].

On the other end of the spectrum is community-based, local-level fisheries management. This institutional arrangement can be further characterized as taking two forms. A traditionally-oriented type has existed for a long time, and a few can still be found in various pockets of the world (see for example [50,51]). In these instances, a long-term tradition based on customary ways of managing fisheries is intricately linked to, and inseparable from, community functioning. This self-governing institution has been much

touted as an alternate solution to the commons dilemma [10,52]. In recent decades, there has been a renewed interest in establishing community-based fisheries institutions, especially in places where livelihood needs are more directly connected to local marine resources [53,54]. This latter emergence differs from the earlier one in that it is largely driven by the contemporary donor/policy support of government and non-governmental organizations [55] and that it is being promoted, not only in developing countries but also in the so-called First World context [49,56]. A study on the nascent involvement of coastal communities in fisheries management in countries surrounding the Gulf of Thailand reveals key governmental needs for this form of arrangement [57]. The emerging economy countries like Vietnam and Cambodia need significant legislation to control fisheries operations and greater clarity about the role of communities, whereas in Thailand, greater support by the government to promote local-level enforcement and monitoring activities is required. Furthermore, current global policies, e.g. subsidies [58], trades [59], and certification schemes [60], have increased the connectivity between community-based institutions and external governance structures. Critical to proper functioning of this type of institutional arrangement, whether customary or policy-driven, are questions of how they can adapt to broadening influences and how they can use the integration into a wider world to their advantage without losing their community-based, grass-root integrity.

Another type of institutional arrangement commonly found in fisheries is comanagement. Considered a hybrid form, it typically manifests as a sharing of responsibility between government and local-level fishery organization(s). Originally

articulated by Jentoft [61] and Pinkerton [62], it has since been developed into other related forms such as adaptive co-management, which is an extension of adaptive management into the social domain. This form of institutions draws explicit attention to the learning (experiential and experimental) and collaboration (vertical and horizontal) functions and aims to contribute to trust building and the formation of social networks [63,64]. Though typically seen as democratic, legitimate, and cost-effective, hence an attractive type of institutional arrangement, there still remain tensions to be addressed. Critiques of co-management contend that the problem of free-riding would persist in comanagement because the interests of fishers and their social relations would be unaffected and guided by individual utility, which favors abandoning this cooperative mode of governance [23]. Proponents, however, counter that once one shifts away from the rational choice frame of mind, co-management can represent a markedly different social system where cultural and social qualities of human communities are taken seriously, and become more than simply a reconfiguration of incentive structure or a set of rules [23,65]. In a similar vein, Chuenpagdee and Jentoft [28] highlight the crucial role of pathdependency and human cognitive elements such as trust and community ties in affecting the success of co-management implementation. Such nuanced analysis of socio-cultural constructs of leadership and social capital stands in stark contrast to the still widely-held reductionist view of co-management (see for example [66]), which relies on a positivistic science of politics that seeks predictive explanations but fails to fully appreciate the complexity, contingency and subjective meanings embedded in governance.

Emerging trends in fisheries institutions

The continued challenges in fisheries governance call for, among other things, innovation in institutional thinking. The dominating institutional arrangements in fisheries have resulted in an emphasis on formal and informal rules, with attention drawn to access regimes and fishing rights, whether state-driven and private property are concerned. Sometimes even the community-based management utilizing tenure and taboos is unduly generalized to only speak about local fishing restrictions guarding against the "tragedy of the commons" while missing out on other rich social and cultural meanings and functions such as prestige and status [27\*]. Institutions can, however, embody more than just 'the rules of the game' [67]. Arguing against rational choice as a sweeping basis for institutional design, Jentoft [3] suggests that the concept of institutions be broadened to include the social and cultural underpinnings of the management systems and to capture the social processes and governance mechanisms that are essential to fisheries management.

By weaving together the various strands of institutional theories found in economics, political science and sociology, Scott [1] broadens the definition of institution to comprise regulative, normative and cultural-cognitive "pillars". The normative pillar involves defining goals and objectives and also designating appropriate ways to pursue them through activation of values and norms. It appeals to social obligation and conformity as opposed to coercion of the regulative rule. This perspective is closely related to the normative institutionalism of March and Olsen [24]. The cultural-cognitive pillar

emphasizes the extent to which behavior is informed and constrained by the ways in which knowledge is constructed and codified. It is about the creation of shared knowledge and belief systems rather than the production of rules and norms (see [68]). Under this view, socially constructed models, shared assumptions, and common beliefs, through the use of symbols such as signs and gestures, and one's internal images that provide a way of seeing, underlie all decisions and choices.

Several authors have drawn from this wider conception of institution (see for example [69\*,70\*\*,71\*,72-75]. Notably, De la Torre-Castro and Lindstrom [70\*\*] argue for a "broad institutional approach" that recognizes the complexity and multifaceted nature of institutions, including issues around trust and relationship. In their view, a vast majority of efforts in fisheries governance have focused on rules and economic incentives, while very few have included norms, and even less cultural-cognitive elements. Regulations, despite their importance, offer a limited scope for institutions, which may lead to a perspective that is biased and partial if they are not backed by norms and culturalcognitive institutions. More succinctly, Caballero Miguez et al. [72, p. 627] submits that "it is quite clear that institutional approach in studying fishery resources can clearly not be limited to issues of property rights." Coulthard [71\*, p. 408] echoes this view by stating that "the meanings of the Padu system (a customary marine tenure institution in South Asia) therefore reach beyond property rights and fishing access..." It becomes evident from these studies that community norms, trust relations, values and beliefs, historical factors, and social and cultural meanings, as well as community organization, form an essential underpinning of any fisheries institution, in addition to the codified or informal rule system. What is perhaps more remarkable is that several of these studies are unequivocally situated in the theoretical framework of Ostrom and Northian sense of institution, with due attention to property rights, rules, and regulations for the governance of common pool resources [29,69,74]. Yet, they explicitly appeal to extend from the traditional focus on the regulative aspect. For instance, Tang and Tang [74, p. 103] emphasize cultural-cognitive elements such as beliefs and rituals by contending that:

Among the indigenous communities that are successful in conservation, most have developed elaborate institutional rules for defining resource boundaries, user rights, resource allocation rules, monitoring arrangements, conflict resolution mechanisms, and more (Ostrom 2005). These institutional rules are supported not just by knowledge of the local environment, but also by deep-rooted social values and belief systems passed down through generations (Klooster 2000). In some aboriginal belief systems, natural resources are considered as gifts from gods, and deserve care and respect from humans. In some cases, routine social rituals may have evolved for other purposes, but have contributed to maintaining an effective resource conservation regime (Fowler 2003).

## Conclusion

In this review, the four types of institutional arrangements most commonly featured and widely debated in fisheries are presented to demonstrate how each of them comes with particular strengths that make them suitable for certain circumstances. There are also weak points that make them subject to failures. A critical look at these institutions reveals that co-management seems to have been more receptive towards other theoretical possibilities, which prioritize harmonistic relationships and mutual coordination. The state-driven, private property and community-level fisheries institutional types, on the other hand, have been much analyzed in relation to common property theory, which shares many assumptions with the rational choice approach. However, hierarchical and private property arrangements need not be exclusively regulative-driven, only to be concerned with incentives and sanctions for individuals. There are social and cultural mechanisms at work through individuals' membership in institutions such that same people would make different choices depending upon the nature of the institution within which they were operating at the time [2]. As a growing number of scholars have noted, we leave open the possibility of such rules-heavy arrangements to be also affected by shared values and meanings. Thus, all four institutional arrangements can benefit from widening their institutional perspectives to examine Scott's three pillars of institutions and their interactions. We argue especially that the cultural-cognitive aspect of institutions holds much untapped explanatory power for analyzing how institutions shape fisher interactions, helping to reveal what has largely been 'taken for granted' and overlooked in mainstream fisheries research. As evident by the emerging thinking about institutions, broadening the concept helps enhance our understanding of the ever complex and unpredictable fisheries systems and secures that appropriate institutional arrangements are in place for promoting sustainability and for improving fisheries governance.

90

# Acknowledgements

Funding support for this research was provided by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada.

# References

Papers of particular interest, published within the period of review, have been highlighted as:

- \* of special interest
- \*\* of outstanding interest
- 1. Scott WR: Institutions and Organizations. Sage Publications; 1995.
- 2. Peters BG: *Institutional Theory in Political Science: The 'New Institutionalism'*. Continuum; 1999.
- 3. Jentoft S: Institutions in fisheries: what they are, what they do, and how they change. Mar Policy 2004, 28:137-149.
- 4. Acheson JM: Institutional failure in resource management. Annu Rev Anthropol 2006, 35:117-134.
- Loucks, L: Patterns of fisheries institutional failure and success: experience from the Southern Gulf of St. Lawrence snow crab fishery, in Nova Scotia, Canada. Mar Policy 2007, 31:320-326.
- 6. \*\*Jentoft S, Chuenpagdee R: Fisheries and coastal governance as a wicked problem. Mar Policy 2009, 33:553-560.

This article takes the seminal idea of Rittel and Webber (1973) Policy Sciences 4:155-169, which convincingly characterized social planning problems to be "wicked", and applies it to the field of fisheries and coastal governance. This paradigm represents a major shift in the way governance of fisheries and coastal

areas is imagined and approached, and offers a framework (i.e. governability assessment) that can help operationalize this new perspective.

- 7. Kooiman J, Bavinck M, Jentoft S, Pullin RSV (Eds): Fish for Life: Interactive Governance for Fisheries. Amsterdam University Press; 2005.
- 8. Ostrom E: Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action. Cambridge University Press; 1990.
- 9. Dietz T, Ostrom E, Stern PC: The struggle to govern the commons. Science 2003, 302:1907-1912.
- 10. Berkes F: Commons theory for marine resource management in a complex world. Senri Ethnol Stud 2005, 67:13-31.
- 11. Hardin G: The tragedy of the commons. Science 1968, 163:1243-1248.
- 12. Holland DS, Ginter JJC: Common property institutions in the Alaskan groundfish fisheries. Mar Policy 2001, 25:33-42.
- Kalikoski DC, Vasconcellos M, Lavkulich L: Fitting institutions to ecosystems: the case of artisanal fisheries management in the estuary of Patos Lagoon. Mar Policy 2002, 26:179-196.
- 14. Neilsen JR: An analytical framework for studying: compliance and legitimacy in fisheries management. Mar Policy 2003, 27:425-432.
- 15. Lobe K, Berkes F: The padu system of community-based fisheries management: change and local institutional innovation in south India. Mar Policy 2004, 28:271-281.
- Hanna SS: Institutions for managing resilient salmon (Oncorhynchus spp.) ecosystems: the role of incentives and transaction costs. Ecol Soc 2008, 13: 35 http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol13/iss2/art35/.
- Cudney-Bueno R, Basurto X: Lack of cross-scale linkages reduces robustness of community-based fisheries management. PLoS One 2009, 4(7): e6253 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.000625.
- 18. Cinti A, Shaw W, Cudney-Bueno R, Rojo M: The unintended consequences of formal fisheries policies: Social disparities and resource overuse in a major

fishing community in the Gulf of California, Mexico. Mar Policy 2010, 34:328-339.

- 19. Granovetter M: Economic action and social structure: the problem of embeddedness. Am J Sociol 1985, 91:481-510.
- 20. Meyer JW, Rowan B: Institutionalized organizations: formal structure as myth and ceremony. Am J Sociol 1977, 83:340-363.
- DiMaggio PJ, Powell WW: The iron cage revisited: institutional isomorphism and collective rationality in organizational fields. Am Sociol Rev 1983, 48:147-160.
- 22. Holm P: The dynamics of institutionalization: transformation processes in Norwegian Fisheries. Admin Sci Quart 1995, 40:398-422.
- 23. Jentoft S, McCay BJ, Wilson, DC: Social theory and fisheries co-management. Mar Policy 1998, 22:423-436.
- 24. March JG, Olsen JP: Rediscovering Institutions: The Organizational Basis of Politics. The Free Press; 1989.
- 25. Leach M, Mearns R, Scoones I: Environmental entitlements: dynamics and institutions in community-based natural resource management. World Dev 1999, 2:225-247.
- 26. Tonder M, Salmi P: Institutional changes in fisheries governance: the case of the saimaa ringed seal, Phoca hispida saimensis, conservation. Fisheries Manag Ecol 2004, 11:283-290.
- 27. \*Foale S, Cohen P, Januchowski-Hartley S, Wenger A, Macintyre M: Tenure and taboos: origins and implications for fisheries in the Pacific. Fish Fish 2012, 12:357-369.

This article challenges the Johannes' [49] inspired generalization that traditional tenure and fishing taboos constitute cultural adapted traditional fishery management tools that evolved to prevent over-harvesting of subsistence fisheries in the Pacific. Its data shows low human population densities in most of the Western Pacific prior to European colonial intrusions, which suggests insufficient fishing pressure to drive the evolution of a conservation ethic. Also, customary

marine tenure and taboos are primarily designed to manage relationships between social groups such as prestige and status, rather than to sustain food security from fisheries, highlighting the need for proper recognition of the cultural role of tenure and taboos.

- 28. Chuenpagdee R, Jentoft S: Step-zero for fisheries co-management: what precedes implementation. Mar Policy 2007, 31:657-668.
- 29. Haller T, Merten S: "We are Zambians-don't tell us how to fish!" Institutional change, power relations and conflicts in the Kafue Flats fisheries in Zambia. Hum Ecol 2008, 36:699-715.
- 30. \*Evans L: Understanding divergent perspectives in marine governance in Kenya. Mar Policy 2009, 33:784-793.This article's importance lies in its assertion that institutional analysis should go

beyond the conceptualizations of property rights or pre-defined institutional designs if the subtle institutional conditions that underlie marine governance are to be properly understood. More specifically, it argues for a contextualized and historically-sensitive analysis, which has important implications for how institutions function.

- Bavington D: Managed Annihilation: An Unnatural History of the Newfoundland Cod Collapse. UBC Press; 2010.
- 32. Mansfield B: Neoliberalism in the oceans: "rationalization," property rights, and the commons question. In Neoliberal Environments: False Promises and Unnatural Consequences. Edited by Heyman N et al. Routledge; 2007:63-73.
- 33. Offe C: Governance: an "empty signifier"? Constellations 2009, 16:550-562.
- 34. Scott J: Seeing Like a State: How Certain Schemes to Improve the Human Condition Have Failed. Yale University Press; 1998.
- 35. Bavinck M, Salagrama V: Assessing the governability of capture fisheries in the Bay of Bengal – a conceptual enquiry. J Transdisciplinary Environ Stud 2008, 7:1.
- 36. Milazzo M: Subsidies in World Fisheries: A Re-examination. World Bank; 1988.

- 37. Nayak PK, Berkes F: Whose marginalisation? Politics around environmental **injustices in India's** Chilika lagoon. Local Environ 2010, 15:553-567.
- Melber H: Of big fish & small fry: the fishing industry in Namibia. Rev Afr Polit Econ 2003, 30:142-149.
- Durrenberger EP: Gulf Coast Soundings: People and Policy in the Mississippi Shrimp Industry. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas; 1996
- 40. Wilson JA: Scientific uncertainty, complex systems and the design of common-pool institutions. In The Drama of the Commons. Edited by Ostrom E, Dietz T, Dolsak N, Stern P, Stonich S, Weber EU. National Academic Press; 2002:327-359.
- 41. Young OR: The politics of international regime formation: managing natural resources and the environment. Int Organ 1989, 43:349-375.
- 42. Gordon HS: The economic theory of a common-property resource: the fishery. J Polit Econ 1954, 62:124-142.
- 43. Chu C: Thirty years later: the global growth of ITQs and their influence on stock status in marine fisheries. Fish and Fisheries 2009, 10:217-230.
- 44. Hilborn R, Orensanz JM, Parma AM: Institutions, incentives and the future of fisheries. Phil T R Soc B. 2005, 360:47-57.
- 45. Bromley DW: Abdicating responsibility: the deceits of fisheries policy. Fisheries 2009, 34:280-290.
- 46. Pinkerton E, Edwards DN: The elephant in the room: the hidden costs of leasing individual transferable fishing quotas. Mar Policy 2009, 33:707-713.
- 47. Holland DS: Spatial fishery rights and marine zoning: a discussion with reference to management of marine resources in New England. Mar Resour Econ 2004, 19:21-40.
- 48. Marshall, J: Landlords, leaseholders & sweat equity: changing property regimes in aquaculture. Mar Policy 2001, 25:335-352.
- 49. St. Martin K: Making space for community resource management in fisheries. Ann Assoc Am Geogr 2001, 91:122-142.

- 50. Johannes RE: Words of the Lagoon: Fishing and Marine Lore in the Palau District of Micronesia. University of California Press; 1981.
- 51. Ruddle K, Hviding E, Johannes RE: Marine resources management in the context of customary tenure. Mar Resour Econ 1992, 7:249-273.
- 52. McCay BJ, Acheson JM: The Question of the Commons: The Culture and Ecology of Communal Resources. University of Arizona Press; 1987.
- 53. Johannes RE: The renaissance of community-based marine resource management in Oceania. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 2002, 33:317-340.
- 54. Thompson PM, Sultana P, Islam N: Lessons from community based management of floodplain fisheries in Bangladesh. J Environ Manage 2003, 69:307-321.
- 55. Blaikie P: Is small really beautiful? Community-based natural resource management in Malawi and Botswana. World Dev 2006, 34:1942-1957.
- 56. Kearney J, Berkes F, Charles A, Pinkerton E, Wiber M: The role of participatory governance and community-based management in integrated coastal and ocean management in Canada. Coastal Manage 2007, 35:79-104.
- 57. Nasuchon N, Charles A: Community involvement in fisheries management: Experiences in the Gulf of Thailand countries. Mar Policy 2009, 34:163-169.
- 58. Sumaila UR, Khan A, Watson R, Munro G, Zeller D, Baron N, Pauly D: The World Trade Organization and global fisheries sustainability. Fish Res 2007, 88:1-4.
- 59. Wilkinson J: Fish: a global value chain driven onto the Rocks. Sociologia Ruralis 2006, 46:139-153.
- Pérez-Ramírez M, Phillips B, Lluch-Belda D, Lluch-Cota S: Perspectives for implementing fisheries certification in developing countries. Mar Policy 2012, 36:297-302.
- 61. Jentoft S: Fisheries co-management: delegating government responsibility to **fishermen's organizations.** Mar Policy 1989, 13:137-154.

- 62. Pinkerton E (Ed): Cooperative Management of Local Fisheries: New Directions for Improved Management and Community Development. University of British Columbia Press; 1989.
- 63. Armitage DR, Plummer R, Berkes F, Arthur RI, Charles AT, Davidson-Hunt I, Diduck AP, Doubleday NC, Johnson DS, Marschke M et al.: Adaptive comanagement for social-ecological complexity. Front Ecol Environ 2009, 7:95-102.
- 64. Carlsson L, Berkes F: Co-management: concepts and methodological implications. J Environ Manage 2005, 75:65-76.
- 65. Klooster D: Institutional Choice, Community, and Struggle: A Case Study of Forest Co-Management in Mexico. World Dev 2000, 28:1-20.
- 66. Gutiérrez NL, Hilborn R, Defeo O: Leadership, social capital and incentives promote successful fisheries. Nature 2011, 470:386-389.
- 67. North DC: Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance. Cambridge University Press; 1990.
- Berger PL, Luckmann T: The Social Construction of Reality. Doubleday Anchor; 1967.
- 69. \*Caballero Miguez G, Gil MDG, Varela Lafuente MM: The institutional foundations of economic performance of mussel production: The Spanish case of the Galician floating raft culture. Mar Policy 2009, 33:288-296.

This paper conducts an institutional analysis of the mussel production sector in Galicia. Although the analysis borrows a positive perspective of the New Institutional Economics concerning common pool resources, property rights, legal rules and the role of the state, it also emphasizes the fundamental importance of historical context, particularly in the study of the dynamics of institutional design.

70. \*\* De la Torre-Castro M, Lindstrom L: Fishing institutions: addressing regulative, normative and cultural-cognitive elements to enhance fisheries management. Mar Policy 2010, 34:77-84.

This article makes an explicit promotion of the broad institutional approach in particular by drawing upon Scott [1] and Jentoft [3], through the investigation of

the institutionalization of small-scale fisheries and seaweed farming in a seagrass dominated bay in Zanzibar. While acknowledging that all three regulative, normative and cultural-cognitive institutions are important, it calls for a due attention towards cultural aspects or social institutions like kinship, as they have been seldom addressed in natural resource management in general and fisheries in particular.

71. \*Coulthard S: More than just access to fish: The pros and cons of fisher participation in a customary marine tenure (Padu) system under pressure. Mar Policy 2011, 35:405-412.

In the examination of the Padu system of South Asia as an example of customary marine tenure, this article raises questions about the broader social, political and cultural meanings of Padu. In the process, the author argues that there are multiple meanings and values attached to the functioning and longevity of this institution, which extend beyond property rights and fishing access. As they hold implications towards institutional adaptation, they should be given adequate consideration in institutional analysis.

- 72. Caballero Miguez G, Gil MDG, Varela Lafuente MM: Institutions and management of fishing resources: the governance of the Galician model. Ocean Coast Manage 2008, 51:625-631.
- 73. Badjeck MC, Mendo J, Wolff M, Lange H: Climate variability and the Peruvian scallop fishery: the role of formal institutions in resilience building. Climate Change 2009, 94:211-232.
- 74. Tang CP, Tang SY: Institutional adaptation and community-based conservation of natural resources: the cases of the Tao and Atayal in Taiwan. Hum Ecol 2010, 338:101-111.
- 75. de Vos BI, van Tatenhove JPM: Trust relationships between fishers and government: New challenges for the co-management arrangements in the Dutch flatfish industry. Mar Policy 2011, 35:218-225.
Chapter 4 Eliciting values and principles of fisheries stakeholders in South Korea: a methodological exploration

Target journal: Society & Natural Resources

Andrew M. Song and Ratana Chuenpagdee

### Abstract

A rising eminence of governance concept in natural resource policy has meant widening and more meaningful stakeholder participation in decision-making. Yet, it may also intensify complexity in resource planning and practice as more diverse values and principles are represented. We develop a survey-based method to elicit and understand stakeholder values and principles in an effort to help highlight their roles in shaping natural resource governance. This experimental design, called 'P+ sort' to recognize its methodological foundation on both pile sort and Q sort methods, utilizes a semistructured sorting procedure with verbal questions to capture both quantitative and qualitative data as well as to increase simplicity and user-approachability. An empirical testing of the P+ sort was conducted in South Korean fisheries, which are undergoing a major governance reform. Results show promising utilities of P+ sort for identifying value priorities and the salient principles of stakeholder groups, examining the convergence as well as notable differences in these elements, and providing policyrelevant input into the natural resource governance process. Keywords: fisheries resources; interactive governance; principles; P+ sorting method; stakeholder interaction; value elicitation; values

### Introduction

Meaningful involvement of multiple stakeholder groups in various aspects of governance, especially those that are politically and economically marginalized, is considered essential in addressing concerns and challenges in natural resource sustainability (Chuenpagdee et al. 2004; Gray 2005; Jentoft 2005; Kooiman et al. 2005; Larson and Soto 2008). This is the case for all modes of governance, including the hierarchical and centrally-driven format, but particularly so for self-governance and co-governance (commonly referred to as community-based or co-management). Through an inclusive, engaging and respectful process, the experiences, interests and worldviews of a broad range of stakeholders can be incorporated in decision-making, and their underlying values and principles can enter the dialogue, thus helping to shape sensible policies. The multitude of values and principles, while enriching the quality of discussion, can also lead to 'hard choices' and 'messy situations' especially if they appear conflicting and incommensurable (Jentoft and Chuenpagdee 2009; Kooiman and Jentoft 2009; Lachapelle et al. 2003; Rittel and Webber 1973). According to the interactive governance theory (Kooiman et al. 2005), understanding what these values and principles are, what they are informed by, and how they influence actions can contribute to alleviating tension

and conflict and lead to more governable natural resource arrangements (Bavinck et al. 2013; Kooiman and Jentoft 2009).

Following from this, learning about values and principles and examining their deepseated convergence or disparity among different stakeholder groups is hypothesized to provide an alternate entry point into making sense of the social-political complexity inherent in resource use issues (Chapter 3 – Song et al. 2013). In this process, values and principles would complement each other; the former as the general notions of what is desirable and important (Hitlin and Piliavin 2004; Vaske and Donnelly 1999;) and the latter as more specific operational guidelines, or "codes of conduct" by which the desired end-states are achieved (Lockwood et al. 2010; Song and Chuenpagdee 2011). Satterfield and Gregory (1998) also argue for a similar pairing to link values with another attribute which is more action-based and context-rich in order to prevent values from remaining as abstract statements disembodied from practical governance experiences.

The study of values for governance and policy purposes has been chiefly influenced by relativistic traditions that are suited to the gauging and monitoring of public opinion from the position of 'value-neutrality' (Brown 1984; Satterfield and Kalof 2005).<sup>1</sup> Within this tradition, scholars such as Mitchell and Carson (1989) and Hanemann (1994), siding with applied welfare economics, elevated valuation techniques such as contingent valuation involving the willingness-to-pay and willingness-to-accept procedures to be the most commonly accepted form of value elicitation. While such monetary methods capture people' preferences expressed in quantitative metric useful for economic benefit-cost assessment, they are less adequate in accounting for values that are non-market-based, ethically-driven, or culturally-derived (Chan et al. 2011; Sagoff 2004; Satterfield 2001).

On the other hand, others like Keeney et al. (1990) argue that a qualitative approach to elicitation utilizing narratives and interviews tends to be time-consuming, anecdotal, or overly descriptive with detailed verbalization of non-utilitarian values, yielding cumbersome application to policy-making. Furthermore, "ask-direct-questions-receive-direct-answers" format surveys utilizing conventional ranking or rating procedures can be, though efficient and statistically rigorous, void of contextual information and clues, often leading to 'empty' or shallow discussion of values (Satterfield 2001). Overall, wholesale reliance on either elicitation approach without acknowledging its weakness would create a danger of misrepresenting the values of stakeholders and/or relegating discussion to powerful elite, such as government managers, academic researchers and industry lobby groups (Satterfield 2001). Consequently, there lies much room for creative measures to be introduced and experimented in the elicitation of values and other normative aspects to provide a greater set of methodological options.

In this paper, we combine a quantitative survey approach with qualitative verbal narratives to elicit detailed information that can be useful for policy-makers. The specific combination explored in this study is called "P+ sort". It builds on the existing sorting techniques such as pile sort and Q sort, but aims to achieve an 'intermediate' level of sophistication by offering a more structured format than the pile sort (P) while remaining simple with fewer assumptions and constraints than the Q sort. The use of the modestly-structured sorting procedure combined with qualitative input is to ensure that the design is approachable and comprehensible to a number of stakeholder groups. Such consideration is an important one, especially in the context of governance, given the difficulties of many groups, including resource user communities and laypeople (i.e. the general public),

in articulating the deeply-held and privately defended values and principles (Keeney et al. 1990; Satterfield 2001).

The empirical testing of the proposed approach was conducted in South Korean fisheries, in which a co-management program, referred to as Jayul, was initiated by the central government in the previous decade and is being implemented across the country. Similar to natural resource governance initiatives elsewhere, the main struggle of the program implementation is to foster a policy environment where an active involvement of local fishers and other resource-dependent members is encouraged and appreciated. This problem context serves a useful test case for examining the feasibility of the P+ sort to study values and principles of fishery stakeholders. In the present study, the two main groups investigated and compared are fishers and community resource users, on one hand, and managers/researchers on the other.

We commence with the conceptual development of the P+ sort method by drawing comparisons with other existing survey-based elicitation methods. The practical considerations of the design are further illustrated using the example of the South Korean case. Following the description of our sampling strategies and the survey process, we present the analyses and summarize the results. Finally, this article reflects on the findings to examine their implications to the governance situation and formulate suggestions that can inform future directions. We conclude by revisiting the feasibility of the P+ method and discussing some of its limitations.

### Developing a method

#### Experimental design

Designing an alternate elicitation method has remained an active area of research, which tries to provide wider options that supplement the more dominantly-positioned monetary valuation techniques (e.g., Mitchell and Carson 1989) as well as the ranking and Likert-scale rating exercises (e.g., Alwin and Krosnick 1985; Rokeach 1973). Notably, Gregory et al. (1993) suggests an improved contingent valuation approach that better accommodates multidimensionality of values and reduces cognitive demands upon respondents by drawing upon multiattribute utility theory. In another case, a damage schedule method proposes using paired comparison survey to derive non-monetary measures of relative importance of natural resources (or seriousness of adverse impacts on them) as a proxy to stakeholder values (e.g., Chuenpagdee et al. 2001). In addition, qualitative approaches such as pencil-and-paper tasks and open-ended interviews that employ transcription, coding and content analysis have focused on obtaining "thick" value descriptions (e.g., Buijs 2009; Satterfield 2001).

The design of the method developed in this study utilizes a sorting technique. Similar to the basic tenets of existing sorting procedures such as pile sort and Q sort, values and principles are presented in a deck of cards, and through manual sorting of the cards, values and principles are judged according to their importance and placed into different piles. Generally, sorting allows use of a large number of target values than direct ranking or paired comparison, which are limited to a fewer number of values due to a greater level of effort and longer response time required for a large set.<sup>2</sup> The need to work with a potentially sizable number of values and principles that may exist and prove to be crucial in natural resource context serves as an important criterion for a sorting-based design. In addition, arranging cards into different piles or categories on a sorting board permits visual display of the sorted pattern and induces implicit comparisons between values, such that values grouped together would imply a similar degree of importance and likewise dissimilarities are also differentiated. This marks an advantage over a Likertscale type of rating exercise in which each value is evaluated independently without necessarily making connections to other values (McCarty and Shrum 2000). An incorporation of a comparing mechanism, albeit implicit, is a required trait that allows discerning of relative importance among the values and principles as survey participants go through the exercise. Furthermore, sorting of cards offers an intuitive and interactive mode of elicitation. It has been pointed out that the conventional survey format that relies heavily on direct question-answer arrangement "avoids the very language and style that many people use to discuss values, that is, conversational talk that encompasses everyday reflections on beliefs and values" (Satterfield 2001, p. 332). In the current design, both the cards and the display of sorting results on the board could act as a 'conversation' piece' that assists articulation of values. To actively encourage further discussion and drawing out of qualitative information, follow-up questions about the personally-held meanings of important values and principles are offered, after the completion of the sorting task. Key characteristics of the relevant survey methods, including P+ sort are summarized in Table 1.

Table 1 Key characteristics of comparable value elicitation methods

Method	Key characteristics
Ranking	<ul> <li>Direct comparison of values yielding more precise distinctions about their relative importance</li> </ul>

(e.g.rank-	<ul> <li>Forcing choice similar to real-life situations</li> </ul>
ordering, pair- comparison)	<ul> <li>Longer response time and greater respondent ratigue when involving a large set of values</li> </ul>
Rating	<ul> <li>Values are evaluated independently</li> <li>A set of rating produces absolute standings as well as an inferred rank- order of values, arguably producing more information than a set of ranking</li> <li>Applicable to a greater range of and more sophisticated statistical analyses</li> <li>Less time-consuming, easier to administer allowing for the collection of data among a large number of values</li> <li>Potential lack of differentiation (e.g. many ties) and skewed distribution of responses</li> </ul>
Q sort	<ul> <li>Highly structured and constrained version of sorting yielding both rank- order and a normal distribution of values</li> <li>Applicable to well-defined statistical analyses as part of Q methodology</li> <li>Allows the collection of data among a large number of values</li> <li>Longer response time, greater respondent fatigue than other sorting methods</li> </ul>
Pile sort	<ul> <li>Exploratory method geared towards revealing similarity between values</li> <li>Allows for the collection of data among a large number of values</li> <li>Easy to administer and intuitive</li> <li>Conducive to drawing out qualitative data</li> <li>'Lumper-splitter' problem which makes comparison of individual responses less adequate</li> </ul>
P+ sort	<ul> <li>More focused aim with specific instructions than pile sort</li> <li>Allows implicit comparison among values</li> <li>Allows for the collection of data among a large number of items</li> <li>Easy to administer and intuitive</li> <li>Conducive to drawing out qualitative data</li> <li>'Lumper-splitter' problem which makes comparison of individual responses less adequate</li> </ul>

# Main elements of the P+ sort

Rokeach (1973), who has pioneered a human value tradition, presented a list of plain value labels, such as 'happiness', 'national security', 'courage', and 'politeness', to participants for rank-ordering. While this was proved to be implementable in diverse social settings, the meanings of these labels were assumed to be familiar to many laypersons and hence no additional explanations were deemed necessary. The current

study, however, is couched in the more specific conditions of natural resource governance. Some of the relevant management principles, such as subsidiarity, user-pays, and precaution, may not be readily graspable by user communities and government managers alike. Hence, we decided to use short phrases or sentences to represent the values and principles on the cards in order to be more reflective of the resource context and to help facilitate judging and comparing of these items. Only one statement representing either a value or a principle is written on an individual card.

Study participants are given a deck of cards containing randomly shuffled value statements in the first round of exercise and principle statements in another, and are asked to place each card on a sorting board according to a specific instruction, such as "please sort based on importance". The board itself contains distribution markers which indicate pre-defined importance categories, as shown in Fig. 1. This represents a more structured and focused design than a highly exploratory unconstrained pile sort, which leaves respondents to determine the criteria for grouping similar cards as well as the number of piles to be generated (Weller and Romney 1988). The design of the P+ sort also deviates from the Q sort, a much more elaborate sorting technique, stemming from a bigger rubric of Q methodology (Brown 1980; McKeown and Thomas 1988). There are several reasons for using the P+ sort design. First, there is a concern that a Q sort task lies beyond the cognitive aptitude of most people to perform adequately (Bolland 1985), as it normally involves 10 or more categories and restricts the individual sorting responses to fit into a fixed pattern that approximates a normal distribution (Brown 1980). Dunn-Rankin et al. (2004) suggests that the consensus for the number of categories on a scale is from 3 to 9. Because values and principles (and their relative importance) are not something that people contemplate on a regular basis, and since resource users in rural areas may lack formal education, this study chose a simple design with three categories, resembling three-point scale of importance, denoted with very-, somewhat-, and little-important. Secondly, the P+ sort is distribution-free and imposes no explicit constraint on how many cards can be placed in any of the three categories. At the same time, to discourage against 'lumping' (i.e., sorting all the cards into one or few categories, see Table 1) and a tendency to judge objects too low or too high (Weller and Romney 1988), the design comes with evenly-spaced grids as a visual cue to suggest that all three categories in the scale are equally available.



Fig. 1 Generic design of the P+ sort method comprising cards, a sorting board and semistructured follow-up questions

Sorting responses can be analyzed using non-parametric statistical procedures such as the Kendall coefficient of concordance W and the chi-square test through an assignment of weighted scores to the three categories (i.e., 3 to very-, 2 to somewhat-, and 1 to littleimportant). Also, an analysis of sorting frequency data can be conducted to ascertain value and principle hierarchy. Qualitative information solicited in the form of voluntary comments and follow-up, probing questions (shown in Fig. 1) are transcribed and organized according to pertinent value and principle items. In this way, both quantitative and qualitative data are used in the explanations about which values and principles are important or meaningful to respondents and the reasons why.

# Application to a case study: coastal fisheries resources in South Korea

### Description of Korean fisheries and the co-management system

South Korea (officially the Republic of Korea) is located in the southern part of the Korean Peninsula in the Northwest Pacific region (Fig. 2). Endowed with productive fishing grounds in all three adjacent seas (Kang 2006), fishing has naturally taken place from ancient times, and helped satisfy much of the domestic fish consumption demands over the years. Fish occupies an integral part of Koreans' dietary life and intimately connected to their culture even to this date. Korea is also one of the top fish-producing nations in the world with inclusion of seaweed and shellfish production (FAO 2012). In the coastal fishery, there are nearly 150 target species of commercial significance, and with over 28 licensed fishing gear types permitted in coastal fishery, it has the strong character of multi-gear/multi-species (Han 2009).

Following independence from colonial rule in 1945, fishery has been chiefly managed under the overarching direction of the central government who sets regulations, issues licenses, enforces rules, and provides benefits and subsidies to communities (Cheong 2004). The 50 years of government-centered management in the modern era, however, has proved inadequate in resolving various environmental and social challenges that have surfaced surrounding fisheries (Cheong 2003a; Han 2009). As a response to the ineffective management regime, the central government initiated a new governance mode called the 'Jayul' program in 2001. It aims to raise the level of community participation in managing local fisheries and ultimately to instill a sense of ownership in resource users (Lee et al. 2006; MOMAF 2003). Jayul, meaning free will in Korean, is a type of placed-based co-management program where government sets out the institutional framework and provides financial and technical assistance to local fisher organizations, while the latter drafts and carries out a management plan.

Since its inception a decade ago, the number of community fisher organizations participating in the program has reached 893 in 2011, and there have been several exemplary cases in which fishing income has increased and illegal fishing has subsided through this process (MOMAF 2005; Uchida et al. 2010). Yet, doubts have also been raised as to whether this governance reform is genuinely taking root. Many Jayul communities simply exist only on paper with no substantial follow-up activities (Seo and Byeon 2006). In addition, a financial incentive system that the central government has set up to entice fishing community organizations to join in and keep up with the activities could have been promoting further reliance on government, negating its original intention. Are the governance ideals of co-management, such as participation and

cooperation, being fostered and valued by the resource communities? Can there be inconsistencies between what is being promoted by the government and what is being valued by the communities, which could impede its effectiveness, especially if the two are conflicting? Given the high expectation that achieving this new mode of governance may represent the only viable option for improving the fisheries situation in Korea (Lee and Shin 2004), insights about values and principles of local fishers and those of government could provide a timely and helpful contribution to promote implementation of this governance reform.



Fig. 2 Map of South Korea (community sites are shown as double circles; triangles indicate survey locations with managers/researchers)

## Value and principle statements

We drew 16 values and 16 principles from lists previously developed by the authors based on the review of fisheries resource governance discourse (see Song et al. 2013 or

Chapter 3). Though not universal, each set reasonably offers a comprehensive scope encompassing environmental, social, altruistic and egoistic values as well as principles pertaining to the natural, economic and governing fisheries systems. The sets of 16 are relatively small and manageable, as suggested by Rokeach (1973). Table 2 presents the values and principles and the statements used to portray them. The statements provide contextual descriptions of the domestic fisheries conditions. At the same time, following the guidelines of Dunn-Rankin (1983), they were designed to be simple, direct and short (rarely exceeding 20 words), and each containing only one complete thought. Therefore, the crafting of the statements requires a fine balance between being too specific and being too general. For example, in 'Fishing grounds should be used exclusively by the designated fisher groups' (Table 2(b)), there is no indication of who the designated fisher groups are, and likewise any mention of exact types of fishing ground is purposefully avoided. This is to minimize strategic voting of respondents and to encourage making the judgments based on the underlying concept and not on the specifics that may conjure up attitudinal sentiment or immediate benefits or losses associated with their particular role in the fishery. Iterations of pre-testing with fishing community leaders and policy researchers assisted the development and fine-tuning of the statements. In addition, forward- and back-translations helped ensure cross-cultural and conceptual equivalence between the English and Korean versions.

Table 2 Descriptive statements for (a) 16 values and (b) 16 principles

(a) Values	Value statements presented in the cards
Conformity	Acceptance of fishery rules and regulations

Ecosystem conservation	Healthy marine ecological system
Equality	Equal fishing opportunity amongst fellow fishers
Freedom	Freedom to decide when and where to fish
Hedonism	Enjoyment and pleasure in fishery life
Honesty	Integrity in fisheries governing system
Influence	Strong leadership in fishery management
Knowledge	Comprehensive knowledge on marine ecosystem
Moderation	Moderate catch target
Peacefulness	Fishing villages without conflicts
Secure livelihoods	Secure livelihoods from fishing work
Self-esteem	Sense of pride for working in the fishing industry
Social cohesion	Cohesion among the members of fishing community
Social recognition	Greater public recognition of fishing work
Tradition	Many young people taking interest in fishing tradition
Wealth	High economic income from fishing work

(b) Principles	Principle statements presented in the cards				
Adaptability	Fishery rules should be reviewed frequently to better respond to rapid				
	changes in fishing conditions				
Adjacency	Access to use a fishing ground should be first granted to those who live near it				
Cooperation	Cooperation among fishers and fisher organizations should be increased				
Ecological sustainability	Overfishing should be prevented in all fishing operations				
Ecosystem integrity	Fishing should be done without disrupting ecosystem integrity				
Efficiency	Fishing technology should be enhanced such that fish can be caught with less effort				
Equity	Benefits of fishery policy should be applied fairly to all fishers				
Exclusivity	Fishing grounds should be used exclusively by the designated fisher groups				
High-level decision- making	Central government should provide financial support to coastal fishing communities				
Human welfare	Fishery policy should address fishers' needs				
Legitimacy	Governing authority should be considered legitimate by fishers				
Participation	Fishery rule making should be based on the participation of fishers				
Precaution	More closed seasons should be established				
Scientific information	Fishery rules should be made based on scientific data				
Subsidiarity	Fishery rules should be set at the community level				
User-pays	License fees should be charged to fishers for the privilege of using				
	public resources				

#### Elicitation protocol

Each respondent was asked to sort the 16 value cards with the instruction: "The following phrases contain various aspects that may be deemed important in creating a healthy, productive coastal fishery and fishing life. As someone involved in the fishery, how would you place the following aspects in terms of their importance? Please place the cards into the three categories ranging from 'very important', 'somewhat important', and 'little important', in any way you like in the provided grid''. Once satisfied with the way the cards were sorted, he/she was guided to offer verbal explanations about the rationale and meaning behind the sorting choices, especially with regard to the values considered very important. The same procedure was repeated for the 16 principle statements with a slightly varied instruction: "The following statements describe several ways as to how coastal fisheries management can be carried out. In your opinion, how important is each statement in guiding coastal fisheries management in your area?" The cards were re-shuffled prior to each survey to ensure random ordering.

### Survey process

The survey was conducted during fieldwork to South Korea in 2012. The two main respondent groups were community members dependent on local fisheries resources and government managers/academic researchers/non-governmental consultants. The survey with the former group was conducted in eight fishing communities to account for diverse resource settings that exist in the Korean coastal fishery, whose locations and attributes are displayed in Fig. 2 and Table 3(a).<sup>3</sup> This inclusive setup is expected to hold the findings of the survey in greater relevance to the Korean coastal fishery as a whole, and

induce more systematic comparisons to tease out potential group differences and similarities in values and principles.

Quota sampling was used to target 25 participants at each site, giving thus 200 community respondents in total. Both pile sort and Q sort are shown to generate meaningful results with a relatively small number of participants. Limited member size of communities and irregular work schedules of many members also served as practical constraints to random sample selection. Nevertheless, comparable demographic details across the eight communities were attained with respect to variables such as age, years in fishery and formal education, and gender composition (Table 3(b)). Participation was solicited in the public surroundings of fishing villages, such as streets and fishing wharves, as well as by visiting residential houses during daytime. Individual face-to-face survey was conducted to minimize any social pressure that may exist and thereby influence their response. Respondents comprised adult individuals, both male and female, involved in the production and the marketing aspects of fishery, which include harvesters, processors, retailers, wholesalers, and retired fishers. Although their activities in the fishery as well as the level of dependence on the resources for supporting livelihoods varied, they all drew direct or indirect income from fisheries. Direct observation complemented the survey process during 1 to 2 week long visits to each community. The survey with 25 government fishery managers and researchers took place in their respective offices scattered across the country. Each survey took about 15-30 minutes to complete. Lastly, data verification and preliminary analyses were carried out following data collection, which involved re-visits to the communities and management offices to discuss the findings and confirm its validity.

	Resource dependent community									
(a)	Bakmi-ri	Goongpy ong-ri	Gusipo	Dongho- ri	Giseong- ri	Jiksan2- ri	Gubok-ri	Sim-ri	Manager/ researcher	Total
Location	West coast – north	West coast – north	West coast – south	West coast – south	East coast	East coast	South coast	South coast	All areas	-
Main fishery	Clam, octopus, oyster	Clam, octopus, finfish	Crab, octopus, finfish, elver	Crab, octopus, clam, elver	Finfish, sea mustard, abalone	Finfish, anchovy, sea mustard	Mussel culture, finfish, octopus	Mussel culture, finfish	Oversees all fishery	-
Fishing environment	Intertidal area	Intertidal area, water column	Water column, interdital area	Water column, intertidal area	Water column	Water column	Water column, intertidal area	Water column	Oversees all environment	-
Year joined the Jayul program	2004	2007	2003	2007	2001	2006	Not joined	Not joined	-	-
Member size of Jayul community	107	117	72	102	79	75	152^	101^	-	-
(b)										
# of respondents surveyed	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	225
Male	15	19	23	22	20	19	23	23	23	187
Female	10	6	2	3	5	6	2	2	2	38
Average age <sup>+</sup>	61	61	54	60	64	59	57	59	49	-
Age range*	39-82	40-79	26-82	37-81	50-80	35-80	39-78	39-77	31-65	-
Years of fishery experience*	3-60	6-60	1-50	1-55	1.5-50	0.5-55	5-60	4-40	1-44	-
Years in formal education <sup>+</sup>	9	9	8	8	9	9	10	9	17	-

Table 3 (a) Fishery attributes and (b) demographic information of respondent groups

<sup>+</sup> denotes average; \* denotes range; <sup>^</sup> denotes member size of existing non-Jayul fisher organization (i.e., a fishing village cooperative)

### Analysis of results

We first conducted the Kendall coefficient of Concordance W, a non-parametric statistic useful for assessing agreement among respondents.<sup>4</sup> In effect, the test reveals the degree to which respondents in each group agree with one another about which values and principles are more (or less) important. If the test shows significant agreement, each group can be considered a unit, permitting thus an aggregation of all individuals as one group for further analysis. In case of absence of significance, aggregation will take place only among individuals with agreed ranking, creating thus more than one group of respondents. In such instances, more respondents may be solicited to increase the sample size. Persistent disagreement may, however, suggest a possibility of a highly heterogeneous member composition or an existence of smaller factions. As shown in Table 4, the chi-square scores for all nine groups for both sets of value and principle were greater than the upper-tail critical value of chi-square distribution at 95% confidence level, indicating significant in-group agreement. In the analysis that follows, all 25 respondents from each community are treated as a group with the same applying to all managers and researchers. This result also in part helps validating the sample size of 25 respondents targeted in each community.

Table 4 Kendall's W and chi-square scores for the nine surveyed groups (the critical value for  $\alpha$ =.05 and df=15 is 24.996)

	Bakmi	Goon	Gusip	Dong	Giseo	Jiksan	Gubo	Sim-ri	Manag
(a) Values	-ri	gpyon	0	ho-ri	ng-ri	2-ri	k-ri		er/rese

		g-ri							archer
W	0.13	0.14	0.12	0.08	0.11	0.14	0.15	0.13	0.26
X²	48.58	53.99	46.79	30.66	40.93	52.70	57.84	49.09	99.00
(b) Principles									
W	0.10	0.23	0.16	0.16	0.09	0.08	0.12	0.14	0.28
X²	37.36	85.47	59.19	58.19	34.86	28.41	44.64	52.29	105.1

### Important values and principles

Next, in order to reveal the most (and least) esteemed values and principles, the frequency of each card being sorted "very important" by the nine respondent groups was first analyzed. If the majority of group members, i.e., more than 13 out of 25 respondents, considered a certain value statement to be very important, the group is considered to have prioritize that particular value, and thus is counted as one. For each value and principle, then, the number of such groups was tallied, as displayed in Fig. 3. We further differentiate the majority groups into those in the upper level (with two-thirds majority or at least 17 people) to increase the power of the analysis. The results produce a hierarchy of the values and principles based on importance, and show that four values and three principles were consistently agreed by most groups to be very important (Fig. 3). For values, 'ecosystem conservation' (healthy marine ecological system) was judged to be highest in terms of importance with eight of the nine groups considering it very important according to two-thirds majority, in addition to all nine groups judging it very important based on over-half majority. The top status of this value can be exemplified by respondent explanations such as "this is the foundation of everything involved in the fishery" [R27].<sup>5</sup> Other comments also stressed this value's vital connections to livelihoods, human health, and the sense of place, whose examples include "the ecosystem is dying; for humans to be healthy, the sea must be healthy first" [R38]. Next, the groups prioritized the importance of statements that represent 'wealth', 'honesty,' and 'secure livelihoods'. Earning income and supporting livelihood were strong desirables in the fishery and fishing life, and honesty, according to the explanation by the respondents, was construed to mean both restraining from illegal fishing as well as an absence of corruption in the system. On the other hand, 'hedonism' (enjoyment and pleasure), 'equality' (equal opportunity at fishing), and 'moderation' (catching a moderate amount) were among the values that garnered relatively little importance.

The principle set also resulted in a clear distinction between those that were highly endorsed and those consistently relegated, as shown in Fig. 3(b). 'Equity' (equitable distribution of benefits) was indicated to be the most important principle in fisheries governance. The prevailing conception of equity among the respondents was that benefits derived from fishery should be distributed proportional to one's level of effort, diligence and/or investment. One community member explains:

"There are several types of fishers, and among them, those who go on a boat should be given the priority treatment, because they risk their lives the most, and their work is the most physically difficult; that is fairness and equity. Among the boat fishers, benefits should be equally distributed." [R72]

High importance of a conservation-oriented principle 'ecosystem integrity' (fishing without disrupting ecosystem integrity) and a key management principle 'adjacency' (giving priority access to a fishing ground to those who are geographically close) were also widely noted. By contrast, the result identified 'precaution' (a wider establishment of closed seasons), 'exclusivity' (an exclusive use of fishing ground by designated groups),

and 'user-pays' (paying license fees for the privilege of resource use) to be among the least important principles, as they rank near the bottom of the importance hierarchy (Fig. 3(b)).



■ 1/2 majority ■ 2/3 majority

Fig. 3 Importance hierarchy of (a) values and (b) principles (in reverse order) based on the tally of groups who judged each value and principle very important according to two types of majority: over-half majority and two-thirds majority in each of the nine groups (\* indicate significant difference beyond .05 level between aggregate community groups and manager/researcher group, see Fig. 4 for details)

Group comparisons

The final step of analysis involved examining the convergence and disparity between respondent groups. First, a quick check for the consolidation of the eight fishing communities and the manager/researcher group was performed using Principal component analysis (PCA).<sup>6</sup> The simple premise is that the groups will end up on the same factor if their sorting results are similar (Brown 1980). For values, all nine groups had significantly loaded on the first factor, while for principles, two factors were retained with the eight community groups loading on one and the manager/researcher group loading on the other. Based on this result, the communities were combined into a single aggregate group while the manager/researcher group was left to form its own group. This result allows the analysis to focus on comparisons between the two most disparate groupings. It also suggests that community respondents, despite their diverseness in locations, fishery experiences and the degree of involvement with the Jayul, held similar underlying value priorities and salient principles when understood from a broad metric of importance.

Next, we conducted the chi-square test, a non-parametric statistic appropriate for assessing the significance of differences among independent groups based on the frequency data (Siegel and Castellan 1988). As shown in Fig. 3(a), among the 16 values, 'freedom' (operational freedom in deciding when and where to fish) and 'knowledge' (comprehensive knowledge on ecosystem) displayed significant difference at 95% confidence level suggesting notable disagreement in the way the two respondent groups regarded these values. Interestingly, these statistical differences appear to have generated from the manager/researcher group's particularly weak emphasis on these two values, as inferred from Fig. 4(a) and illustrated through responses such as "freedom in fishing is

inevitably constrained by fisheries institutions" [R221], and "there is no real need to know everything, since it is possible to have a well-functioning fishery without comprehensive knowledge" [R219].



Fig. 4 Percentages displaying the sorting patterns of the significantly different (a) values and (b) principles, compared between aggregate community group (CM, n=200) and manager/researcher group (M/R, n=25)

For principles, a greater range of divergence was observed than the value set, as the two groups significantly differed in five principles: 'adjacency', 'participation' (user participation in rule-making), 'efficiency' (technological enhancement improving catch per unit effort), 'scientific information' (rule-making based on scientific data), and 'exclusivity'. As shown in Fig. 4(b), the user community group upheld adjacency, efficiency, and exclusivity higher than the manager/researcher group, while they regarded participation and scientific information with less importance than the formal expert group. For example, with respect to adjacency, community members brought forward the arguments of local stewardship, frequent resource use by those who live near, and the need to have a mechanism to regulate outsiders. When it came to the weaker standing of participation, their rationale was attributed to community members' little interest in getting involved in management, seeing it mainly as the government's responsibility. Some also expressed the futility of their participation due to an imbalance of power and asymmetrical knowledge vis-à-vis government officers. This was in stark contrast to the managers/researchers' utmost regard towards participation as the only group selecting this principle as very important with a two-thirds majority (Fig 3(b)).

# Discussion and conclusion

This study examined the values and principles of two fishery stakeholder groups as a way of making sense of the complexity inherent in natural resource planning and practice. An exploratory sorting-based method, P+ sort, was developed to elicit mixed qualitative-quantitative expressions of values and principles, and was applied to the case of fisheries co-management program in South Korea. This concluding section discusses the results in light of the governance initiative and reflects on the feasibility, limitations and the future prospects of the P+ sort method.

The results reveal a widespread agreement at the level of values between the community group and the manager/researcher group. While the significant differences in the 'freedom' and 'knowledge' should be acknowledged, given that they were relatively unimportant values considered by the both groups (as observed from the importance hierarchy in Fig. 3(a)), the divergence may not play a crucial role in the overall governance process. Rather, convergence in the highly regarded values of ecosystem conservation, wealth and livelihood security, and integrity would deserve heightened attention since these shared values could serve as the normative foundation for all governance activities and policy direction. Likewise, the high importance of equity and ecological principles is also noteworthy. At its root, both the governors, represented by managers/researchers, and those-being-governed, made up of fishing communities, agree on the basic conceptions of what is desired and what is important for the coastal fishery at large. Holding a similar set of values could signify a common starting ground, to which people can refer back in cases of confrontation or impasse. It offers a refuge when stakeholders want to start fresh, keep things simple, or go back to the drawing board. This is not to say that value conflicts do not exist or can always be avoided, as they likely pervade and persist in any resource context including the Korean example. However, when facing hard choices or no resolutions are in sight, being explicit about the agreed values could present an opportunity for people to come together to form a compromising decision.

The result of this study revealed more acute differences regarding principles, which perhaps have a more direct bearing on the implementation of a co-management system. For example, the manager/researcher group is shown to be an avid supporter of user

participation in management and rule-making, while the community groups' enthusiasm about this key co-management principle is, though considerable, markedly weaker. Hence, despite the many positive developments of the Jayul program in the last decade, the participatory mindset may be slow in being rooted across the communities, substantiating the concerns about the communities' cursory involvement. The government therefore may need to re-evaluate its high ambitions for the Jayul program and also seek an alternative timeline and strategies for its continuing implementation. In the case of the adjacency principle, many managers/researchers were found to object to strengthening local priority access and use rights to nearby fishing grounds for the fear that fishing communities may not always effectively manage a given coastal environment, as indicated by previous examples of mismanagement (see Cheong 2003b; 2005). Yet, adjacency is conceptualized as a key enabling factor towards a more communityempowered approach to fisheries management (Davis and Wagner 2006). Its activation is expected to guarantee a legal as well as a geographical basis for coastal communities to maintain fishing livelihoods. Further, it is considered a defense against the vulnerability of local fishery collapse arising from outside influences, such as large-scale industrial fishers or corporations being dispensed with nearshore fishing privileges. Thus, the differences in these principles could present areas of critical reflection for both resource users and managers.

The occurrence of a general agreement in what people believe to be the most important notions of coastal fisheries but seeing more pronounced differences in how to go about operationalizing them begs further explanation. The pattern observed in this study, which revealed the values displaying a greater convergence than the principles,

finds precedence in another study. The findings of Satterfield and Gregory (1998) showed that while environmental values surrounding forest management did not necessarily differ between groups, questions about preference of more specific management actions generated strong differences of opinion. They argued that there is a problematic "tendency to confuse expressions of values that refer to an individual's fundamental beliefs with operational expressions of those values in terms of context-specific objectives or the means by which desired end-states are achieved" (ibid., p. 633), and added that "...values cannot be considered independently of the detailed and informative contexts in which they are expressed" (ibid., p. 635). In other words, values and principles may have distinct roles to play occupying different thematic niches in one's mindset. In addition, an examination of values without also understanding how they may be communicated at the more operational level of principles can become meaningless, if not altogether misleading. As corroborated by Satterfield and Gregory (1998), the result of this study reaffirms a possibility that disagreements in principles may be underpinned by a shared value base. To put broadly, people may be more similar than they are different when we move away from the visible differences and practical constraints. A diverse set of fishing communities studied here was also in general agreement about what's fundamentally important for the fishery. In such cases, active discussion of the underlying notions such as values and principles could open up a way of clarifying and bridging the differences and leading to policy decisions which various groups can come to accept and appreciate. Facilitating dialogue between groups is expected to improve governing interaction, contributing thus to higher level of governability.

The P+ sort developed in this study offers further support to value-centered research. Enabled through a design that emphasizes local context, approachability and user-interaction, it may offer a chance to systematically explore, update and articulate one's basic ideas such as values and principles. It can also be used to target respondents with a wide range of demographic traits, including senior community members with little formal education or no previous exposure to a value survey, as demonstrated in this case. Comments from the surveyed respondents about the method support this. For instance, they found the method interesting (e.g., "like piecing together a puzzle"), empowering (e.g., "we are learning through this exercise"), and even liberating (e.g., "a load taken off my chest"). They embraced the research idea conveyed, saw relevance, and were satisfied with the outcomes. Several participants wished "more of this type of research" to be carried out, especially by the government officials. The survey nature of the P+ sort also potentially allows a cost-effective way of attaining a large sample size, though in this study the results are illustrative not representative due to the purposive sampling of the community sites<sup>3</sup> and the quota sampling of the respondents.

Despite the benefits it proposes, the method currently has several limitations. Similar to the concern faced in most elicitation procedures that rely on direct questionanswer format, the use of descriptive and hypothetical statements to portray values and principles makes respondent judgment sensitive to their wording. It is possible that the same value or principle can be depicted in a number of different ways, including incorporating pictures or other visual stimuli onto the cards. The challenge would be to construct a concise idea for each item that describes a resource context with which all stakeholders can identify. Careful pre-testing of the statements is suggested to help alleviate this potential shortcoming. Furthermore, making variations in the parameters that make up the design are to be encouraged in future practices. For example, a larger number of scale points (i.e., piles) can be experimented with, which may permit an application of more rigorous and sophisticated statistical analyses. Also, aiming this method at diverse natural resource cases, a different array of stakeholder groups, or an elicitation of other less-tangible concepts such as governing images (see Chapter 5) would test its wider applicability and likely lead to further methodological refinement.

This article responds to the need to make available a wider opportunity for expression of values and principles. As a response to the call to incorporate people's values and principles in the policy domain and to understand their convergence and disagreement among a widening set of stakeholders, the value research, such as that performed here, is a crucial undertaking for achieving more governable natural resource arrangements. The P+ sort may offer a useful methodological avenue with which this endeavor can be further explored.

### Notes

- Relativistic traditions are juxtaposed with axiomatic traditions which operate on the premise that certain values are better, more important, and intellectually defensible than others.
- The difficulty of ranking increases significantly when the number of objects exceed 20 (Russel and Gray 1994) or even as few as four according to McCarty and Shrum (2000).

- 3. The selection of the communities was based on three criteria using purposive sampling: (1) member size to ensure that an adequate number of members are available in each community for survey participation; (2) duration of participation in the Jayul program such that the communities who joined the program prior to May 2006 were separated from those who joined later. The duration of participation served as a proxy for the level of experience in the program with an assumption that long-time participants have a higher degree of familiarity and expertise accumulated throughout the years of participation than recently joined ones; and (3) type of fishery to cover a wide operational and geographical characteristics. Final selection produced four clusters of two communities, as shown in Fig. 2.
- 4. Testing the significance of W, when N is larger than 7, the sample distribution approximates chi-square with N-1 degrees of freedom (Siegel and Castellan 1988).
- 5. [R27] refers to respondent #27.
- Principal component analysis was performed through XLSTAT software (version 2012). It used the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient with no rotation of factors.

### Acknowledgements

This research was made possible by the funding support of the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada. The authors thank Drs. Arn Keeling and Svein Jentoft for providing useful comments on an earlier version of the manuscript. The authors also greatly thank those who participated in the survey as well as key informants and community leaders.

### References

- Alwin, D.F., and J.A. Krosnick. 1985. The measurement of values in surveys: A comparison of ratings and rankings. Public Opinion Quarterly 49:535-552.
- Bavinck, M., R. Chuenpagdee, S. Jentoft, and J. Kooiman., eds. 2013. Governability of fisheries: theory and applications. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Bolland, J.M. 1985. The search for structure: An alternative to the forced Q-sort technique. Political Methodology 11:91-107.
- Brown, S.R. 1980. Political subjectivity. New Haven, CT: Harvard University Press.
- Brown, T.C. 1984. The concept of value in resource allocation. Land Economics 60:231-246.
- Buijs, A. 2009. Lay people's images of nature: Comprehensive frameworks of values, beliefs, and value orientations. Society and Natural Resources 22:417-432.
- Chan, K.M.A., J. Goldstein, T. Satterfield, N. Hannahs, K. Kikiloi, R. Naidoo, N.
  Vadeboncoeur, and U. Woodside. 2001. Cultural services and non-use values. In
  Natural capital theory and practice of mapping ecosystem services, eds. P. Kareiva, H.
  Tallis, T.H. Ricketts, G.C. Daily and S. Polasky, 206-228. Oxford: Oxford University
  Press.
- Cheong, S.-M. 2003a. Depleting fish resources, declining fishing communities, and the state revitalization project in Korea. Environmental Management 32:382-390.
- Cheong, S.-M. 2003b. Privatizing tendencies: Fishing communities and tourism in Korea. Marine Policy 27:23-29.
- Cheong, S.-M. 2004. Managing fishing at the local level: The role of fishing village cooperatives in Korea. Coastal Management 32:191-202.
- Cheong, S.-M. 2005. Korean fishing communities in transition: Limitations of community-based resource management. Environment and Planning A 37:1277-1290.
- Chuenpagdee, R., J.L. Knetsch, and T.C. Brown. 2001. Environmental damage schedules: Community judgments of importance and assessment of losses. Land Economics 77(1):1-11.

- Chuenpagdee, R., J. Fraga, and J.I. Euán-Avila. 2004. Progressing toward comanagement through participatory research. Society and Natural Resources 17:147-161.
- Davis, A., and J. Wagner. 2006. A right to fish for a living? The case for coastal fishing people's determination of access and participation. Ocean & Coastal Management 49:476-497.
- Dunn-Rankin, P. 1983. Scaling methods. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Dunn-Rankin, P., G.A. Knezek, S. Wallace, and S. Zhang. 2004. Scaling methods, 2nd ed. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization). 2012. World Fisheries Production, By
   Capture and Aquaculture, By Country (2010). ftp://ftp.fao.org/fi/STAT/summary/a 0a.pdf (accessed 28 November 2012).
- Gray, T.S., ed. 2005. Participation in fisheries governance. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Gregory, R., S. Lichtenstein, and P. Slovic. 1993. Valuing environmental resources: A constructive approach. Journal of Risk and Uncertainty 7:177-197.
- Han, K.-S. 2009. The agony of 21<sup>st</sup> Korea fisheries. (in Korean). Seoul: Sunhaksa.
- Hanemann, W.M. 1994. Valuing the environment through contingent valuation. The Journal of Economic Perspectives 8(4):19-43.
- Hitlin, S., and J.A. Piliavin. 2004. Values: Reviving a dormant concept. Annual Review of Sociology 30:359-393.
- Jentoft, S. 2005. Fisheries co-management as empowerment. Marine Policy 29:1-7.
- Jentoft, S., and R. Chuenpagdee. 2009. Fisheries and coastal governance as a wicked problem. Marine Policy 33:553-560.
- Kang, J.-S. 2006. Analysis on the development trends of capture fisheries in North-East Asia and the policy and management implications for regional co-operation. Ocean & Coastal Management 49:42-67.
- Keeney, R.L., D. von Winterfeldt, and T. Eppel. 1990. Eliciting public values for complex policy decisions. Management Science 36:1011-1030.
- Kooiman, J., and S. Jentoft. 2009. Meta-Governance: Values, norms and principles, and the making of hard choices. Public Administration 87:818-836.

- Kooiman J., M. Bavinck, S. Jentoft, and R.S.V. Pullin, eds. 2005. Fish for life: Interactive governance for fisheries. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press
- Lachapelle, P.R., S.F. McCool, and M.E. Patterson. 2003. Barriers to effective natural resource planning in a "messy" world. Society and Natural Resources 16:473-490.
- Larson, A.M., and F. Soto. 2008. Decentralization of natural resource governance regimes. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 33:213-239.
- Lee, K.N., J.M. Gates, and J. Lee. 2006. Recent developments in Korean fisheries management. Ocean & Coastal Management 49:355-366.
- Lee, S.-G., and Y.,-M. Shin. 2004. A study on the self regulatory management model of coastal fisheries in Korea. (in Korean). The Journal of Fisheries Business Administration 35(1):87-114.
- Lockwood, M., J. Davidson, A. Curtis, E. Stratford, and R. Griffith. 2010. Governance principles for natural resource management. Society and Natural Resources 23(10):986-1001.
- McCarty, J.A., and L.J. Shrum. 2000. The measurement of personal values in survey research: A test of alternative rating procedures. Public Opinion Quarterly 64:271-298.

McKeown, B., and D. Thomas. 1988. Q methodology. London: Sage.

- Mitchell, R.C., and R.T. Carson. 1989. Using surveys to value public goods: The contingent valuation method. Washington DC: Resources for the Future.
- MOMAF (Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries) 2003. A Study on Successful Establishment of Jayul Fisheries Management. (in Korean). Seoul: MOMAF.
- MOMAF (Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries) 2005. Jayul Fisheries Program Outstanding Cases II. (in Korean). Seoul: MOMAF.
- Rittel, H.W.J., and M.M. Webber. 1973. Dilemmas in a general theory of planning. Policy Sciences 4:155-169.
- Rokeach, M., 1973. The nature of human values. New York: The Free Press.
- Russel, P.A., and C.D. Gray. 1994. Ranking or rating? Some data and their implications for the measurement of evaluative response. British Journal of Psychology 85:79-92.

- Sagoff, M. 2004. Price, principle, and the environment. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Satterfield, T. 2001. In search of value literacy: suggestions for the elicitation of environmental values. Environmental Values 10:331-359.
- Satterfield, T., and R. Gregory. 1998. Reconciling environmental values and pragmatic choices. Society and Natural Resources 11:629-647.
- Satterfield, T., and L. Kalof. 2005. Environmental values: An introduction relativistic and axiomatic traditions in the study of environmental values. In The Earthscan Reader in environmental values, eds. L. Kalof and T. Satterfield, xxi-xxxiii. London: Earthscan.
- Seo, B.-G., D.-S. Byeon. 2006. Improvement measures for vitalization of Jayul Fisheries Program, with special attention to inshore boat fishery. (in Korean). Aquatic Industry Science Research 24:31-42.
- Siegel, S., and N.J. Castellan. 1988. Nonparametric statistics for the behavioral sciences. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Song, A.M., and R. Chenpagdee. 2011. Conservation principle: A normative imperative in addressing illegal fishing in Lake Malawi. Maritime Studies 10(1):5-30.
- Song, A.M., R. Chuenpagdee, and S. Jentoft. 2013. Values, images, and principles: what they represent and how they may improve fisheries governance. Marine Policy 40:167-175.
- Uchida, H., E. Uchida, J.-S. Lee, J.-G. Ryu, and D.-Y. Kim. 2010. Does self management in fisheries enhance profitability? Examination of Korea's coastal fisheries. Marine Resource Economics 25:37-59.
- Vaske J.J., and M.P. Donnelly. 1999. A value-attitude-behavior model predicting wildland voting intentions. Society and Natural Resources 12:523-537.
- Weller, S.C., and A.K. Romney. 1988. Systematic data collection. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
# Chapter 5 Exploring stakeholders' images of coastal fisheries: a South Korean example

Target journal: Human Ecology

Andrew M. Song and Ratana Chuenpagdee

## Abstract

Images that stakeholders have about fisheries can fundamentally influence how fisheries are to be governed, as recent literature has begun to elucidate. They represent underlying perspectives about the issues in question and the world at large such that they may help explain why certain governance decisions and actions come about and how policy ideas become carried forward. While it is crucial to properly identify and discuss them, how they appear and function in an empirical setting is not yet fully understood, making it less amenable to assessing their meanings and generating practical lessons. Using a case of coastal fisheries in South Korea and its governance initiative in progress called 'Jayul', this study captures the images of various stakeholders as they are expressed through an exploratory survey design and inductively formulated themes and categories. The results show a broad range of thematic content and four general dimensions within which images are manifested. In addition to revealing the diversity associated with stakeholders' images, the study is also an illustration of how one can go about conducting an image inquiry and what can be expected from its results, paving ways for future studies. Implications for the governance situation in Korean fisheries are drawn to demonstrate images' significant bearing on the workings of governance processes.

#### Introduction

In recent years, a line of thinking has arisen in fisheries governance discourse which focuses on stakeholders' images (Bundy et al. 2008; Cinner et al. 2012; Jentoft et al. 2010, 2012; Kooiman et al. 2005; Thornton and Laurin 2005). These conceptual developments explore what images mean in governance contexts and how they may influence governance processes. Images are "representations of the issues in question and the world at large" (Jentoft et al. 2012: 186), and they provide visions for other governing elements such as regulations and incentives, as well as guide behavior of those being governed. Overall, they form an underlying cognitive framework through which stakeholder views are understood and organized, and their decisions and actions explained. The assertion is that they can help attain a deeper understanding of past experiences, make sense of current trends and events, and even offer a reasonable ground upon which the future course of action can be foreseen, thereby making governance a more proactive endeavor. Hence, images should be properly considered and made explicit in a governance process.

More specifically, according to a review of how images (and other analogous concepts such as mental models and cognitive frames) have been approached and discussed in fisheries (see Song et al. 2013 or Chapter 3), images gain importance in at least three main ways. First, a faulty representation of fisheries realities can mislead

governance effort into perverse consequences. Thomas Huxley's (1883) idea that "all the great sea fisheries are inexhaustible" is one example of the well-publicized images in fisheries policy-making. Secondly, images can exhibit disparity among different stakeholder groups, which pose a potential danger as incompatible images could lead to misunderstanding and confrontation (see also Hall-Arber et al. 2009). Greater awareness and appreciation of different ways of seeing are called for to carefully negotiate the sociopolitical complexity emanating from potential image disagreements. Finally, a discursive power and hegemonic dominance of certain images are what fisheries governance must also be made conscious of. An ideology or a discourse maintains its discursive power through images it creates and propagates. For example, the neoliberal ideology paints a forceful portrayal of fishing economies as pre-capitalist and a barrier to capital accumulation. This particular image of fishing communities is consequently used to promote a capitalistic mode of production and fisher identity, while repudiating other alternative fishing forms such as subsistence, spiritual, and community-based fishery (St. Martin 2007). Therefore, how images are linked to ideological purposes and how they can become hegemonic becomes another important theme in the ways images influence governance processes and outcomes.

The concept of images is, however, less than clear-cut and invites various interpretations. Its unverbalized appearances, indefinite meanings, and multiple usages make it difficult to clearly delineate the general characteristics of the images captured in a governance system. What constitutes an image? What is the range of different images held by various stakeholders? What is the level of coherence among them? Do images describe future aspirations and carry a normative conviction? Are they imbued with

positive or negative overtones and therefore present a certain outlook on governing matters? Such questions have not been fully examined in the context of an empirical setting. As a result, what is still less apparent are the dimensions within which our understanding of stakeholders' images lie, and this creates challenges in how to study them. Consider a practitioner interested in studying images held by stakeholder groups in a certain locale. He/she needs to first have an idea of what he/she is looking for when searching for the images, how to capture them, followed by how to make sense of the acquired data, i.e., what they really mean. Only then, images can contribute to enhancing an understanding of a particular governance situation, and practical suggestions can be raised.

The studies of stakeholders' images thus far have either focused on their conceptual development (e.g., Jentoft et al. 2010, 2012), or revolved around a particular issue such as marine protected areas (Jentoft et al. 2012) and ecosystem-based management (Bundy et al. 2008), or specific metaphors such as 'fishing as mining' (McCay et al. 2011) and 'the sea as a frontier' (Bromley 2005). In this article, in order to provide a general illustration of what stakeholders' images may look like and how to empirically study them, we take a broad stroke and assess what a wide array of fishery stakeholders might express as their images about the fishery and fishing life, using the case of South Korean coastal fisheries. Through primary data collection using surveys, the elicited responses are inductively analyzed to describe the contours of stakeholders' images as well as to generate policy-relevant insights. Additionally, an exploratory methodological framework designed to serve this objective is offered, tabling one introductory way of elucidating images of stakeholders.

We commence by revisiting key theoretical definitions and attributes of images informed by a wider set of literature, especially as they are approached from the interactive governance perspective. Next, a brief outline of the fisheries situation in Korea is provided including a description of a governance initiative called 'Jayul program'. Following a section on the design and application of the survey method, we present several key thematic areas of the images that emerged as the results of the study. Subsequently, compiled responses allow identification of image characteristics, and we reflect on the findings to discuss their implications for the Jayul governance and formulate suggestions that can inform future directions. We conclude with a summary of potential contributions to method and theory which might encourage further research.

# Theoretical conceptions of images from interactive governance perspective

Aristotle regarded images as the main medium of thought (Eysenck and Keane, 2000), and proclaimed that thoughts are impossible without images (Hummel 1993). Despite opposing debates on their utility over the years due in part to their elusive nature (Goldstein 2008), the traditions of anthropology and cognitive science have put great emphasis on images and explored their linkages to aspects such as culture and internal information processing, respectively. In addition, images have become also relevant to the resource governance context. Approaching from the angle of policy decision-making and implementation, the most salient issue becomes understanding how the images that governance stakeholders hold influence policy initiation, execution and evaluation, and in turn how they are affected by the very process. This entry point is supported by an argument that "individual cognitions or mental models of resources are not irrelevant to environmental decision making, as assumed by content-free framing in terms of utilities" (Atran et al. 2005: 771).

The interactive governance perspective highlights image as one of the fundamental elements representing the normative and cognitive concerns of fishery stakeholders (Chuenpagdee 2011; Kooiman et al. 2005; Song et al. 2013). Images gain additional significance because their disagreements and interactions can affect the overall governability of a fishery system (Chuenpagdee and Jentoft 2009, 2013). Framed as 'meta-level' governance (i.e., what governs governance), images, along with values and principles, underpin the overall governance process, guiding, shaping and inspiring decisions and actions. Kooiman (2003: 29) argues that "anyone involved in governing, in whatever capacity or authority, forms images about what he or she is governing". Similarly, Jentoft et al. (2010: 1315) explains that "governing is inconceivable without the formation of images, and that they are needed for the sake of understanding, communication and action". Such statements affirm that images are omnipresent and integral in the act of governing. Because images can serve a persuasive role and be used as a rhetorical tool to shape policy, it is in the interest of governors, then, to find compelling images that can help clarify or favorably represent their vision of governance (Morgan 1997).

Images are not only the domain of those who govern, however. Every person involved in the fishery holds an idea of what they believe, what they perceive could happen, and what they think should happen (Jentoft et al. 2010), whether they are strong or weak, elaborate or vague. In fact, images are understood to go deeper than simple

opinions stated by stakeholders (Jentoft et al. 2012). Whereas attitudes and perceptions provide a useful way of assessing people's sentiments about specific objects, situations or issues, they themselves are based on other mental constructs, such as values and images, which are slow-changing, few in number and deeply ingrained (Rokeach 1973; Vaske and Donnelly 1999). Images are, instead, "a way of thinking and a way of seeing that pervade how we understand our world generally" (Morgan 1997: 4). Thus, images help describe our life-world: they encapsulate and synthesize numerous independent observations into a coherent model and provide a basis for explaining other additional observations (Jentoft et al. 2012). Further, images have a predictive quality. While real practices and experience shape one's images, the reverse is also true because people can be driven by their ideas held in their images. Because people tend to see the world in the way the images are drawn, and then act in ways that make the world conform to them, they do not just describe what is happening but prescribe how things ought to look like (Carrier 1998: Foster 1965).

Finally, images are typically said to be stable and dependable, treating any inconsistent observations with suspicion or outright rejection. Yet, they do shift over time, and may also go through an abrupt switch at times akin to an epiphany. Boulding (1956) posits that images become what they are through the continuing process of receiving and responding to innumerable messages via face-to-face communication, personal or secondary observation, news media, and policy directives. In fisheries, images may be altered as stakeholders observe changes in the natural conditions or start to engage in new practices. For instance, as a response to a decline in natural fisheries system the image of wild capture fisheries in South Korea has broadened to encompass

stocked fish, i.e., those reared in the hatchery, released as juveniles, and then caught later in the sea. As a result, it is customarily accepted by producers and consumers alike that the stock and release fish are part of the wild fisheries, and only those fully grown in fish tanks or offshore cages are labeled as farmed fish. Also, with an introduction of government policies such as individual vessel quotas in the Norwegian coastal cod fishery, each vessel has begun to be imbued with an image of a self-regulating governor, who is responsible not only for the operation of catching fish, but also for making arrangements with regard to processing, staffing, and managing of the quotas and capital investments (Johnsen 2013).

Case study of South Korean coastal fishery

# General characteristics of the fishery

South Korea (officially the Republic of Korea) is located in the southern part of the Korean Peninsula in the Northwest Pacific region (Fig. 1). Endowed with productive fishing grounds in all three adjacent seas – the West Sea, the East Sea, and the Korea Strait which joins onto the East China Sea (Kang 2006), fishing has naturally taken place from ancient times, and helped satisfy much of the domestic fish consumption demands over the years (Hong 1995). Fish occupies an integral part of Koreans' dietary life and intimately connected to their culture even to this date. According to data recorded since 1960s, fish has consistently contributed over 40-50% of the animal protein intake per capita per day (Han 2009). On the production side, Korea ranked 13<sup>th</sup> in the world in 2010, with inclusion of seaweed production (FAO 2012). In the coastal fishery, there are

nearly 150 target species of commercial significance, which include squid, mackerel, saury, blue crab, anchovy, and hairtail as well as a wide variety of shellfish and seaweeds (Kang 2006). Also, with over 28 licensed fishing gear types, it has the strong character of multi-gear, which include gillnet, hook and line, traps, longlines, and hand gear such as a hand hoe for catching clams (Han 2009). Also, boats weighed under 8 tons are allowed to operate in the coastal waters representing the small-scale sector.

# A brief history of governing of fisheries and the 'Jayul' governance initiative

Korean people have always had close ties with the three neighboring seas, using them throughout history for national security, trading, and the associated exchange of cultures as well as for fishing (Hong 1995). In the pre-modern period, many inshore fishing grounds were privatized by clans and village authorities. With the beginning of the Japanese occupation of Korea in 1911, the colonial government took over and restructured Korean fisheries by introducing fishing rights and laws and also founded fisheries cooperatives at the village level. This shift endowed the government with the exclusive power to grant and manage licenses and effectively placed the colonial state in charge of overall fisheries management (Cheong 2004). Following independence in 1945, post-colonial government inherited much of the colonial setup, and the fishery has been chiefly operating under the overarching direction of the central government who sets regulations, issues licenses, enforces rules, and provides benefits and subsidies to communities (Cheong 2004; Choi and Han 2002).

In recent years, however, it was becoming increasingly evident that the 50 years of government-centered management is proving inadequate to account for diverse regional

characteristics, and resolve various environmental and social challenges that have surfaced surrounding fisheries (Cheong 2003; Han 2009). In addition, fishers were prone to rely on the central government for subsidies and policy direction (Lee 2010). As a response to the ineffective management regime, the central government initiated a new institutional arrangement called the "Jayul Community Fisheries Management" in 2001 (hereafter referred to as 'the Jayul'). This governance initiative aims to raise the level of community participation in managing local fisheries and ultimately to instill a sense of ownership in resource users (Lee et al. 2006; MOMAF 2003). Jayul, meaning free will in Korean, is a type of placed-based co-management program where government sets out the institutional framework and provides financial and technical assistance to local fisher organizations, while the latter drafts local constitution that specifies committee composition, membership rules, fishing restrictions and penalties, among others, and carries out the management plan for their fishery.

Since its inception a decade ago, the number of community fisher organizations participating in the program has reached 893 in 2011, and there have been several exemplary cases in which fishing income has increased and illegal fishing have subsided through this process (MOMAF 2005; Uchida et al. 2010, 2012). Yet, doubts have also been raised as to whether this governance reform is genuinely taking root. Many Jayul communities simply exist only on paper with no substantial follow-up activities (Seo and Byeon 2006). Moreover, a financial incentive system that the central government has set up to entice fishing community organizations to join in and keep up with the activities could end up promoting further reliance on government, negating its original intention. For instance, there is a worry that discontinuation of the funding or facing low prospect of

receiving financial benefits may arouse negative sentiments towards further participation in the program and induce communities to lapse back into inaction (Lee 2010).



Fig. 1 Map of South Korea (community sites are shown as double circles; triangles indicate survey locations with managers/researchers)

The central government has expressed the ambition of broadening its participation and benefits to 1,400 fisher organizations by 2014 and to nearly all 2,000 coastal communities nationwide in a foreseeable future (Lee 2010; PPACP 2008). Lee and Shin (2004) also submits that achieving this new mode of governance represents the only viable option available in improving the fisheries situation in Korea. Corresponding to these high expectations, a study of images stakeholders hold about the coastal fishery and their interactions can be undertaken to generate alternate insights as to the Jayul's impeded progress and explore ways it can negotiate its challenges.

## Method and study design

With the aim of providing a comprehensive account of stakeholders' images operating in the governance system of Korea's coastal fisheries, we designed and employed a semistructured survey to target a wide range of fishery stakeholders. A set of short questions was presented in the survey reflecting the four aspects of a fisheries system: the natural, the socio-economic, the governing system, and the governing interactions, as stipulated by interactive governance theory. This scheme, depicted in Fig. 2, follows the idea that images people form about something can be informed by various elements and challenged from multiple angles. In addition, images can be emblematic, and they are typically unverbalized and remain at the subconscious level. As follows, the survey design does not attempt to directly ask about images, while also giving respondents purposely little opportunity to contemplate about them. Instead, the questions seek to capture the first few words that come to their mind, as they likely are the most pressing ideas they have about the fisheries reality. At the same time, more detailed expression is encouraged if the respondents feel inclined to elaborate on their responses. Lastly, the succinct phrasing of the questions helps to minimize response bias; thus the responses can be of any length and can cover any aspect of the systems in question. Each survey took about 10-15 minutes on average to complete, offering a time-effective way of engaging a potentially large number of respondents.

Can you give a couple of words t	hat come to your mind about:					
Governance system						
Natural system	Socio-economic system					
the natural environment of your coastal area?	your fishing life?					
Governing interactions	Governing system					
the relationship between the central government & fishers?	the central government in the coxtext of fisheries?					

Fig. 2 Survey questions to elicit stakeholders' images about fisheries and fishing life corresponding to four aspects of a governance system

# Respondent groups

Fishery stakeholders targeted in the survey included government managers and researchers, as well as resource users and fishing community members, who are increasingly regarded as bona fide actors with different governing roles (Gray 2005; Johnsen 2013; Mikalsen and Jentoft 2001). In order to ensure a comprehensive array of

fishery experiences, fishing environments, and the varying level of involvement with the Jayul, respondents were drawn from multiple fishing communities. Final selection identified eight sites – four clusters of two communities, whose locations and attributes are displayed in Fig. 1 and Table 1, respectively. For instance, the eight studied communities show a diverse set of target fisheries ranging from clam-gleaning in intertidal mudflats in Bakmi-ri and Goongpyeong-ri, finfish-based boat fishery in Gusipo and Jiksan2-ri, to mussel culture in Gubok-ri and Sim-ri. Their involvement in the Jayul program also varies from zero to a decade-long participation. This inclusive setup is expected to hold the findings of the survey in greater relevance to the Korean coastal fishery as a whole, and induce more systematic comparisons between communities to tease out potential differences in images.

#### Survey process

The survey was conducted during fieldwork in South Korea in 2012. Participation with fishing community members was solicited in the public surroundings of fishing villages, such as streets and fishing wharves, as well as by visiting residential houses during daytime. Individual face-to-face survey was conducted to minimize any social pressure that may exist and hence influence their response. The community respondents comprised adult individuals, both male and female, involved in the production and marketing aspect of fishery, which include harvesters, processors, retailers, wholesalers, and retired fishers. Although their activities in the fishery as well as the level of dependence on the resources for supplementing livelihoods varied, they all drew direct or indirect income from fisheries. As shown in Table 1, 25 participants in each community was targeted using

quota sampling. Limited member size of communities and irregular work schedules of many members, for instance, served as practical constraints to random sample selection. Nevertheless, comparable demographic details across the eight communities were attained with respect to variables such as age, years in fishery and formal education, and gender composition (Table 1(b)). The survey with 25 government fishery managers and researchers took place in their respective offices scattered across the country. Informal chats with additional key informants and direct observation during 1 to 2 week long visits to each community were used to triangulate the data and thus complemented the survey process.

			Res	ource depen	dent commu	inity				
(a)	Bakmi-ri	Goongpy ong-ri	Gusipo	Dongho- ri	Giseong- ri	Jiksan2- ri	Gubok-ri	Sim-ri	Manager/ researcher	Total
Location	West coast – north	West coast – north	West coast – south	West coast – south	East coast	East coast	South coast	South coast	All areas	-
Main fishery	Clam, octopus, oyster	Clam, octopus, finfish	Crab, octopus, finfish, elver	Crab, octopus, clam, elver	Finfish, sea mustard, abalone	Finfish, anchovy, sea mustard	Mussel culture, finfish, octopus	Mussel culture, finfish	Oversees all fishery	-
Fishing environment	Intertidal area	Intertidal area, water column	Water column, interdital area	Water column, intertidal area	Water column	Water column	Water column, intertidal area	Water column	Oversees all environment	-
Year joined the Jayul program	2004	2007	2003	2007	2001	2006	Not joined	Not joined	-	-
Member size of Jayul community	107	117	72	102	79	75	152^	101^	-	-
(b)										
# of respondents surveyed	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	25	225
Male	15	19	23	22	20	19	23	23	23	187
Female	10	6	2	3	5	6	2	2	2	38
Average age <sup>+</sup>	61	61	54	60	64	59	57	59	49	-
Age range*	39-82	40-79	26-82	37-81	50-80	35-80	39-78	39-77	31-65	-
Years of fishery experience*	3-60	6-60	1-50	1-55	1.5-50	0.5-55	5-60	4-40	1-44	-
Years in formal education <sup>+</sup>	9	9	8	8	9	9	10	9	17	-

Table 1 (a) Fishery attributes and (b) demographic information of respondent groups

<sup>+</sup> denotes average; \* denotes range; <sup>^</sup> denotes member size of existing non-Jayul fisher organization (i.e., a fishing village cooperative)

#### Data analysis

Data were analyzed using an inductive 'thematic analysis' procedure, appropriate for capturing intricate meanings and highlighting salient patterns within the data set, as described by Braun and Clarke (2006). Representing a more common and generic form of qualitative data analysis, it offers flexibility in working with various types of data, including the single-word responses or short expressions used in this study (Saldana 2009). The data was first translated from Korean to English by the first author, who holds proficiency in both languages. All responses were transcribed and coded. Whenever a new code (i.e., category) was identified, previous responses were re-examined to assess their relevancy and re-assigned as appropriate. The next phase involved searching for repeated common patterns (i.e., themes) and gathering the relevant coded responses within the identified themes. The resulting themes were reviewed and refined to ensure its representativeness of the coded data as well as its coherency to the overall story it generates. Lastly, we reviewed our findings with community leaders and key informants to confirm its validity. Under this scheme, each response represents an image on the wide-ranging aspects of the fishery/fishing life. The coded responses are organized into a set of identifiable categories, while the categories are then grouped into themes. The themes would therefore represent major areas of collective imagination that are invoked in stakeholders' minds.

## Results

#### Ten most widely-expressed image categories

The list of themes and categories emerged for each respondent group was compared with each other to search for commonality. This resulted in ten most widely-expressed categories across the groups, as shown in Fig. 3. Together with 18 additional categories, they make up a total of 11 themes observed in the overall responses (Table 2). Despite being less prevalent, according to the frequency of the coded responses, the additional categories have certain roles to play in shaping an individual or a group's image about the fishery. Their importance would likely be contingent upon specific geographical and socio-economic contexts. The ten most frequently expressed categories are briefly illustrated, as they are organized according to the four aspects of a governance system.

Table	2	11	image	themes	and	28	categories	generated	in	the	survey	representing	an
inclus	ive	rar	nge of s	takehold	ers'	ima	ges about fi	sheries and	l fis	shing	g life		

Image theme	Image category	Positive (+), negative (-),	Corresponding aspects to a
		images?	svstem*
Cleanness of the environment	Pollution and environmental degradation due to anthropogenic influences	_	N
	Clean coastal environment	+	Ν
	Action items for clean coastal environment	0	Ν
Fish as natural resources	Fish as resources, their productive functions and socio-economic benefits	+	N-S
	Resource depletion and overfishing	_	Ν
	Management measures for fishery resources	0	N-G
Sense of place	Familiar, characteristic, and idyllic scenery	0	N-S
	Connection of coastal environment to physical health and peace of mind	+	N-S
	Inadequate awareness and mindset about the sea and the fishery	_	N-S
Fishing income and livelihood	Economic and physical difficulties in fishing work	_	S

	Livelihood and income activities	0	S
	Modest or content living	+	S
Rural	Cultural and political marginalization, aging	_	S
development	population, and development needs		
issues			
	Depleted expectation and hope	_	S
Community	Strong sense of community	+	S
cohesion			
	Eroding community norms and social capital	_	S
Government	Provision of assistance, advice, and fisher-	0	S-G
duties and	oriented policy		
structure			_
	Government organization and structure	0	G
Enforcement of	Dissatisfaction and resentment towards coast	_	G
regulations	guards		_
	Law enforcement against illegal fishing	0	G
Appraisal of	Gratitude and appreciation for government	+	G-GI
government			
efforts			
	Unhelpful and ineffective work	_	G-GI
Differences in	Recognition of differences in roles and	0	G-GI
roles and	perspectives		
perspectives			
	Government as an inflexible armchair expert	_	G-GI
Quality and	Close relationship, mutual dependence, and	+	GI
quantity of	frequent communication		
interactions			
	Breakdown in communication, and	_	GI
	unproductive, hostile relationship		
	Little or lack of interactions	_	GI
	Hierarchical, vertical interactions	0	GI

\* N- natural system; S- socio-economic system; G- governing system; GI- governing interactions



Fig. 3 Ten widely-expressed categories that form the main images about fisheries and fishing life, as conceived by the surveyed stakeholders and prompted by the four aspects of a fisheries system

# Natural system

Respondents frequently made reference to negative trends observed in the coastal and fisheries environment. They expressed concerns on human-driven pollution and environmental degradation through remarks such as "garbage/styrofoam", "effluent discharge from upstream or shore-side factories", "ghost gear", "fish kills", "oil spills", "exotic species introduced through ballast water", and "construction of a seawall/tide

embankment that disrupts sand and current movement and creates stagnant water in the blocked estuary". Overfishing or resource depletion of local stocks was another dimension that constituted the image about environmental harm. At the same time, the positive notions of a productive resource system were also made explicit. "Lots of fish in the sea", or the various fish species that are targeted and caught, such as mussel, flatfish, eel, swimming crab, octopus, and manila clam, were some of the direct responses for the natural system envisaged by the surveyed fishery stakeholders.

# Socio-economic-cultural system

The socio-economic domain of fishery and fishing life was predominantly conjured up with reference to wealth generation, livelihood activities, and income concerns. On one hand, images focused on great or modest prosperity experienced in the fishery through remarks such as "life is okay even though income is not high", "making a living and putting food on the table is not a big problem; it's a calm, smooth life though not abundant", and "the standard of living among fishers is still generally higher than farmers". More frequently mentioned images, however, depicted harsh realities of a fishing life that relates to physically strenuous labor, vulnerable working environment, and concerns for income, retirement and livelihoods. Examples of responses directly spoke to this desolate picture: "living 'paycheck to paycheck' relying on each day's earning", "for me, there is no option but fishing, whether it works or not; I have to fish till the last day I am able to work", "we are the poorest (in the society)", "debts are a problem; fishing require loans to operate unlike agriculture, and there is no interest relief", "fishing work is on the verge of extinction", and "stagnant seafood price even

when the price of every other product is going up". In addition, wider cultural and rural development deficiencies contributed to the way socio-economic sphere is conceptualized. Aging fisher population is a dominant element as indicated by comments such as "young people are leaving; if I were younger, I would have left too; it's sad but true", "with aging population, there is no vision for the future" and "soon there will be no one to go out on boats". Too few recreational and cultural amenities as well as inadequate education and health facilities were also mentioned. On a bigger societal scale, fishery was viewed as a marginalized sector through comments such as "support to fisheries", and "macro policies such as Free Trade Agreements promoting national interests but at the expense of primary industries such as fisheries".

## Governing system

The central government has been a major governance actor in the fishery through a hierarchical management system that has been in effect since 1908, when the first Fisheries Act was introduced (MIFAFF 2012). In this study, its presence was found to be framed in two main streams of viewpoints. First, many respondents spoke about government's organization, roles, and responsibilities, with an emphasis on the services they provide to fishers and communities. Provision of financial and technical assistance, policy guidance, instruction and educational sessions, together with enforcement and safety-at-sea activities by the coast guard formed a key area of attention informing the ways respondents imagine the coastal fishery. The other prevailing notion displayed a sentiment highly critical of government's work. Though not all comments were as stark

as this: "they are thieves; fisheries research institutes and government fisheries departments should all be gotten rid of", many still decried government's ineffectiveness, insensitivity and inflexibility. For example, statements like "what they do fail to create any substantial help to fishers", "the coast guard conducts excessive enforcement of regulation on small-scale fishers; they should give a break to small boats", and "it's all an armchair talk; what they know and do is useless, ineffective, and theoretical; it simply doesn't fit with the reality" are illustrations of the typical images characterizing this dominant narrative.

# Governing interactions

With regard to the relationship between governing authority and fishing community, two opposing themes, one favourable of the relationship and the other not, were identified to contribute most to the interactions that give rise to image formation. The more prevalent of the two framed their interactions as inadequate, infrequent, and antagonistic. Words observed in the data such as conflict, distrust, discord, protest, resentment, and hostility found in the responses succinctly characterize this viewpoint. A portion of the government managers/researchers' responses were also shown to hold a similar view, illustrating the relationship through phrases such as "oil and water" and "two parallel lines that never meet (unfortunately) which symbolize continuing efforts by the government and fishers, but separately and with different trajectories of thoughts". Among the community respondents, comments such as "there is little contact (with the government), so I don't know" and "interactions are virtually non-existent; maybe for an education session, but even that is perhaps once a year, and I have no business that brings

me to visit the fisheries office" also occupied a substantial share of the responses. They imply, not only inadequate interactions prevail, but also that having no relationship can deprive fishers of any image (e.g., neither positive nor negative) towards the governing system. On the other hand, a view that suggests positive and improved interactions was also present. Some respondents highlighted close relationship, mutual understanding and dependence, frequent communication, active cooperation, and little confrontation, among others. For instance, community respondents in Sim-ri and Gubok-ri submitted that "government fisheries office exists because fishers exist; they treat fishers much better these days", and "there are now many possible (fishery-related) organizations to interact with". In addition, a statement by a government fisheries officer, which says "the relationship should be like a large push cart where one pushes and one pulls as they move together; government can lead and fishers can make suggestions", further describes the positive interactions in the envisioning of the fishery. Such image also provides a fertile ground for the implementation of the Jayul co-management system.

# Dimensions of stakeholders' images

The results of the survey point to several dimensions about the general characteristics of stakeholders' images, as summarized in Fig. 4, thus preparing us for a better understanding of what we look for in images and how to make use of them in governance processes. First, it was observed that there are positive, neutral, and negative images. In fact, what was most striking is that often the same issue is presented in all three senses, as shown in Table 2. For instance, the good quality of the natural environment could conjure up a hopeful image of "a tidy, clean and pretty coastal village", while other responses are

framed in a negative connotation by emphasizing polluting elements and environmental degradation. It is also possible that neutral images are brought forward as in the response of "garbage recycling". Thus, it appears that images may carry a certain degree of value judgments, which influence people's outlook on a given subject matter. What determines their disposition in the first place and how the positive or negative responses contribute to certain governance outcomes are two of the potential research questions that can further illuminate the usefulness of images.

Secondly, images can overlap between the different aspects of a fisheries system, as listed in Table 2. While the four systems are used in the survey as prompts to guide responses, a significant portion of the images generated here are shown to be connected to more than one system and imbued with multiple meanings. For example, a theme labeled 'sense of place' bridges the natural and social system by creating images that pertain to emotional well-being and physical health gained from a clean coastal environment and rural lifestyle. Responses such as "living in this coastal environment, my mind opens up and I feel refreshed and relieved" and "this is a longevity village; we have clean air which is good for our health" serve as an illustration of this characteristic. Additionally, a particular image of stock enhancement was mentioned with reference to several different contexts. Regarding the natural system, it was conjured up as a remedy to the environmental condition of depleted natural fish stocks. In the context of socio-economic system, it was prompted as an income boosting project. Similarly, it can also hold the meaning of a government initiative, or as a combination of all of these. Images therefore likely reflect a complex reality, similar to what Jentoft et al. (2012) presents in their model of stakeholders' images about marine protected areas. The fact that images may

not fit neatly into a single category, and that they can lend themselves to different and multiple interpretation is something to be recognized in governance.

In addition, images are also shown to have a time dimension, representing past or future conditions as well as embodying current affairs. People not only describe what they see happening in the present time in their images, but may also reflect on what they saw and experienced in the past to highlight any changes. Furthermore, images may capture what people envisage as a future possibility or what they would like to see, thereby prescribing how things ought to be. Subsequently, images can often have the look and feel of 'causes' and 'solutions' about an issue. Responses about governing interactions provide an example. One image problematizes a past relationship, "in which the government was standing at a higher ground looking down at fishers while fishers looking up to the government personnel". Another image depicts "a need for a proper notice, an explanation of new or changed regulations in advance by the government, and not simply focusing on law enforcement and issuing fines" as a suggestion towards a new and improved form of interactions.

Finally, it is also observed that images may describe an activity as something that is action-based, as opposed to a portrayal of 'how things are' that explains the state of affairs. In the socio-economic realm, prevailing responses drew an image of various livelihood activities taking place in a fishing community, from "going to the beach and collecting oyster and clam with simple gear", and "throwing a large rock out from the boat as part of casting anchovy nets". Another group of images was formed visualizing difficult conditions in coastal fisheries, which depicted stagnant seafood prices, productivity-deprived fishing grounds, tough and physically-demanding nature of fishing

work especially in the cold and dangerous sea, and an unpredictable income inflow, among others. Therefore, images might be directly associated with action or instead provide a context from which action could arise.

To this effect, all images can be situated within the continuum of these four dimensions and classified accordingly. Thinking about images in this way is expected to provide a helpful avenue with which their implications to governance issues can be clarified and elucidated.

$\bigcirc$	Positive		Neutral		Negative
St	raightforward, s	ingle-sided		Composite	e, multi-faceted
$\square$	Past-		Current-		Future-focused
$\square$	Action, activi	ty-based		Depicting	the state of affairs

Fig. 4 Four dimensions of stakeholder images outlining their general characteristics as identified in this study

Implications for the Jayul program

The image themes and categories represent areas to consider in reflecting on past governance processes and formulating future directions, as they tell us concerns, aspirations, and otherwise salient features to which fisheries stakeholders find important or influential. Based on the results and the observed community characteristics, we present three major areas of discussion and illustrate the potential utility of exploring stakeholder images in drawing out Jayul governance implications. Specifically, we seek to explain what aspects of the Jayul program align with the fishery stakeholders' images of the fishery and their fishing lives, and what disagree; how images help make sense of the current progresses and challenges of the program, and which images need to be addressed in promoting its sustenance and effectiveness.

Strengthening local environmental stewardship amid macro coastal development First, all fishery stakeholder groups identified pollution as a widespread problem to the local fishery by citing a large range of polluting elements. Further, they held aspirations towards a clean coastal environment, which also connects to increases in resource productivity and human health. This is one of the prevailing themes where stakeholder images closely align with the intent of the Jayul program and also where progress at the local level has been made. Various cleanup activities have been a key component of Jayul activities emphasized and practiced over the years with many communities engaging in monthly coastal clean ups (MOMAF 2003, 2005; Uchida et al. 2010). For instance, in the two of the Jayul communities studied in this study (Gusipo and Giseong-ri), noticeable differences in coastal tidiness was observed. Gusipo, in particular, has constructed a garbage/ghost gear collection point in the central area of their harbour, which has greatly contributed to cleaning up the shore and enhancing resource productivity in the nearby water.

A sub-set of images in the 'pollution and environmental degradation' category concerning macro anthropogenic processes may, however, show that local stewardship

can be thwarted by the occurrence of large-scale coastal development activities. The effects of these macro developments are often far-reaching and even irreversible, as they create a direct impact on the natural and socio-economical make-up of fishing communities (Choi 1998; Kang et al. 2004). Construction of a seawall which blocks an estuary or a nuclear power plant which affects seawater temperature, for instance, may overwhelm and discourage an individual or a community to the extent that their stewardship initiative and commitment to act with their images of clean local environment is compromised. For example, rubbish, burning of garbage, and rotting old gear were widely observed in the harbour in Sim-ri, a non-participant in the Jayul program. A reason for inaction inferred from the images of community members could be that Sim-ri opens up to highly industrialized Masan bay, one of the most polluted bays in Korea (Rye et al. 2011). Being confronted with more than 30 years of chronic pollution and contamination problems may have caused coastal inhabitants to feel powerless against the large-scale projects and to become disillusioned about local cleanup activities. A fisher respondent in Sim-ri elaborated on this image by stating that "acting to prevent pollution is difficult, as the industry is first configured to produce pollution; things that we manufacture are in the end all pollutants, and disposing them on land eventually all ends up in the sea". He added that "in his fishing practice and daily living on the coast, he knows what to do and what not to do, but finds it all difficult to prevent the sea from getting polluted". Thus, as these images reveal, ensuring the environmental goals of the Jayul program would benefit from paying greater attention to the (negative) impacts of large-scale development processes. This point further reminds us the importance of

considering the Jayul program in the larger context of macro socio-economic policy and regional traits.

Addressing livelihood concerns and dependence on government intervention Income motives and improvement of livelihoods were identified as another leading theme in the stakeholders' images about the fishery. Consistent with this, generating direct benefits to community members through non-trivial income increase has been one of the principal aims of the Jayul (Lee 2010), and is presumed to be a prerequisite or the 'bottom line' for keeping communities motivated and interested in carrying out the Jayul activities. To this end, through the financial and advisory support of the government and non-governmental organizations, there has been a sustained effort involving projects such as stock enhancement activities, construction of drying and icing facilities, and tourism ventures (MOMAF 2005).

From the results of this study, it also became clear that respondents including both fishers and managers/researchers hold strong images of government assistance and intervention as being integral to the fishing life. With examples such as "advice, guidance, instruction, leadership", "government support for subsidized fuel and gear repair", "law enforcement against illegal fishing by coast guards", and "stock enhancement by releasing juveniles", the prevalence of this image category could represent a recognition of the roles that government can play, and perhaps should continue to play to a degree, even with the active implementation of the Jayul program.

On the other hand, the issue of government compensation has surfaced as a thorny subject for both Jayul and non-Jayul communities. Given the macro-societal preference

for large-scale coastal development concerning land reclamation and industrial construction in Korea (Yoon and Yeo 2005), compensation for the damages incurred to fishing has become a topic of intense pursuit and scrutiny among fishers, as it could allow them to acquire instant wealth (Lee 2008, 2011). The compensation is in large part granted on an individual basis, which may lead to competition and jealousy among fishers, and weakening of community unity. It also presents little incentive for a community to organize as a group, and is therefore considered a major impediment to the community's decision to join the Jayul program. As a key informant overseeing the Jayul program at the national level confided, "once the compensation relating to the development project becomes a possibility or is applied to a community, the community cannot usually mobilize itself to participate in the Jayul". Also, in order to be subject to a maximum compensation amount, a community tends to shy away from being associated with another government assistance-linked scheme (such as the Jayul). Such dependence on government intervention shown through the stakeholders' images helps explain and reaffirm the challenges the Jayul has faced in establishing itself as a voluntary and nationwide initiative and acts to substantiate the doubts raised about the self-directedness of the Jayul communities.

# Engendering cordiality and balance of power in governing interactions

The images also suggested that fishery stakeholders' view of the governing authority was greatly shaped by the interactions with the coast guard. While the coast guard's role was acknowledged and appreciated by some, a prevailing response of the community respondents objected to the way they carried out their work. As they protest against too

much interference and inflexibility in enforcing rules, such images represent a concern to Jayul implementation. An excessive system of regulation and sanction may stifle the spirit of co-management and create an antagonistic environment in which the coast guard is dreaded as a dominant authority figure to be complied with or a nuisance to be avoided, rather than a governing partner. For example, responses such as "coast guards look down on fishers; fishers go through an insulting and bitter experience" and "the new coast guard office was set up here in Gubok-ri a few years ago, and now law enforcement has been too severe; this is making things way too inconvenient and it is tiring to always watch for their action" depict the coast guard as an unwelcomed actor in the minds of fishers. Even the fishers in Bakmi-ri and Gusipo, who maintain a well-established Jayul program with generally productive relations with the coast guard, were shown to discreetly break certain rules and avoid contact with the coast guard whenever possible.

A similar observation can be made about government managers and researchers. According to the images of community respondents, the governing authority was effectively reduced to 'armchair experts', who may be well-versed in the theory and be proficient in working out the numbers, but are out of touch with on-the-ground realities and have little understanding of the contextual details.

At a more superficial level, a so-called "image makeover" would be useful in dispelling the negative and hostile representation of the governing authority and branding themselves as working partners. This may be achieved through enabling frequent field visits and providing institutional support that rewards flexibility in rule enforcement. But these images on governing interactions are most likely rooted in a more entrenched power-suffused relationship amongst actors. Community responses such as "fishers need

to follow government's guidance and do what it tells them to do" and "as long as fishers follow the law, there is no problem" exemplify such viewpoint that assumes the government's role as a leader and the fishing communities' subordinate position. Addressing this fundamental issue would require a structural adjustment that stretches beyond the perimeters of the Jayul. For one, it would involve relinquishing some managerial grip on the part of the governors and accepting higher autonomy in decisionmaking on the part of those-being-governed (see Chapter 6). Dealing with power would not be necessarily about creating a power-neutral situation, but to recognize its dynamics and strive towards a productive balance of power. Adopting a mindset of humility by managers and researchers might be the first step required to foster this cognitive shift. With growing confidence and prosperity through successful Jayul organization, fishing communities may also feel empowered thereby elevating the images of themselves. As this analysis shows, stakeholder interactions, characterized with friction and antipathy, appear prevalent. In order to help foster a more horizontal mode of fisheries governance consistent with the aims of the Jayul program, engendering cordiality and balance of power would represent an area requiring appropriate consideration.

# Conclusion

This study is an exploratory assessment of the stakeholder images in the South Korean coastal fisheries. The objective is two-fold: to derive inductively the major thematic contents of their images, and at the same time to delineate the general characteristics of images as they surface from an empirical setting. The scope of this inquiry was therefore

set deliberately broad, involving a wide range of fishery stakeholders, minimally-phrased probing questions, and an open topic that deals with fishery and fishing life as a whole. The simple and succinct research design adopted in this study is suited for targeting a greater number of respondents (over multiple study sites) and geared towards eliciting dominant images. Comparisons among communities of diverse geographical and governance setup are also enabled. As it offers a different type of image analysis, we expect this design can serve as a supplement to an extensive ethnographic research that involves full-length interviews and sustained interaction.

Based on this method, the elicitation of images generated a diverse array of themes and categories. Not only reaching into different facets of a fisheries system, images are also shown to simultaneously represent multiple situations with blurred thematic boundaries. Other dimensions of images include positive, negative, or neutral connotations attached to them, and action-oriented versus depicting the state of things. Moreover, images are imbued with a time component: their expression is grounded in past events, current trends, or future aspirations, which can be framed as causes or solutions to an issue in mind.

Through these characteristics, images tell us what is on stakeholders' minds as the underlying concerns and aspirations about the issues in question and the world at large, forming basis for people's decisions and actions. Therefore, images help explain why a certain fisheries condition comes about and offer an indication of how it should proceed. A discussion of the key images in the South Korean coastal fishery, together with the observed features of the visited communities, give details to why the voluntary implementation of the Jayul program has been faced with difficulty: (1) impacts of large-

scale coastal development and macro policy trends may thwart the promotion of local environmental stewardship; (2) government assistance and intervention is still seen integral to maintaining the fishery and fishing life; and (3) power-suffused and antagonistic interactions are widespread leading to mistrust and unproductiveness in the relationship between government/university and fishing community. It is conceivable that all three images are linked and could interact to create a combined effect. Likewise, the diversity of stakeholder images would pose similar challenges of having to make sense of multiple perspectives, but it also may reveal synergistic opportunities in identifying how a fisheries system can be made more governable. We submit that a closer inspection of the images is a useful undertaking in deepening an understanding of governance initiatives, and thus we encourage continuing exploration into this topic.

## Acknowledgements

This research was made possible by the funding support of the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada. The authors thank Drs. Arn Keeling and Svein Jentoft for providing useful comments on an earlier version of the manuscript. The authors also greatly thank those who participated in the survey as well as key informants and community leaders.

#### References

- Atran, S., Medin, D. L., and Ross, N. O. (2005). The cultural mind: Environmental decision making and cultural modeling within and across populations. Psychological Review 112: 744-776.
- Boulding, K. E. (1956). The image: Knowledge in life and society. University of Michigan Press, AnnArbor.
- Braun, V., and Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 3(2): 77-101.
- Bromley, D. W. (2005). Purging the frontier from our mind: Crafting a new fisheries policy. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 15: 217-29.
- Bundy, A., Chuenpagdee, R., Jentoft, S., and Mahon, R. (2008). If science is not the answer, what is? An alternative governance model for the world's fisheries. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 6: 152-155.
- Carrier, J. G. (1998). Introduction. In Carrier, J. G., and Miller, D. (eds.), Virtualism: A new political economy. Berg, Oxford, pp. 1-24.
- Cheong, S.-M. (2003). Depleting fish resources, declining fishing communities, and the state revitalization project in Korea. Environmental Management 32: 382-390.
- Cheong, S.-M. (2004). Managing fishing at the local level: The role of fishing village cooperatives in Korea. Coastal Management 32: 191-202.
- Choi, S.-W. (1998). Damage to fisheries and loss compensation due to public works projects. (in Korean) Ewha Law Journal 2(2): 17-37.
- Choi, S.-A., and Han, K.-S. (2002). A study on autonomous coastal fisheries management. (in Korean) Korea Maritime Institute, Seoul.
- Chuenpagdee, R. (2011). Interactive governance for marine conservation: An illustration. Bulletin of Marine Science 87(2): 197-211.
- Chuenpagdee, R., and Jentoft, S. (2009). Governability assessment for fisheries and coastal systems: A reality check. Human Ecology 37: 109-120.
- Chuenpagdee, R., and Jentoft, S. (2013). Assessing governability What's next. In Bavinck, M., Chuenpagdee, R., Jentoft, S., and Kooiman, J. (eds.), Governability of fisheries and aquaculture: theory and applications. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 335-349.
- Cinner, J. E., Daw, T. M., McClanahan, T. R., Muthiga, N., Abunge, C., Hamed, S., Mwaka, B., Rabearisoa, A., Wamukota, A., Fisher, E., and Jiddawi, N. (2012). Transitions toward co-management: the process of marine resource management devolution in three East African Countries. Global Environmental Change 22: 651-658.
- Eysenck, M. W., and Keane, M. (2000). Cognitive psychology: A student's handbook, 4th edition. Psychology Press, East Sussex, UK.
- FAO (2012) World fisheries production, by capture and aquaculture, by country (2010).
   Food and Agriculture Organization. [online] URL: ftp://ftp.fao.org/fi/STAT/summary/a-0a.pdf. Accessed November 28, 2012.
- Foster, G. M. (1965). Peasant society and the image of limited good. American Anthropologist 67: 293-315.
- Goldstein, E. B. (2008). Cognitive psychology: Connecting mind, research, and everyday experience, 2nd edition. Thomson Wadsworth, Belmont.
- Gray, T. S. (ed.). (2005). Participation in fisheries governance. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Hall-Arber, M., Pomeroy, C., and Conway, F. (2009). Figuring out the human dimensions of fisheries: Illuminating models. Marine and Coastal Fisheries: Dynamics, Management, and Ecosystem Science 1: 300-314.
- Han, K.-S. (2009). The agony of 21<sup>st</sup> Korea fisheries. (in Korean) Sunhaksa, Seoul.
- Hong, S.-Y. (1995). Marine policy in the Republic of Korea. Marine Policy 19: 97-113.
- Hummel, C. (1993). Aristotle 384-322 B.C. Prospects 23: 39-51.
- Jentoft, S., Chuenpagdee, R., Bundy, A., and Mahon, R. (2010). Pyramids and roses: Alternative images for the governance of fisheries systems. Marine Policy 34: 1315-1321.
- Jentoft, S., Pascual-Fernandez, J. J., De la Cruz Modino, R., Gonzalez-Ramallal, M., and Chuenpagdee R. (2012). What stakeholders think about marine protected areas: Case studies from Spain. Human Ecology 40: 185-197.
- Johnsen, J. P. (2013). Is fisheries governance possible? Fish and Fisheries. doi: 10.1111/faf.12024

- Kang, J.-S. (2006). Analysis on the development trends of capture fisheries in North-East Asia and the policy and management implications for regional co-operation. Ocean & Coastal Management 49: 42-67.
- Kang, Y.-J., Kim, K.-S., Zhang, C.-I., Park, C.-K., and Lee, J.-S. (2004). A new statistical approach for the estimation of range and degree of fisheries damages caused by public undertaking. The Journal of Fisheries Business Administration 35: 117-132.
- Kooiman, J. (2003). Governing as governance. Sage Publications, London.
- Kooiman, J., Bavinck, M., Jentoft, S., and Pullin, R. S. V. (eds.). (2005). Fish for life: Interactive governance for fisheries. Amsterdam University Press, Amsterdam.
- Lee, C.-H. (2011). A basis and related issues for fishery compensation of public waters reclamation. (in Korean) Chonnam Law Review 31(3): 423-459.
- Lee, I.-K. (2008). The present condition and the improvement method of reasonable compensation of the competition system for fishery loss. (in Korean) Master's dissertation, Pukyung National University, Busan.
- Lee, K. N., Gates, J. M., and Lee, J. (2006). Recent developments in Korean fisheries management. Ocean & Coastal Management 49: 355-366.
- Lee, S.-G. (2010). A study on practices and effective mechanism of fisheries selfgovernance and institutional strategies. In Proceedings of the International Symposium: A new decade! The role of cooperatives for the sustainable development of fisheries, on June 16, 2010. National Federation of Fisheries Cooperatives, Seoul, pp. 110-162.
- Lee, S.-G., and Shin, Y.-M. (2004). A study on the self regulatory management model of coastal fisheries in Korea. (in Korean) The Journal of Fisheries Business Administration, 35: 87-114.
- McCay, B. J., Brandt, S., and Creed, C. F. (2011). Human dimensions of climate change and fisheries in a coupled system: the Atlantic surfclam case. ICES Journal of Marine Science 68: 1354-67.
- Mikalsen, K. H., and Jentoft, S. (2001). From user-groups to stakeholders? The public interest in fisheries management. Marine Policy 25: 281-292.

- MIFAFF (Ministry for Food, Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries). 2012. A study on foundational fisheries institution, year 1. (in Korean) MIFAFF, Seoul.
- MOMAF (Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries) (2003). A study on successful establishment of Jayul fisheries management. (in Korean) MOMAF, Seoul.
- MOMAF (Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries) (2005). Jayul Fisheries Program outstanding cases II. (in Korean) MOMAF, Seoul.

Morgan, G. Images of organization. (1997). Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks.

PPACP (Policy Planning Advisory Committee to the President) (2008). Fisheries selfgovernance policy: towards increase in fishing household income through coexistence. (in Korean) PPACP, Seoul.

Rokeach, M. (1973). The nature of human values. The Free Press, New York.

Rye, J., Leschine, T. M., Nam, J., Chang, W. K., and Dyson, K. (2011). A resiliencebased approach for comparing expert preferences across two large-scale coastal management programs. Journal of Environmental Management 92: 92-101.

Saldana, J. (2009). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Sage, Thousand Oaks.

- Seo, B.-G., ans Byeon, D.-S. (2006). Improvement measures for vitalization of Jayul Fisheries Program, with special attention to inshore boat fishery. (in Korean) Aquatic Industry Science Research, 24: 31-42.
- Song, A. M., Chuenpagdee, R., and Jentoft, S. (2013). Values, images, and principles: What they represent and how they may improve fisheries governance. Marine Policy: 40, 165-173.
- St. Martin, K. (2007). The difference that class makes: neoliberalization and noncapitalism in the fishing industry of New England. Antipode 39: 527-549.
- Thornton, K., and Laurin, C. (2005). Soft sciences and the hard reality of lake management. Lake and Reservoir Management 21: 203-208.
- Uchida, H., Uchida, E., Lee, J.-S., Ryu, J.-G., and Kim, D.-Y. (2010). Does self management in fisheries enhance profitability? Examination of Korea's coastal fisheries. Marine Resource Economics 25: 37-59.

- Uchida, E., Uchida, H., Lee, J.-S., Ryu, J.-G., and Kim, D.-Y (2012). TURFs and clubs: empirical evidence of the effect of self-governance on profitability in South Korea's inshore (maul) fisheries. Environment and Development Economics 17: 41-65.
- Vaske, J.J., and Donnelly, M.P. (1999). A value-attitude-behavior model predicting wildland voting intentions. Society and Natural Resources 12: 523-537.
- Yoon., Y.-M., and Yeo, T.-D. (eds.). (2005). Korea's Economic Policy. (in Korean) Baekyoungsa, Seoul.

Chapter 6 Instituting governance transition through co-management: a case of South Korean coastal fisheries

Target journal: Ocean & Coastal Management

Andrew M. Song

### Abstract

Institutions are structural constraints that provide regularity, reduce uncertainty and shape people's interactions, acting to enable or hinder governance change. This is relevant to the fisheries context, with various forms of institutional arrangements, such as comanagement, being initiated to promote a transition from a hierarchical, centralized system to a more collaborative form of resource governance. In this article, governance transition in South Korea's coastal fisheries, facilitated by the 'Jayul Community Fisheries Management' program, is studied. Its institutional aims are the focus of the analysis, followed by how they align with the 'mindsets' of fishery stakeholders, which forms part of the local context. Such features and their relationship are important areas to consider in understanding how this governance transition would work in practice. Taking a broad approach to analyze institution, the study includes not only the more-frequently-researched regulative aspect, such as rules and law enforcement, but also the normative and cultural-cognitive dimensions, which consider social norms and cultural images. The results describe partial, and at times acute, mismatches between these components, and

help to highlight the impeded progress of the Jayul implementation. Overall, this article demonstrates the care needed in attuning institutions to people's underlying ideas, and suggests possible pathways promoting a range of institutional aims, which can be used to contextualize various community setups existing in the fishery.

#### 1. Introduction

Modern governance concept has recently been applied to fisheries, as a new way to address an increasingly vulnerable resource status, illegal fishing, and acute socioeconomic issues such as poverty and marginalization, (Béné and Neiland, 2006; Chuenpagdee, 2011; Folke et al., 2005; Kooiman et al., 2005; Sissenwine and Mace, 2003). This has meant an increased emphasis on stakeholder participation, setting of clear visions and operating principles, and devolution of authority and responsibility, among others. The typically-held hierarchical, unilateral governing of the central government buttressed by the regulation and enforcement regime is giving way to consensus, trust, and cooperation-based mechanisms entailing more direct involvement of multiple actors and resource user groups (Meuleman, 2008). Not many would disagree with this transition need, especially for fisheries governance given the complexity of the issues, although many researchers and practitioners may still have questions about its efficacy. For instance, co-management can be path-dependent, meaning that outcomes may have already been largely determined by the time it was conceived and initiated (Chuenpagdee and Jentoft, 2007). There are also social and political concerns arising during implementation such as the participation paradox (Suárez de Vivero et al., 2008), elite capture (Platteau and Abraham, 2002), and the lack of capacity of resource user communities (Fabricius et al., 2007). Consequently, less fruitful attempts at governance change have been observed around the world (e.g., Cheong, 2005; Cudney-Bueno and Basurto, 2009; Pinkerton, 1999; Scholtz et al., 1998). In achieving fishery sustainability, these challenges point to a need for a comprehensive analysis of the governance situation in order to foster a shift towards a more effective collaboration and local resource users' participation.

Part of the analysis of governance change concerns the institutional domain. Most commonly defined as structural constraints that provide regularity, reduce uncertainty and shape people's interactions, institutions create an enabling or controlling environment for governing decisions and actions (Chuenpagdee and Song, 2012 or Chapter 3). Through its inertia and stability, institutions can work to resist change and reinforce the status quo (Scott, 2008). Yet, they can also trigger positive feedback, thus serving as a catalyst in bringing changes to the system. 'Getting institutions right' would hence be an important task for any governors concerned with reaching their new or established governing goals.

Given the premise that institutions play a crucial role in affecting how governance takes shape and operates, this article aims to demonstrate its relevance by undertaking an institutional analysis of a co-management system in South Korean coastal fisheries. Governance transition has been undergoing in Korea's fisheries through an implementation of a new institutional arrangement called 'Jayul Community Fisheries Management' program (hereafter referred to as 'the Jayul'). Though top-down in nature, there is a firm belief among government officers and academic researchers that an active and meaningful participation of fishers in the management of local fishery can be ensured

if and when the 'change in mindset' of fishers takes place. In other words, embracing a new set of convictions consistent with the aims of the Jayul on the part of fishers is regarded as a necessary condition for ushering in a more collaborative form of governance. Recognizing this critical link to a successful governance transition, this article approaches the feasibility of the change in mindset from an institutional perspective. More specifically, the analysis focuses on what the Jayul program aims to promote, what mechanisms it relies on for its implementation, how its aims match the existing 'mindset' of fishery stakeholders, and what effects the mismatch creates towards the 'mindset change' as well as governance transition. A broad approach to analyze institution advanced by Scott (2008), which has been recently introduced to the field of fisheries, is utilized in this research in order to gain deeper insights into these inquiries.

The article commences with an elaboration of institution as drawn from interactive governance theory and the analytical framework as informed by Scott (2008). Following a description of the empirical setting and the method, the results section traces the key institutional elements that the Jayul program embodies and attempts to foster in the coastal fisheries. Next, how the institutional aims match the prevailing mindsets of the fishery stakeholder groups is described using examples from South Korea, based also on the studies about their values, principles and images (see Chapters 4 and 5). Lastly, the article concludes with discussion about the implications for the program's future implementation and a reflection on this institution-mindset linked approach and its potential contribution to fisheries governance in general.

# 2. Theory and analytical framework

Kooiman et al. (2005)'s interactive governance theory considers institutions one of the central aspects in governance:

[governance is] the whole of public as well as private interactions taken to solve societal problems and create societal opportunities. It includes the formulation and application of principles guiding those interactions and care for institutions that enable them (Kooiman et al., 2005, p. 17).

Governance relies on the proper functioning of institutions to maintain its structure and to enable societal interactions. But the reverse is also true; the functioning of institutions is also contingent upon specific governance circumstances within which they are situated. According to the above definition, 'caring for' institutions is a necessary part of governance undertaking, implying that institutions are not stand-alone entities but meshed into a wider societal and historical context. Institutions therefore require a context-based treatment as to their design and implementation. For example, despite the best intention and careful design, an institutional arrangement such as co-management might be stymied by a lingering culture of distrust between government and fishers (Pinkerton, 1999). Also, disjuncture in regulations between different levels of government can create legal loopholes that can nullify the community-based management of a local fishery (Cudney-Bueno and Basurto, 2009). As highlighted in the case of South Korea, the 'mindset' of fishers could constitute another crucial part of the cultural context (Chapter 4 and 5), which the design and implementation of co-management could therefore consider.

In this analysis, a mindset is conceptualized to comprise three meta-governance concepts – values, images, or principles. Generally underpinning the cognitive and

normative internal decision- and action-generating process, they appear to have distinct roles to play and occupy different thematic niches in one's mindset and, i.e., (1) general value priorities of an individual, (2) his or her images about the world/fishery, and (3) governance principles he/she subscribes to (see Chapter 2).

The people's mindset and the institutional arrangement (represented by the metaand the second order of governance, respectively, according to the interactive governance perspective, see Chapter 1) can be theorized to hold a coupled relationship. Institutions delimit individual freedom and thought processes while individuals take strategic actions, reflecting their underlying values, images and principles, to create, maintain, and transform institutions (Giddens, 1984; Kjaer, 2004; Scott, 2008). This 'structure-agency' duality becomes even more pronounced in the context of change. Talcott Parsons submits that institutionalization takes place when people shed their idiosyncratic mindsets and begin to conform and orient themselves to a common set of normative standards and value patterns (Scott, 2008). In other words, individuals internalize these established shared norms so that they hold them as the private basis for their action. At the same time, institutions also evolve, and "much of that evolution comes about as a result of the somewhat disparate values of individuals who are recruited into the institution" (Peters, 1999, p.149). The disparate values may spark innovation and controversy inducing changes in institutions themselves. From this, instituting co-management would be about two things: (1) affecting members' mindsets so that they align with the institutional structures and aims (i.e., structure informing agency); and (2) institutional arrangements being designed and practiced in accord with the mindsets of fisheries stakeholders (i.e., agency informing structure). Hence, an analysis that examines the match between the comanagement and people's mindsets would help highlight this reciprocal interaction. Further, an understanding of the content and the extent of mismatches, for example, is expected to provide insights about the feasibility of the mindset change and eventually the governability of the co-management implementation.

Many fisheries scholars have taken an interest in institutions. In particular, the resolution of collective action problems in common pool resources arguably forms the most prominent and influential angle of study of fisheries institutions thus far in both coastal settings (e.g., Basurto, 2005; Caballero Miguez et al., 2008; Ostrom, 1990) as well as the high seas (e.g. Berkes et al. 2006, Hanna 1999). More recently, however, a new trend has emerged in fisheries research, which highlights a broadening purview of institution (Chapter 3). Drawing from a scheme formulated by Scott (2008), authors such as Jentoft (2004) and de la Torres-Castro and Lindström (2010) have called for a more balanced analysis that not only focuses on the regulative dimension most closely associated with the common pool resource inquiry, but also normative and cultural-cognitive aspects, which have largely remained peripheral in institutional discourse. As such, institutions grounded in cultural habits, social taboos, or religious beliefs, for example, can equally create a robust effect on shaping fishers' actions as much as what formal and informal rules and incentives might prescribe.

Specifically, the broad-based analytical framework defines institution as comprising three 'pillars' – regulative, normative and cultural-cognitive. According to Scott (2008), the regulative pillar is concerned with setting regulatory frameworks and enforcing them. It relies on the mechanisms of rules, incentives and sanctions to shape people's actions. It is expedient and coercive in nature, arousing self-interest as well as

fear of punishment. The normative pillar involves defining goals and designating appropriate ways to pursue them through activation of values and norms. It appeals to social obligation and conformity as opposed to the benefit-cost calculations of regulative rule. Binding expectations are at work, and feelings of shame or pride are activated. The cultural-cognitive pillar emphasizes the extent to which action is informed and constrained by shared knowledge and common belief systems. Under this view, compliance would occur because other types of behavior are simply inconceivable and unorthodox. Relying on symbols and culturally-supported images to give meanings, routines are followed because they are taken-for-granted as simply the way things are done. Together, they define legal, moral and cultural boundaries of people's actions (Scott 2008). It is acknowledged that "each element is important and, sometimes, one or another will dominate, but more often – in robust institutional frameworks – they work in combination" (ibid., p. 47).

# 3. Description of the empirical setting and methods

# 3.1. General characteristics of South Korean coastal fisheries

South Korea (officially the Republic of Korea) is located in the southern part of the Korean Peninsula in the Northwest Pacific region (Fig. 1). Endowed with productive fishing grounds in all three adjacent seas – the West Sea, the East Sea, and the Korea Strait which joins onto the East China Sea (Kang, 2006), fishing has naturally taken place from ancient times, and helped satisfy much of the domestic fish consumption demands over the years (Hong, 1995). Fish occupies an integral part of Koreans' dietary life and

intimately connected to their culture even to this date. According to data recorded since 1960s, fish has consistently contributed over 40-50% of the animal protein intake per capita per day (Han, 2009). On the production side, Korea ranked 13<sup>th</sup> in the world in 2010 with inclusion of seaweed production (FAO, 2012). In the coastal fishery, there are nearly 150 target species of commercial significance, which include squid, mackerel, and blue crab, as well as a wide variety of shellfish and seaweeds (Kang, 2006). Also, with over 28 licensed fishing gear types permitted in coastal fishery, it has the strong character of multi-gear (Han, 2009).



Fig. 1 Map of South Korea (community sites are shown as double circles; triangles indicate survey locations with managers/researchers)

### 3.2. Governance history and structure

In the pre-modern period, many inshore fishing grounds were privatized by clans and village authorities. With the beginning of the Japanese occupation of Korea in 1911, the colonial government took over and restructured Korean fisheries by introducing fishing rights and laws and also founded fisheries cooperatives at the village level (known as

uchon-gyes). This shift endowed the government with an exclusive power to grant and manage licenses and effectively placed the colonial state in charge of overall fisheries management (Cheong, 2004). Following independence in 1945 the post-colonial government inherited much of the colonial setup, and the fishery has been chiefly operated under the overarching direction of the central government, which sets regulations, issues licenses, enforces rules, and provides benefits and subsidies to communities (Cheong, 2004; Hong, 1995). A common classification of coastal fishery emanating from this management tradition specifies three types of fishing, i.e., license-, permit-, and report-based (see Chapter 1 for more details). First, license-based fisheries include those taking place in intertidal and nearshore areas such as shellfish and seaweed gleaning, fixed gear operation, and aquaculture. The harvesting privileges are licensed to lawful holders allowing them to maintain exclusive management and fishing rights to a designated area. Much of the areas subject to licenses are 'village-owned' fishing grounds. They are governed by respective fishing village cooperatives (i.e., uchon-gyes), who therefore have been the main occupants of this fishery. More recently, however, the licenses are increasingly being conferred or leased out to private individuals to operate the fixed gear or aquaculture in keeping with the rising scale of production and capital investment (Cheong, 2003a). The second type of fishery involves fishing using vessels and gears in the inshore and offshore waters. Regulated through issuance and withdrawal of guinguennial fishing permits by the county and city governments, the permits are held by individual fishers, who may be members of uchon-gyes and/or sector-specific fishing gear associations. The third type is called 'report' fishery. Although it has the highest number of certificate holders (121,453 in 2009) among the three types, it forms a minor

part, as it allows fishers to carry out smaller-scale, rudimentary type of fishing operations on an individual basis. City or county government responds to requests of each fisher by issuing a certificate which is valid for five years (MIFAFF, 2012). In addition to the above, other instruments of the centrally coordinated fisheries management regime include technical regulations (e.g. mesh size, catch size, and closed seasons) and the Total Allowable Catch (TAC).

# 3.3. Jayul Management Fisheries Community – "the Jayul"

In recent decades, it has become increasingly evident that the 50 years of governmentcentered management is proving inadequate to account for diverse regional characteristics, and resolve various challenges such as stock depletion, illegal fishing, and decline of coastal villages (Cheong, 2003b; Han, 2009). In addition, fishers were prone to rely on the central government for subsidy and policy direction (Lee, 2010). As a response to the ineffective management regime, the central government initiated a nationwide program called the Jayul in 2001. This new institutional arrangement aims to raise the level of community participation in managing local fisheries and ultimately to instill a sense of ownership among resource users (Lee et al., 2006; MOMAF, 2003). Jayul, meaning free will in Korean, is a type of placed-based co-management program where government sets out policy guidelines and provides financial and technical assistance, while a local fisher organization drafts and carries out a management plan for their fishery.

Since its inception a decade ago, the number of community fisher organizations participating in the program has seen an over 10-fold increase to reach 893 in 2011, and

there have been several exemplary cases in which fishing income has increased and illegal fishing has subsided through this process (MOMAF, 2005; Uchida et al., 2010). Yet, doubts have also been raised as to whether this governance reform is genuinely taking root (OECD 2011). Many Jayul communities exist only on paper with no substantial follow-up activities (Seo and Byeon, 2006). In addition, a financial incentive system that the central government has set up to entice fishing community organizations to join in and keep up with the activities could be promoting further reliance on government, negating its original intention. For instance, there is a worry that discontinuation of the funding or facing low prospect of receiving financial benefits may arouse negative sentiments towards continuation in the program and induce communities to lapse back into inaction (Lee, 2010).

Such concerns underscore the challenges facing the implementation of the Jayul program. The central government has expressed the ambition of broadening its participation and benefits to 1,400 fisher organizations by 2014 and to nearly all 2,000 coastal communities nationwide in a foreseeable future (Lee, 2010; PPACP, 2008). The initiative is supported by government officers and researchers, such as Lee and Shin (2004) who submit that achieving this new mode of governance represents the only viable option available in improving the fisheries situation in Korea. Corresponding to these high expectations, there is a need for a thorough understanding of the Jayul program and its interactions with fishing communities. To this effect, this article looks at what the Jayul program is set up to institute and how it fits with the mindset of the fishery stakeholder groups.

#### 3.4 Study methods

Primary and secondary data for this study was collected during two fieldtrips to South Korea in 2009-2012. A review of written documents (including academic papers, government reports, and media articles), informal chats with key informants, and direct observation were used for the analysis of the Jayul as an institutional arrangement. The study of people's mindset was conducted using a mixed-method survey which targeted two groups: fisheries resource dependent community members (n=200) and government managers/academic researchers/non-governmental consultants (n=25) (see Chapter 4 and 5 for full details). Fig. 1 shows the various survey locations. By using a set of latent concepts – values, images, and principles – to represent one's mindset, the survey elicited participants' underlying aspirations and concerns, their understanding of the operational guidelines for the fishery, and their outlook on the fishing life in general. Much of the data collection, including the survey and the document analysis, was carried out in Korean language by the author who holds proficiency in the language.

### 4. Results

The result presents the institutional aims of the Jayul program as shown on the official documents and as reflected by key informants. They are related to all three pillars of institution under the scheme of Scott (2008). First, the cultural-cognitive elements are introduced, followed by the aims that characterize the normative aspect. Lastly, the key regulative components of the Jayul are assessed. The subsequent section explores the

(mis-)match between the aims and the mindset by pairing up the three pillars with the meta-governance concepts. A summary is provided in Table 1.

#### 4.1 Institutional aims of the Jayul

#### 4.1.1 Cultural-cognitive elements

The Jayul, first and foremost, aims to foster self-reliance and local-initiatives among resource user communities. The term Jayul stands for 'free will', 'on one's own initiative', or 'autonomous'. A government publication (PPACP, 2008, p.9) sets out a vision for the Jayul as: "with minimum control and involvement of the central government, fishery resources get adequately managed and utilized by fishers themselves with self-created rules that fit the local context." From this, it appears that the Jayul marks a rather dramatic turn towards community-based governance through advancing the image of fishers and community members as the bona fide leaders and managers of the local fishery. At the same time, however, ambivalence on the part of the central government is also observed with regard to the degree of community self-reliance and autonomy being aspired. The same document also submits a differing view. It prescribes that the central government would establish an overarching framework of objectives, means and directions for the Jayul, and under this guideline, a detailed management scheme that involves a specific fishery, target species, and fishing ground would be created by fisher organizations (PPACP, 2008). This latter view imagines the Jayul not as a self-directed, autonomous community initiative, but a contained one under the auspices of government partners and other centrally-positioned actors, whose evaluative and advisory role is perceived to be integral to the process (Lee, 2010; MOMAF, 2003). This inconsistency presents a potential source of confusion at the most basic level of conceptualization. A more precise delineation of Jayul's images would help attain policy coherency by clarifying stakeholders' roles and responsibilities, and send clear messages to the public about what the Jayul hopes to achieve.

Notwithstanding the ambivalent nature of the Jayul, many researchers and government managers converge on the view that Jayul is a 'cultural movement' to instigate sweeping improvements in coastal communities (Lee and Shin, 2004; MOMAF, 2003; PPACP, 2008). This is a departure from seeing it as a narrow sector-based project set up to produce specific and quantifiable outcomes, such as fishery income enhancement. This view highlights the criticalness of mindset change within wide community members from simply relying on government direction and support to taking on increased responsibility and bearing a sense of ownership for local resources in order to make coastal villages a more livable and viable place. To this end, sustained participation in projects such as stock enhancement activities, coastal clean-ups, fishing ground monitoring, and community events and businesses have been identified and being promoted as what will trigger the shift in the mindset of community members.

### 4.1.2. Normative elements

Another aspect emphasized in the Jayul is community norms. It attempts to advance the notion that self-reliance and local-initiatives promoted is not necessarily to be carried out by each individual fisher but as an organization in a collective setting. It aims to foster a sense of oneness, brotherhood, or fellowship for the greater good of a fishing village (PPACP, 2008). The Jayul is a group activity: fishers can participate only as a group,

most typically through uchon-gyes or area-based gear associations. It thus encourages strengthening of an existing organization or creating a new one in its absence. Subsequently, it appeals to social capital, social networks and mutual coercion to help deter illegal fishing, achieve equitable production and distribution of fishing income, resolve disputes, and raise participation in community activities (Bodin and Crona, 2009; Grafton, 2005). In the present study, this sentiment is echoed by several informants, that the promotion of a community norm is a crucial element of what the Jayul embodies and is trying to institute. For example, a fisheries officer in Gochang County observed a greater degree of willingness to follow rules and to cooperate among community members at more established Jayul communities, while in less established sites, suspicion and disputes were more prevalent. Similarly, the president of the Jayul Association, a nascent non-governmental body representing the Jayul communities at the national level, commended the foresight of the initiators of the Jayul for not only advocating the selfreliance component but also emphasizing community values as a complementary institutional element in the promotion of governance change.

### 4.1.3 Regulative elements

Participating in the Jayul program, first and foremost, requires that an interested community creates a local constitution that specifies committee composition, membership rules, fishing restrictions, and penalties, among others. A research output published by the Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries (MOMAF) stipulates that the self-created rules of the Jayul community should be set within the legislative boundary of the central government such that they do not negate or conflict with the national fisheries regulations

(MOMAF, 2003). It also adds that in cases where the technical fishery rules of the Jayul community are deemed more appropriate, through consultations with the central government, the national fisheries regulation may be revised. Hence, the current legislative setup appears to present a nested hierarchical system in which Jayul community rules are encouraged to govern the specifics of the local fishery operation, and yet they themselves are governed by the national fisheries regulation.

Promoting the Jayul in the regulative dimension, however, involves at least another level of rule-setting, i.e., the national-level recognition of those Jayul rules by the central government. In December 2004, the Fisheries Law underwent a revision to provide indirect guidance to the implementation of the Jayul (PPACP, 2008). The Act 70 proclaims that, (1) in terms of provision of administrative, technical and financial assistance, government will give priority to those fishery groups that have created and implemented their own rules to protect fishery resources, improve fishery management, and maintain social order; (2) the Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries will determine the details on the methods and processes for providing assistance including evaluation metrics for community rules and the definition of eligible fisher groups. Notwithstanding these broad clauses that set the protocol for government assistance to encourage community fishery initiative, an official recognition of the Jayul program as well as the community-created rules in the national legal domain remains absent. The uncertain status of the Jayul-created rules in the overall regulative system may, however, undermine their efficacy and legitimacy, which is further discussed in section 4.2.3 below.

#### 4.2 (Mis-)matches between the Jayul aims and stakeholder's mindset

### 4.2.1 Cultural-cognitive – Images

So, how do these aims of the Jayul compare with the mindsets of the people? First, the prevalent image of aging fishing community expressed by survey respondents appears ill-fitted with the ideas of self-reliance, self-direction and local-initiative endorsed by the Jayul. As presented in Chapter 5, this is an image that portrays a lack of younger generation of fishers in fishing communities, likely reflecting the general societal trend of aging population and out-migration of young people in rural areas (Cheong, 2003b; DeWind et al., 2012; Kim, 1982). Aside from the conventional socio-economic problems of labour shortage and stagnation of regional economy, the absence of younger generation could pose further difficulty to the implementation of the Jayul. Several respondents expressed concerns with regard to the declining aptitude and enthusiasm of an older generation of fishers to follow new currents of knowledge and try embracing a new mode of governance. For instance, a Jayul consultant who has retired from an official government fisheries officer duty (Respondent #218) stated:

"The most important thing is having young people in fishing villages to overcome the situation of aging population. Young people can act as a catalyst for vitality. From them, ideas are more quickly generated and practiced. But currently even the community leaders are often senior members, let alone the members themselves. This has an implication for the Jayul; senior members generally repel new ideas, such as what the Jayul embodies. As a result, an impetus for new projects suffers."

Likewise, a pessimistic outlook on fishery emanating from this image was also noted. Fishers' comments include "...fishing will end with our generation; who will come here knowing that it presents a tough life?" (Respondent #87), "there are no young people

coming here (to live in fishing villages), plus I don't want to recommend it either" (Respondent #168), and "young people after graduating university do not want to get into fishery, they form an idea that fishery will not work for them" (Respondent #190). As such, the trend of aging population and out-migration of young people may now have been accepted as a dominant cultural image, with any deviation seen as an oddity. This could pose an additional hurdle to achieving sustainable and viable fishing communities, and further serve as an institutional constraint for the implementation of the Jayul.

In addition, a widespread image of the government as a provider of support and direction to fishing communities may represent another mismatch that inhibits the mindset change (see Table 1). According to the survey (see Chapter 5), responding to the question of what is first conjured up in the mind about government, words such as 'financial and technical assistance', 'policy guidance', 'educational sessions', and 'enforcement and safety-at-sea activities by the coast guard' formed a major part of the vocabulary for both fishers and managers/researchers, informing the ways respondents imagine the coastal fishery. Such views seem to confirm the centrality of governance assistance in the functioning of coastal fishery, and acts to substantiate the doubts raised about the self-directedness of the Jayul communities. A provincial fisheries officer (Respondent #222) commented:

"Fishers think that they are naturally entitled to receive subsidized fuel. Fishers also would not be so keen in stock reinforcement activities if it meant that the expenses are paid by themselves, and not come from public tax money. They think it is a government's apparent duty to provide such assistance to fishers."

Representing a community perspective, a fisher who engages in abalone aquaculture (Respondent #52), shared a similar idea about the necessity of government support:

Yes, it might be true that receiving and expecting to receive support might make people lazy. But aging population is a serious phenomenon, and government support is ever more necessary. Without it, fishing communities might collapse in no time. Collapse of fishing and agricultural societies mean collapse of the whole country. So the government need to maintain necessary living and working conditions in the fishing communities by providing appropriate and necessary support.

Responses such as these exemplify the culture of reliance on government support, and add to the weight of this deeply-ingrained modus operandi. Changing the mindset of fishery stakeholders to embrace self-reliance and local-initiatives would thus hinge upon how well the pervasiveness of this image can be attenuated or even reversed. This may appear a difficult undertaking, nevertheless one that would contribute positively to facilitating the Jayul implementation.

Table 1 Summary of mismatches between the institutional aims of the Jayul program and the mindset of fishing communities organized under the broad analysis scheme inspired by Scott (2008)

	Institutional aims of the Jayul program towards coastal fishing communities	Mindset of fishery stakeholders represented by values, images, and principles
Cultural- cognitive	Self-reliance and self-initiative in fishing communities, notwithstanding government's ambivalence towards the degree of community autonomy aspired	Images confirming long-held reliance by fishers on government assistance and policy direction

	Jayul as a pan-community cultural	Images depicting aging population
	movement to raise the general	and out-migration of young people
	livability of coastal area, going	in fishing villages – reducing the
	beyond a narrow sector-based	acceptability of new governance
	project with specific objectives	ideas such as the Jayul
Normative	Community cohesion and social norms; 'doing it as a group'	Values suggesting prevalence of individualistic mindset and
		operational traits involved in the permit-based boat fishery
Regulative	Drafting of local fishery rules and community activities, notwithstanding a lack of recognition of the Jayul in the national fisheries law	Principles indicating subordinate position of local fishery rules to national regulations and lengthy amendment process in making national regulations in line with local fishery rules

# 4.2.2 Normative – Values

The spirit of cooperation and community norm advocated through the Jayul program may also find a mixed trajectory when seen from the perspective of stakeholders, through their prioritized values. The importance hierarchy of 16 values was formed based on the survey responses of two respondent groups: fishers/community members and government managers/researchers (Chapter 4). First, the relatively high standings of the social cohesion and peacefulness values by both groups suggest that overall unity and harmony within and across fishing communities are important goals. This can be considered a positive fit in terms of facilitating the mindset change to institute community norms. However, an individualistic, competitive, and private mindset appears more evident when observing the relatively little regard given to the equality value (i.e., equal fishing opportunity amongst fellow fishers) and the cooperation principle (i.e., cooperation among fishers should be increased). Another notable outcome is the significant gap in the degree of importance for the freedom value (i.e., freedom to decide when and where to fish) between the two groups. In this case, respondents in the fisher/community member group valued operational freedom in fishing much higher than those in the manager/researcher group, citing reasons that a fisher should be free to fish whatever and in however ways as long as the activity is within the legal boundaries of regulation.

The individualistic and competitive mindset is identified to be a particularly thorny issue in the boat fishery based on the permit system (see Chapter 1 for details on this fishery type). Clearly-demarcated fishing boundaries are elusive in practice. Illegal fishing and fisher conflicts tend to be more widespread, and reliance on regulative measures alone to control the fishing operation has failed in many cases. Similar to the situation of common pool resources (e.g., Ostrom 1990), the Korean case of boat fishery can be understood as grappling with the "tragedy of the commons", in which competition and privately-held behaviour prevails. The survey responses also echoed the sentiment of weak community norm in the boat fishery. For instance, an owner-operator in Dongho-ri who targets mixed species (Respondent #128) stated:

"Fishing, as I see it, is an individual activity; one works individually and earns own money.

If you have the means and power to do it, do it. If not, you don't do it. There is no 'let's do this together'"

Similar views were expressed emphasizing that fishing is an individual business. They further elaborated that "...therefore, community rule is not possible" (Respondent #107), "leadership is not very important" (Respondent #121), "there is little dependence on cooperation among fishers" (Respondent #144), "[boat fishery] cannot have a

group/organized system" (Respondent #181), and "a fisher is free to go anywhere as long as he is within the legally-permitted provincial boundaries" (Respondent #116).

Situated within this hyper-individualistic mode of fishing operation, it remains uncertain how the weak social norm among fishers can be elevated to enable the initiation and sustenance of Jayul organization in the boat fishery. Lee and Shin (2004) affirms that the permit-based boat fishery is a sector that requires the Jayul governance the most, given the urgent challenges regarding overfishing and economic unviability, but the one that faces the most difficulty in implementation. Such acknowledgement adds to highlight the normative predicament in activating community values, bringing the boat fishery under the guidance of the Jayul, and therefore instituting a widespread governance transition in the Korean coastal fishery.

# 4.2.3 Regulative – Principles

In the regulative sphere, setting of local fishery rules at the community-level is stipulated to be a core component of the Jayul program (Table 1). Local rules are expected to reflect on-the-ground realities and regional fishery characteristics more effectively and also serve as an essential mechanism in creating the idea of a self-manager of a local fishery. These rules are drafted and agreed among the Jayul members and later reviewed and approved by the Jayul program adjudication committee at the regional level, which comprises representatives from fishing community, government, academia, and non-governmental organizations. It thus may be assumed that people involved in the Jayul program would naturally recognize the necessity and utility of having community rules in place. The survey result displaying an importance hierarchy of 16 principles (Chapter 4), however, revealed that the subsidiarity principle (presented to respondents as 'fishery rules should be set at the community level') garnered considerably little importance to both fisher/community member group and manager/researcher group. Several responses by the fisher/community members, in particular, illustrate this sentiment. A fear of corruption and elite capture forms one major reason, described by comments such as "this can be dangerous; community rules can be abused by those who make them, serving their own interests" (Respondent #97), and "government should set the regulations, otherwise local elite who has influence and money can distort the rules for their own benefit" (Respondent #111). Also, low legitimacy conferred to community-level rules was mentioned: "government regulations and restrictions should be what needs to be upheld and followed; ...when fishers make their own rules, they would take them lightly and violate them often." (Respondent #139), "if rules are made at the community level, it is doubtful that it will be complied; other communities would have a different set of rules and conditions, so there can be losses and people raise objections" (Respondent #182). Hence, many people saw little reason for the setting of community-level fishery rules. While all Jayul communities have composed local rules as a requirement to be part of the Jayul program, this situation casts doubt as to the true appreciation and usefulness of them. Contrasting the main objective of the Jayul, the generally weak enthusiasm about community rules would create a hindrance to its ongoing implementation.

The analysis points to another concern in reference to the degree of authority or influence community-level rules should hold, compared to the regulations set at higher levels. As mentioned earlier, the local fishery rules are only allowed to be established within the boundary of national regulations. This implies that, in the case of abalone, for

instance, the voluntary size limit in a Jayul community can only be set greater than the national standard of 7 cm declared by the Fisheries Resources Protection Decree. While this example makes common sense, the current system can also be counterproductive and frustrate the efficacy of Jayul community rules. For example, a nationally-enacted seasonal closure for swimming crab (Portunus trituberculatus) in Gochang County spanned between June 16 and August 15 in 2012. However, local fishers observed in the last few years that crab in this area were still moulting near the end of August, possibly due to changes in sea temperature. Given this environmental change, resumption of fishing on August 16 does neither benefit the ecosystem nor fishers due to low product value of soft shell crab. While the fishers of the Jayul community of Gusipo voluntarily agreed to abstain from fishing in the adjacent fishing ground until the end of August, fishers who travelled from other areas (which is legal under the permit system) dismissed the local resolution and started targeting crab once the official period expired, with the claim that they are simply following the national regulation. Unfortunately, this created a situation where local fishers were forced to enter crab fishing, driven by the fear of resource scarcity and the 'race-to-fish' mentality. In response, the local fishers have approached the government about making an adjustment in the national regulation. Yet, the revision process likely poses a Herculean task to communities as it would involve an enactment of ministerial ordinances or a tabling of an amendment at the National Assembly. Adding to resentment and disputes against visiting fishing fleets, this case exemplifies how national fisheries regulation can interfere with the Jayul rules that aim to reflect resource dynamics and practical regional differences.

Subsequently, the current setup of the regulative system inadvertently weakening the standing of the Jayul institutional arrangement has become a real possibility. Useful inquiries would include streamlining the regulative institutions such that Jayul community rules can take precedence over national laws, where deemed appropriate, and adjusting the review process so that they can be integrated into the overall rule system in a more efficient and responsive manner that involves less time and lower cost. In this sense, the adaptability principle (i.e., fishery rules should be reviewed frequently to better respond to rapid changes in fishing conditions), which garnered relatively little importance in the survey, can be activated and utilized to a greater degree in the future (Chapter 4). Efforts such as these are expected to contribute to creating appropriate regulative mechanisms that would help bridge the gap between the institutional aim and people's mindsets.

# 5. Discussion

In its 11<sup>th</sup> year of implementation, the Jayul has expanded nationwide and support has grown over the years from both the government sector as well as from communities. It carries high hopes and great ambitions to help the coastal fishing communities move into prosperity. Emphasis has been on fostering greater participation of fishers and developing a sense of autonomy in the management of local fishery, similar to the vision of co-governance (Kooiman et al., 2005). Its aims, as observed from the analysis here, are noble and well-meaning, and it has been called that a change in mindset of fishers and resource-dependent community members would provide the crucial link in translating them into reality. Not many would have thought that this process is quick and easy, as evident from

the many articles and papers written on the Jayul program which raise several concerns. Yet, reviewing the mindset of the fishery stakeholders, as studied through the metagovernance concepts of values, images, and principles (Chapter 4 and 5), and juxtaposing them with the aims of the Jayul program, as done here (Table 1), shows that the challenge of mindset change is indeed a complex proposition. Have the institutional aims of the Jayul been overly idealistic? Is the ability to institute an underlying shift in people's mind overestimated? This result suggests that the successful implementation of the Jayul may be delayed unless there is a way to address the mismatches between the institutional arrangement and the peoples' mindset. In addition, a more critical observation would point to the question of whether the change in mindset has been a rather unfounded claim or a wishful thinking without the concrete plans or instruments in place to actually make it happen. Although beyond the scope of this article, the possibility of the phrase being used as a 'lip-service' to the promotion of the Jayul forms another notable inquiry for assessing the course of governance transition.

In light of this analysis, sweeping changes in the mindset of fishers has not fully materialized at the national scale. In addition, the prospect of this change does not readily appear at the moment. However, the observed cases of fishing communities thriving under the Jayul scheme (see MOMAF, 2005), including several of those studied in this research, suggest that some communities have made the Jayul program work for them and brought about changes to improve their community life. Such cases demonstrate a closer alignment of the mindset with the Jayul institutions occurring at a local level. Perhaps, one way to move forward, then, is a 'contextualized' approach to the Jayul aims. Rather than adhering to one set of overarching objectives, as currently is the case, a range of

aims can be provided (or even formulated through a collaborative consultation process akin to the spirit of the Jayul, see Jentoft et al., 2012). Various degrees of self-reliance may be specified, for instance, from very little to very high, recognizing that different communities could flourish under a different setup, depending first and foremost on their inherent qualities, as suggested by the governability framework (Chuenpagdee, 2011). This exploration would allow a continuum of governance mode to exist which spans between hierarchical-, co-, and self-governance.

According to interactive governance theory, the ultimate goal of governance is to make fisheries systems more governable, given the multiple problems and issues facing the fishery (Bavinck et al., 2013). A transition into a more collaborative mode, and the implementation of the Jayul program in South Korea, may be approached more from this angle of governability. This would mean that conforming to the Jayul institution may not be easily applicable to all communities, given disparate fishers' mindsets. In such cases, insistence on the Jayul could in fact make things less governable. While a continuing promotion of the Jayul program through affecting people's agency should be encouraged in most communities, it is also suggested that a re-consideration of the institutional aims to include a range of governance mode is a worthy venture that could raise the quality of fishery management in those communities shown to be greatly distanced from what the Jayul hopes to achieve.

#### 6. Conclusion

Understanding the process of governance transition through an examination of institutionmindset relationship forms a useful analysis for gauging an efficacy of such move. Theoretically, this approach suggests a way of studying the interactions between the meta- and second-order of governance. It also directs our attention to the 'structureagency' duality much discussed in the wider literature. Applied to practice, the South Korean example provides an opportunity to link the co-management institutional arrangement with the 'change in mindset' of resource user communities and to explore the (mis-)matches between the two parts. This was done using an analytical scheme that takes a holistic view of institution comprising a cultural-cognitive, a normative and a regulative dimension. The analysis reveals that the Jayul co-management program intends to promote a 'cultural' movement that enhances self-reliance and social capital in coastal communities. It also encourages drafting and carrying out local fishery rules to better reflect regional fishery characteristics and to help disseminate the idea of a self-manager. Yet, misalignments of these aims with what fishery stakeholders fundamentally hold to be important suggest challenges ahead. The dominant image of government assistance may overwhelm the promotion of self-direction, especially with a weak presence of a younger generation of fishers. The individualistic values ingrained in the boat fishery also do not correspond well with the community norms. Furthermore, low regard for local-level management principles may stifle the influence of Jayul community rule system. As a result, the change in mindset, arguably a critical component to Jayul implementation, may face a longer, if not ungovernable, trajectory. Overall, this article demonstrates the care needed in attuning institutions to people's underlying ideas. It highlights their interplay and its potential effects on the progress of governance transition.

#### Acknowledgment

This research was made possible by the funding support of the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada. The author thanks Drs. Arn Keeling, Ratana Chuenpagdee and Svein Jenfoft for providing useful comments on the earlier versions of the manuscript.

# References

- Basurto, X., 2005. How locally designed access and use controls can prevent the tragedy of the commons in a Mexican small-scale fishing community. Society & Natural Resources 18, 643-659.
- Bavinck, M., Chuenpagdee R., Jentoft S., Kooiman J. (Eds.), 2013. Governability of Fisheries: Theory and Applications. Springer, Dordrecht.
- Béné, C., Neiland, A.E., 2006. From Participation to Governance: a Critical Review of the Concepts of Governance, Co-Management and Participation, and their Implementation in Small-Scale Inland Fisheries in Developing Countries. WorldFish Center Studies and Reviews 29. The WorldFish Center, Penang, Malaysia and the CGIAR Challenge Program on Water and Food: Colombo, Sri Lanka.
- Berkes, F., Hughes, T.P., Steneck, R.S., Wilson, J.A., Bellwood, D.R., Crona, B., Folke,
  C., Gunderson, L.H., Leslie, H.M., Norberg, J., Nyström, M., Olsson, P., Österblom,
  H., Scheffer, M., Worm, B. 2006. Globalization, roving bandits, and marine resources.
  Science 311, 1557-1558.
- Bodin, Ö., Crona, B.I., 2009. The role of social networks in natural resource governance: what relational patterns make a difference? Global Environmental Change 19, 366-374.

- Caballero Miguez, G., Garza Gil, M.D, Varela Lafuente, M.M., 2008. Institutions and management of fishing resources: the governance of the Galician model. Ocean & Coastal Management 51, 625-631.
- Cheong, S.-M., 2003a. Privatizing tendencies: fishing communities and tourism in Korea. Marine Policy 27, 23-29.
- Cheong, S.-M., 2003b. Depleting fish resources, declining fishing communities, and the state revitalization project in Korea. Environmental Management 32, 382-390.
- Cheong, S.-M., 2004. Managing fishing at the local level: the role of fishing village cooperatives in Korea. Coastal Management 32, 191-202.
- Cheong, S.-M., 2005. Korean fishing communities in transition: limitations of community-based resource management. Environment and Planning A 37, 1277-1290.
- Chuenpagdee, R., 2011. Interactive governance for marine conservation: an illustration. Bulletin of Marine Science 87(2), 197–211.
- Chuenpagdee, R., Jentoft, S., 2007. Step-zero for fisheries co-management: what precedes implementation. Marine Policy 31, 657-668.
- Chuenpagdee, R., Song, A.M. 2012. Institutional thinking in fisheries governance: broadening perspectives. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 4, 309-315.
- Cudney-Bueno, R., Basurto X., 2009. Lack of cross-scale linkages reduces robustness of community-based fisheries management. PLoS ONE 4(7), e6253.
- de la Torres-Castro, M., Lindström, L., 2010. Fishing institutions: addressing regulative, normative and cultural-cognitive elements to enhance fisheries management. Marine Policy 34, 77-84.
- DeWind, J., Kim, E.M., Skeldon, R., Yoon, I.-J., 2012. Korean development and migration. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies 38(3), 371-388.
- Fabricius, C., Folke, C., Cundill, G., Schultz, L., 2007. Powerless spectators, coping actors, and adaptive co-managers: a synthesis of the role of communities in ecosystem management. Ecology and Society 12(1), 29.
- FAO, 2012. World Fisheries Production, by Capture and Aquaculture, by Country (2010). Available from ftp://ftp.fao.org/fi/STAT/summary/a-0a.pdf, accessed on November 28, 2012.
Folke, C., Hahn, T., Olsson, P., Norberg, J., 2005. Adaptive governance of socialecological systems. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 30, 441-473.

Giddens, A., 1984. The Constitution of Society. University of California Press, Berkeley.

- Grafton, R.Q., 2005. Social capital and fisheries governance. Ocean & Coastal Management 48, 753-766.
- Han, K.-S., 2009. The Agony of 21st Korea Fisheries. (in Korean). Sunhaksa, Seoul.
- Hanna, S.S., 1999. Strengthening governance of ocean fishery resources. Ecological Economic 31, 275-286.
- Hong, S.-Y., 1995. Marine policy in the Republic of Korea. Marine Policy 19, 97-113.
- Jentoft, S., 2004. Institutions in fisheries: what they are, what they do, and how they change. Marine Policy 28, 137-149.
- Jentoft, S, Chuenpagdee, R., Pascual-Fernandez, J.J., 2012. What are MPAs for : on goal formation and displacement. Ocean & Coastal Management 54, 75-83.
- Kang, J.-S., 2006. Analysis on the development trends of capture fisheries in North-East Asia and the policy and management implications for regional co-operation. Ocean & Coastal Management 49, 42-67.
- Kim, H.-K., 1982. Social factors of migration from rural to urban areas with special reference to developing countries: the case of Korea. Social Indicators Research 10(1), 29-74.
- Kjær, A.M. 2004. Governance. Polity Press, Cambridge.
- Kooiman J., Bavinck, M., Jentoft, S., Pullin, R.S.V. (Eds.), 2005. Fish for Life: Interactive Governance for Fisheries. Amsterdam University Press, Amsterdam.
- Lee, K.N., Gates, J.M., Lee, J., 2006. Recent developments in Korean fisheries management. Ocean & Coastal Management 49, 355-366.
- Lee, S.-G., 2010. A study on practices and effective mechanism of fisheries selfgovernance and institutional strategies. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium: A New Decade! The Role of Cooperatives for the Sustainable Development of Fisheries, on June 16, 2010. National Federation of Fisheries Cooperatives, Seoul, pp. 110-162.

- Lee, S.-G., Shin, Y.,-M., 2004. A study on the self regulatory management model of coastal fisheries in Korea. (in Korean). The Journal of Fisheries Business Administration 35(1), 87-114.
- Meuleman, L., 2008. Public Management and the Metagovernance of Hierarchies, Networks and Markets: The Feasibility of Designing and Managing Governance Style Combinations. Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg.
- MIFAFF (Ministry of Food, Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries), 2012. A study on foundational fisheries institution, year 1. (in Korean). Seoul, MIFAFF.
- MOMAF (Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries), 2003. A Study on Successful Establishment of Jayul Fisheries Management. (in Korean). MOMAF, Seoul.
- MOMAF (Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries), 2005. Jayul Fisheries Program Outstanding Cases II. (in Korean). MOMAF, Seoul.
- OECD, 2011. Fisheries Policy Reform: National Experiences. OECD Publishing, Paris.
- Ostrom, E., 1990. Governing the Commons: the Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- PPACP (Policy Planning Advisory Committee to the President), 2008. Fisheries Self-Governance Policy: towards Increase in Fishing Household Income through Coexistence. (in Korean). PPACP, Seoul.
- Peters, B.G., 1999. Institutional Theory in Political Science: the 'New' Institutionalism. Continuum, London.
- Pinkerton, E.W., 1999. Factors in overcoming barriers to implementing co-management in British Columbia salmon fisheries. Conservation Ecology 3(2), 2. Available from http://www.consecol.org/vol3/iss2/art2.
- Platteau, J.-P., Abraham, A., 2002. Participatory development in the presence of endogenous community imperfections. The Journal of Development Studies 39(2), 104-136.
- Scholtz, U., Njaya, F.J., Chimatiro, S., Hummel, M., Donda, S., Mkoko, B.J., 1998.
  Status and prospects of Participatory Fisheries Management Programs in Malawi. In:
  Petr, T. (Ed.), Inland Fishery Enhancements. Fisheries Technical Paper 374. FAO,
  Rome, pp. 407-425.

- Scott, W.R., 2008. Institutions and Organizations: Ideas and Interests, third ed. Sage Publications, Los Angeles.
- Seo, B.-G., Byeon, D.-S., 2006. Improvement measures for vitalization of Jayul Fisheries Program, with special attention to inshore boat fishery. (in Korean). Aquatic Industry Science Research 24, 31-42.
- Sissenwine, M.P., Mace, P.M., 2003. Governance for responsible fisheries: an ecosystem approach. In: Sinclair, M., Valdimarsson G. (Eds.), Responsible Fisheries in the Marine Ecosystem. FAO, Rome. pp. 363-391.
- Suárez de Vivero, J.L., Rodríguez Mateos, J.C., Florido del Corral, D. 2008. The paradox of public participation in fisheries governance. The rising number of actors and the devolution process. Marine Policy 32, 319-325.
- Uchida, H., Uchida, E., Lee, J.-S., Ryu, J.-G., Kim, D.-Y., 2010. Does self management in fisheries enhance profitability? Examination of Korea's coastal fisheries. Marine Resource Economics 25, 37-59.

# Chapter 7 Conclusion

This dissertation research adds to the existing body of knowledge on governance transition by exploring two key formulations of the interactive governance theory – metaand second order of governance, i.e., people's mindset and institutions, respectively. Research questions are informed by the nascent concept of governability, which is related to the overall quality for governance of the whole fisheries system, attributed to both inherent and constructed characteristics of the system-to-be-governed, as well as the capacity of the governing system and how the two systems match. In the context of this research, key questions include: What are the 'mindsets' of fishery stakeholders, as represented by, and studied through, their values, images, and principles? Do their values, images and principles agree or differ among fishery stakeholder groups, and to what extent? What does the co-management program as an institutional arrangement aim to promote, and how do they compare with the 'mindsets' of fishery stakeholders? Governability of a fisheries system hinges upon these factors and this is demonstrated from an application to the case study of South Korean coastal fisheries. The research process involved an interpretation and conceptualization of the theoretical ideas and also development of methods that would enable primary data collection of these underresearched aspects of natural resource governance. In doing so, an understanding of the governance situation in Korean fisheries is enhanced and policy-relevant insights generated. The major points of this thesis are summarized at four levels in the following

section. The chapter concludes with an identification and description of four main future research interests, followed by a reflection on governability concept.

### Major conclusions

## Theoretical contributions

This dissertation research is one of the few studies focusing on the meta-level of governance. Meta-governance implies 'governance of governance'. In other words, there is something beyond what is visible and apparent which drives resource managers' decisions and actions. Similarly, citizens, resource users, or those-being-governed also have their own logic of action and ways of imagining the world around them. These may vastly differ between the two groups or they may overlap to a great degree. According to the interactive governance theory, this remains an important research issue. An empirical study of meta-order elements, as done in Chapters 4 and 5, could reveal a fundamental divide between key stakeholder groups, for instance, offering a clue as to why governing actions may face indifference or resistance. Likewise, it can provide guidance on how to sustain certain initiatives by building on what values, images and principles stakeholder groups may have in common.

While the boundaries between values, images, and principles may not be clearly drawn, when considered together they can be conceptualized to have distinct enough roles to play in one's mindset, i.e., (1) general and relatively abstract value priorities of an individual, which transcend specific situations; (2) images about the world/fishery, which may act as an information filter or a model for how things work; and (3) governance

principles one subscribe to, which provide yardsticks for their conduct. They are also argued to be slower-changing, fewer in number and more deeply ingrained than opinionbased constructs such as attitudes and perceptions. Chapter 2 proposes a framework for the articulation of these meta-level elements in unison.

On another level, institutional thinking, which forms the second order of governance, has been the focus of many fisheries research. The most dominant form has been the common-property analysis of Ostrom and her colleagues (Berkes 1989; Ostrom 1990; Ostrom et al. 2002), which proposes and tests institutional ideas for solving collective action problems, such as the "tragedy of the commons," in the context of fisheries and other common pool resources. As a version of rational choice approaches to institutions, it assumes that economic calculations drive individual behaviour, and the rules that prescribe and permit behaviour are conceived as institutions that help reconcile individual and collective rationality. As submitted in Chapter 3, this line of thinking has led to the wide implementation of regulative fisheries management schemes that include incentives, access regimes, and property rights.

The work of W.R. Scott (2008) on institutions details an inclusive spectrum of institutional components that stem from various theoretical approaches, as reiterated in Chapter 3. Taking account for not only the well-advanced regulative aspect, but also the normative and cultural-cognitive dimensions highlighting shared goals, social norms, habits, and common knowledge among others, this analytical framework can be used to reflect a broadening perspective occurring in the study of fisheries institutions. However, a direct application of this approach to empirical cases has been limited up to now. The

attempt to apply this to South Korean fisheries in Chapter 6 is therefore a novel contribution.

#### Methodological advances

This dissertation offers an innovative method, P+ sort, to elicit values and principles of stakeholders. The method strikes a fine balance between making use of quantitative and qualitative data, among other things. Data collection in P+ sort is guided by a use of a sorting board, a deck of cards to be sorted, and a questionnaire booklet that contains verbal follow-up questions. P+ sort builds on the simplicity of pile sorting as well as draws from a more structured Q sort technique to help guide the sorting exercise. Because the method is simple, user-friendly and intuitive, it offers additional benefits of being able to accommodate a greater number of items (i.e., the values and principles) than standard ranking or rating procedures, and of inducing implicit comparisons among these items. As illustrated in Chapter 4, the resulting sorting pattern is analyzed with frequency statistics and non-parametric tests, and it acquires a deeper meaning through an examination of the gualitative information obtained during the sorting exercise. This instrument contributes to the call in literature for wider methodological options for value elicitation, which can supplement the well-established contingent valuation and other more conventional survey exercises.

Understanding images from the governance perspective, as this dissertation research has done and which Chapter 5 focuses on, is a relatively recent theoretical initiative. Similar to the study of values and principles, it requires a methodological exploration, which involves, in this case, rapid-appraisal style questions, developed as

part of the survey package to elicit the images fisheries stakeholders have about the fishery and fishing life. The questions are designed to seek out pressing ideas that lay in the sub-conscious realms of the respondents, organized around four governance sub-schemes (i.e., natural system, social system, governing system, and governing interactions). 'Thematic analysis' procedures are used to systematically interpret their responses and inductively derive salient categories and themes.

# Case study application: South Korean coastal fisheries

Generally speaking, fisheries of South Korea have not been as widely studied as those in neighboring countries in the region, such as Japan. Yet, South Korean fisheries and the coastal communities could provide a fertile ground for fisheries research given the complex and dynamic narratives enmeshed in the place. Within the country, fisheries remain in the periphery of social, economic and industrial policy, but at the same time a strong and persistent government mandate on supporting coastal fishery (perhaps rhetorically) is being maintained. Externally, macro-influences such as regional climate changes, a growing influx of imported seafood, shrinking fishing grounds due to an establishment of Economic Exclusive Zones in the neighbouring seas, tense maritime border disputes with North Korea, and illegal intrusion of Chinese fishing fleets in Korean waters, all place the South Korean fishery as a research context is further stimulated by the exceptional significance of fish and fisheries to national psyche in terms of food culture and recreation.

The new co-management-style program, 'Jayul Fisheries Community Management,' is part of the change that the coastal fishery must recognize and adapt to. Implemented since 2001, it was designed to help alleviate the socio-economic and resource challenges faced in the fishery and coastal villages through greater community participation in management. Initiated by the central government and being supported by the various levels of governmental and non-governmental fisheries organizations, this governance effort has grown in size with nearly half of about 2,000 fishing communities nationwide registered in the program in 2011. Amid this expansion, however, the sustainability of the program in each participating community is being put into question with lingering doubts about the financial and motivational capacity of the communities. The situation raises a question as to whether stakeholder's mindsets (i.e., values, images, and principles), and/or structural hindrances (i.e., institutions) are configured in such a way that impedes its progress. In addition, change of mindset of fishers and resourcedependent community members towards the visions of the Jayul program is claimed to be an integral factor in facilitating this governance shift. Findings from the main chapters of this dissertation (Chapters 4, 5 and 6) are discussed in the context of the Jayul by considering features influencing people's mindset in terms of their contribution to making the program and its implementation more or less governable.

In this backdrop, the survey was crafted to elicit the values and principles of two main stakeholder groups, resource-dependent fishing community members and formal managers/researchers. This was carried out to understand what they consider to be more important and whether they are different or similar between the groups. In this study, ecosystem values and socio-economic values (such as wealth and secure livelihoods) are

frequently expressed as the most important ones. Virtuous trait of honesty/integrity is another highly desired value shared across the fishery stakeholders. Few group differences are observed in the values, likely implying that both the governors and thosebeing-governed hold a similar conception of what are ultimately desired for the fishery and fishing life. In other words, it can be concluded that they share a basic value system, providing thus a firm platform for the implementation of the Jayul (Chapter 4).

The principles regarded as very important by the respondents include equity, adjacency, and ecosystem integrity. But in the context of governance transition, two principles that arguably hold grave implications to local-level management and community empowerment display significant group disparity. Adjacency is a highly important principle to fishers and other resource-dependent community members, while the government managers/academic researchers do not find it as important. Conversely, participation in fishery management is a principle regarded as very important by the manager/researcher group, while the same degree of importance is not evident in the community group. These key differences represent a likely source of underlying disagreement in how the fisheries governance is to be conducted (Chapter 4). The implementation of the Jayul may suffer as a consequence.

With respect to images, the study reveals the diversity and complexity of aspirations and concerns that fishery stakeholders have about the fishery and fishing life. Solicited under the rubric of four governance sub-systems, the inductively derived image categories and themes include environmental degradation, fish as resources, cultural-political marginalization of the sector, livelihood demands, and ineffectiveness of governing authorities, among others. Composite images that reach into multiple themes such as

"healthy lifestyle from clean coastal environment" and "socio-economic assistance as government policy" are also observed. Other general characteristics of images are elucidated. For example, images are shown to be imbued with negative, neutral, or positive overtones, or indicate past events, current states or future activities. Collectively, a set of dominant images underpin stakeholders' primary depiction of realities, as shown in Chapter 5. How well the governance effort in question (i.e., the Jayul program) meshes into the main currents of stakeholders' images would, thus, present an inquiry of practical significance.

Lastly, from the broad view of institutions, the Jayul program may be understood as a governance strategy aimed at instituting self-reliance and self-initiative in fishing communities. It also emphasizes community cohesion and group activities through the drafting of local fishery rules and the application of social norms to implement them. Hence, the resulting locus of the governance change is envisioned to reside at the local fishing communities. Yet, the long-held, and still prevalent, culture of reliance of fishers on government assistance and policy direction acts as a counter-institutional force that could impede a wide establishment of the Jayul program. Additionally in the regulative dimension, the subordinate legal position of local fishery rules to national fishery regulations can work to render community initiatives ineffective, negating the visions of the Jayul program. As discussed in Chapter 6, such misalignments between these components could hinder the promotion of the Jayul program, and further the progress of governance transition. Overall, the findings demonstrate the care needed in attuning institutions to people's underlying ideas, and suggest pathways for an incorporation of multiple, contextualized institutional possibilities.

# Practical governance insights

Approached from the unique angle that combines the novel theoretical visions with the methodological innovations summarized above, the analyses taken in this dissertation research generate several practical insights that hold implications for the governance situation of South Korean coastal fisheries. First, the convergence of the highly regarded ecosystem values, economic and livelihood values, and integrity in fishery matters between the key stakeholder groups deserves major attention, as the endorsement of these values could serve as the normative foundation of all governance activities and policy direction. With stakeholders holding a similar set of values, a common ground could be forged, and governance effort could be directed based on these values. It would also need to visibly promote these shared values, if it is to garner the long-term support of stakeholders (both governors and community members) and to produce intended outcomes. The current emphasis of the Jayul program on the ecosystem and socioeconomic values through various coastal clean-up and income enhancement activities is to be continuously supported. A missing link lies, however, in the promotion of the 'honesty/integrity' in the governance system, which is shown in the study (Chapter 4) to hold high importance. The Jayul program should consider ways to integrate this value in its implementation, e.g., through a document or budget transparency scheme, or a seafood traceability system.

Next, as gathered from the findings of principle importance, user-participation in rule-making is not widely considered very important among the surveyed resource community members. Hence, despite the many positive developments of the Jayul

program in the last decade, the participatory mindset may be slow in taking root across the communities, substantiating the concerns about the communities' cursory involvement. In the case of the adjacency principle, the managers/researchers appear wary of strengthening local priority access and use rights to nearby fishing grounds for the fear that fishing communities may not always effectively manage a given coastal environment. Yet, adjacency is conceptualized as a key enabling factor towards a more community-empowered approach to fisheries management by providing a legal as well as a geographical basis for coastal communities to maintain fishing livelihoods (Davis and Wagner 2006). At the same time, it may also help guard against the vulnerability of local fishery collapse arising from outside influences, such as large-scale industrial fishers or corporations being dispensed with nearshore fishing privileges. Hence, the government and other promoters of the Jayul program should carefully assess the validity of the adjacency demand and whether creating or strengthening priority access to a fishing ground to nearby fisher communities can further enhance the efficacy of governance change in South Korea.

The prevailing images of fishery stakeholders produce three main policy-relevant insights, as discussed in Chapter 5. Aligning with the images of environmental degradation and aspirations for clean, productive natural surroundings, the Jayul program should intensify the promotion of environmental stewardship at the community level. However, it is also understood that the local-level effectiveness may prove futile if not accompanied by an effort to engage with wider environmental/industrial policy. This is because the large-scale impacts of coastal development and extensive industrial pollution can reach deep into the consciousness of the coastal community members, nullifying thus local stewardship. Secondly, the focus on income enhancement as part of the Jayul activities appears consistent with a widespread image stakeholders have about the socioeconomic facet of the fishery. However, fishers and community members also hold strong images of government assistance and intervention as being integral to their fishing life. Heavy dependence on government support reaffirms the doubts raised about the self-directedness of the Jayul communities and eventually about the sustainability of the program. Thirdly, a prevailing image indicates a perceived lack of cordiality and relevance in the government's approach towards fishers. At a more superficial level, a reportrayal of government's self-images would be useful in dispelling the negative and hostile representation of the governing authority and branding themselves as working partners. More fundamentally, however, a rigid power differential that leads an unproductive relationship between managers/researchers and fishers would need to be addressed to help foster a more horizontal mode of fisheries governance consistent with the aims of the Jayul program.

Finally, assessing the aims of the Jayul program and juxtaposing them with the mindset of fishery stakeholders, as studied through the meta-governance concepts of values, images, and principles (Chapters 4 and 5), shows that the challenge of mindset change is indeed a complex proposition. The result suggests that the successful implementation of the Jayul may be delayed unless there is a way to address the mismatches between the two parts. In light of this analysis, it is not surprising that sweeping changes in the mindset of fishers has not fully materialized at the national scale. There are, however, several communities who have experienced improvements, demonstrating a closer alignment of the mindset with the Jayul institutions occurring at a

local level. One possible way to move forward is a 'contextualized' approach to the Jayul aims. Signalling a departure from adhering to one set of overarching objectives, as currently is the case, a range of aims can be provided instead, or alternately formulated through a collaborative consultation process. Various degrees of self-reliance may be specified, for instance, from very little to very high, recognizing that different communities could flourish under a different setup. This exploration would allow a continuum of governance mode to exist, spanning between hierarchical-, co-, and self-governance. While a sustained promotion of the Jayul program should be encouraged in most communities, it is also suggested (Chapter 6) that a re-consideration of the institutional aims to include a range of governance mode is a worthy venture that could raise the quality of fishery management in those communities shown to be greatly distanced from what the Jayul hopes to achieve.

# Future research directions

Drawing from the insights gained in the study, four areas of research interests can be further explored to improve the current approaches and gain new meanings.

How values, images, and principles are linked and influence each other

This research proposed values, images, and principles as three overlapping but unique parts of what constitutes one's mindset. Each element was mainly approached separately: they were introduced and empirically studied on its own although the insights can be juxtaposed and combined at a later stage. This individual approach was a necessary one

given the exploratory nature of the study, in which the validity of each element would need to be first explained and demonstrated. Here, it was shown that they have distinct roles and occupy different thematic niches in one's mindset. Therefore, a consideration of all three elements would make an analysis of meta-governance a more complete one. The next research step, however, would call for a more holistic stance. What is most meaningful may not be the separate accounts of the values, images and principles, but how they work together to influence governance processes and outcomes. How are they related to each other? Can we delineate how values affect images and vice versa? Is there perhaps a supra-concept that lends itself to analyzing these elements in a more blended manner? An in-depth study into their internal dynamics remains a key topic for future governance research.

## 'Change in mindset' and governmentality

A shift of people's values, images, and principles may be approached and seen through another theoretical viewpoint that is more sensitive to the dynamics of power. In the governance and policy context, manipulation of citizens' or the public's mindset is a governing strategy many see necessary and even commonsensical (see Kinzig et al. 2013). Yet, as with any governing activities, this represents an exercise of power, and one that tends to take place in a unidirectional manner from governors to those-beinggoverned. In this respect, a Foucauldian concept of 'governmentality' appears to be a useful optic to further explicate the claims of mindset change (see Chapter 2 for an introduction). Governmentality embodies that governing (gouverner) is most effective when it colonizes modes of thought (mentalité) of citizens (Sawyer and Gomez 2008). It opens up an inquiry into governor's calculated thoughts and actions that seek to shape and regulate the way people conduct themselves according to specific ideas or ideals (Dean 1999; Agrawal 2005). Therefore, using governmentality as an analytical frame to examine how techniques of changing the values, images, or principles of stakeholders play out empirically and theoretically is a worthwhile effort. Interactions between stakeholders and their power relations that lead to governmentality is, of course, one form of governing interaction, which can be explored using the interactive governance perspective as a condition of governability.

The case of South Korean coastal fisheries also illustrates this possibility. While various government-sponsored measures including financial incentives, expert advice/guidance, study trips are in place to encourage communities to join the Jayul program and to exercise self-regulatory practices, what is identified as vital in facilitating a long-standing establishment is for fishers themselves to embrace the mindset of being the owners and the self-managers of their local fishery. To this effect, government officials and academic researchers claim that only this 'persuasion' will truly enable effective community-regulation, and that an emphasis on changing the mindset of fishing community members is ultimately what the central government strives to govern in reality. A focused study of which and how governing instruments use power to their advantage to propagate this rationality, therefore, signifies another branch of extended governance research. Drawing on governmentality and actors' values, images, and principles, such inquiries are also expected to provide a way to make power issues more explicit in the interactive governance theory (Jentoft 2007).

#### Methodological improvement

Operationalizing the meta-order governance concepts necessitated a certain degree of methodological tinkering. Elicitation of values and principles involved a questionnaire survey method that utilizes a semi-structured sorting technique and simple statistical analyses. The image study also relied on the development of a set of open, succinctlyphrased questions. While they were adequate for the research objectives set out in this study, they represent early attempts, with limitations that invite further development. They were effectively geared towards scoping out a general collection of values, images, and principles to help draw out their conceptual boundaries, rather than facilitating an indepth study of certain specific elements. As future studies may examine a focused set of salient values, images, or principles, additional methodological adjustment can be reasonably expected. This could take an extensive qualitative route through lengthened interview processes and dedicated ethnographic research. On the other hand, it is also possible to imagine a large sample-size questionnaire survey aided by sophisticated statistical analyses with the aim of generalizing the result over a large population. Above all, a continuing research attention would be required to further explore a mixed approach that relies on both qualitative and quantitative contribution. Finally, because this research was cross-sectional, it was unable to examine how responses changed over time. Such a line of inquiry could provide clearer insights into the dynamic forces that shape people's responses that construct their underlying notions. It may also allow estimating the actual degree of changes made with regard to mindset. Thus, future research would benefit from a longitudinal design to improve the understanding of the processes involved in the formation and evolution of people's values, images, and principles.

## Application to other governance efforts

The normative approach advanced in this research, especially combined with the institutional analysis, can be extended to examine other popular fisheries instruments, such as marine protected areas (MPAs) and individual transferable quotas (ITQs), and other governance efforts directed at aquaculture expansion, post-harvest process modernization, and consumption policy. How do these governance initiatives align with what stakeholders conceive to be important and desirable? And how does the particular setup of institutions works to regulate the course of these initiatives? Such inquiries would serve a useful way of predicting and understanding their standings and prospects. Future applications would also provide a litmus test for gauging the robustness of this approach. In the process, new insights may surface, challenging and improving the core ideas raised in this research – overall providing a valuable addition to the way we understand fisheries governance.

# Final reflection – governability

Governability concept offers a new way of approaching governance problems. Focusing on the holistic quality of governance systems to deal with various problems that may arise, it asks different types of questions than the more conventional governance analyses which may be performance-, task-, or outcome-oriented. Its primary focus is not in knowing the most direct way to reach an outcome per se, but instead it examines whether a governance system in question is more or less conducive to dealing with the complexity and diversity of a problem that is in flux and interacting. The task is then to understand the level of governability of a system (e.g., a coastal fishery) in the context of a particular problem (e.g., community sustainability), and seek ways to inform action that will enhance governability.

This research focuses on two aspects of the governance system that influence governability. The meta-order elements are qualities of the system-to-be-governed and of the governing system, which are mostly inherent but may also be constructed, through interventions such as the implementation of a Jayul. The second aspect is institutions. Institutions pose certain structural constraints that bestow rigidity, orthodoxy and consistency into a governance system, such that the system (and actors within) is encouraged to perform in certain ways but restricted in another ways. In this sense, institutions would serve to increase the governability of the system or lower it. Furthermore, in the process of institutional change, interactions that take place between institutional elements (e.g., rules, norms, and customs) being promoted and the typically entrenched, slow-changing people's mindset may create mismatches resulting in conflicting and unstable conditions. Thus, attentive consideration towards the institutional design and implementation would be an important undertaking for ensuring a more governable system.

Chuenpagdee and Jentoft (2013) offer an analytical framework useful for gaining insights about governability, starting with an examination into the degree of 'wickedness' of societal problems. The wicked nature may arise from the value conflicts, trade-offs and hard choices of various actors involved, who may have different and even contradictory and incompatible ideas of what they want and how things should be. Governability

assessment would help reveal how and why their ideas differ (or agree for that matter) and point to where the intervention should lie.

In improving governability, then, changes made to the system may result to benefit certain groups of people while disadvantaging others depending on what the system is made governable for. A system may be viewed highly governable by some, but not-so-governable from the perspective of others. Examples of dictatorship or mafia ruling over a neighborhood can represent a highly governable system in terms of economic growth or social unity, but not from the yardstick of social justice or human rights. Chuenpagdee and Jentoft (2013, p.340) also submit that considering a myriad of features that give rise to the wickedness of governance, "an industrialized aquaculture system to be more governable than, for instance, the more "chaotic" system of small-scale fisheries in Lake Victoria". When taken at face value, such statements can create a danger of leaving small-scale fishery proponents in dismay and questioning whether high governability is in fact something to be strived for.

As this research has investigated the crucial role of governance actors' normative stance and the need to articulate it more clearly, governability as an analytical tool must be grounded in an explicit normative base. A recent exchange among the thinkers of governability reminds us that governability is not a goal in itself, but rather a means to an end. Hence, while the overall goal of governance is to enhance governability, any discussion of governability, including its assessment and application, must be made in the context of normative goals. Understanding stakeholders' values, images, and principles is expected to help highlight this often overlooked, but essential, aspect of governance. Interactive governance theory and the governability concept is an evolving entity. Using interactions as a heuristic to understand societal governance, interactions are to be found at every level. Values, images and principles stand to compete or co-exist among themselves representing the meta-order of governance. Institutional elements operate visà-vis each other forming the second order. Governing instruments, fishers' actions, and fish stocks also engage in more concrete transactions representing the first order of governance. Therefore, the interaction-based thinking could contribute to finding appropriate ways of thinking about, making sense of, and improving our world, and the fish and humans in it. Overall, this perspective has grown to be one part of a larger effort to alleviate widespread challenges occurring in fisheries and natural resource sectors in general. To continue on this difficult but hopeful journey, an ongoing exploration and refinement of the ideas elaborated in this research is thus widely encouraged.

# References

- Agrawal, A. (2005). Environmentality: technologies of government and the making of subjects. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Berkes, F. (Ed.). (1989). Common property resources: ecology and community-based sustainable development. London: Belhaven.
- Chuenpagdee, R., and Jentoft, S. (2013). Assessing governability what's next. In M. Bavinck, R. Chuenpagdee, S. Jentoft, and J. Kooiman (Eds.), Governability of fisheries and aquaculture: theory and applications (pp. 335-349). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Davis, A., and Wagner, J. (2006). A right to fish for a living? The case for coastal fishing people's determination of access and participation. Ocean & Coastal Management, 49, 476-497.

- Dean, M. (1999). Governmentality: power and rule in modern society. London: Sage Publications.
- Jentoft, S. (2007). In the power of power: the understated aspect of fisheries and coastal management. Human Organization, 66, 426-437.
- Kinzig, A.P., Ehrlich, P.R., Alston, L.J., Arrow, K., Barrett, S., Buchman, T.G.,... Saari,
   D. (2013). Social norms and global environmental challenges: the complex interaction of behaviors, values, and policy. BioScience, 63, 164-175.
- Ostrom, E. (1990). Governing the commons: the evolution of institutions for collective action. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ostrom, E., Dietz, T., Dolsak, N., Stern, P.C., Stonich, S., and Weber, E.U. (Eds.). (2002). The drama of the commons. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- Sawyer, S., and Gomez, E.T. (2008). Transnational governmentality and resource extraction: indigenous peoples, multinational corporations, multilateral institutions and the state. Identities, conflict and cohesion (Programme Paper 13). Geneva: United Nations Research Institute for Social Development.
- Scott, W.R. (2008). Institutions and Organizations: Ideas and Interests. 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. Sage Publications: Los Angeles.

Appendix I Survey instrument (for resource-dependent community members)





January 2012

Dear Sir/Madam:

We are conducting research concerning the management of Korean coastal fisheries and the Javul programme, as part of a PhD study at the Department of Geography at Memorial University in Canada. Through the use of this survey, we wish to learn about what you judge to be important aspects of coastal fisheries and your views on how coastal fisheries should be carried out.

The objective of this survey is to obtain opinions of fishers, fishing community members, central and county government officials, and members of non-governmental organizations concerning the underlying priorities in the management of coastal fisheries. The responses will be analyzed and, along with other information revealed in the study, will contribute to the discussion about how to improve coastal fisheries management to address the current issues and challenges, and ultimately enhances the fishing way of life in coastal communities.

The survey contains five sections: Section 1 – Your involvement in fisheries Section 2 – General importance sorting exercise Section 3 – Management guideline importance sorting exercise Section 4 – Keywords exercise Section 5 – Your viewpoint about fisheries The survey should take about 30 minutes to complete.

Please note that there are no trick questions and there are no right or wrong answers. Your participation is completely voluntary and your responses will be kept <u>strictly confidential and anonymous</u>. If at anytime you wish not to continue, please feel free to withdraw from the study. There are no penalties for an incomplete survey. The survey results will be numerically transformed and recorded in a spreadsheet for further analysis. Qualitative information will be coded but without direct identifying information to protect your anonymity. All data will be kept in a locked storage facility for five years before being destroyed. By completing the survey, it is understood that we have your permission to use the information you have provided for the purpose of this research.

This survey has been reviewed by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research and found to be in compliance with Memorial University's ethics policy. If you have ethical concerns about the research (such as the way you have been treated or your rights as a participant), you may contact the Chairperson of the ICEHR at icehr@mun.ca or by telephone at +1 (709) 864-2861.

If you have comments or questions, or wish to receive a copy of the final report, please contact myself or my supervisor, Dr. Ratana Chuenpagdee, at ratanac@mun.ca or by telephone at +1 709 864-3157.

We truly appreciate you participation and sincerely thank you for your kind assistance!

Sincerely,

Andthong Andrew Song

Song 🛛 🖀 +82 (0)10 5536 1473 🖂 amsong@mun.ca

## Section I: Your involvement in coastal fisheries

- 1-1. What type of fishing or aquaculture work are you engaged in? (type of license, gear type, boat size, target species, member of cooperative/gear association/other fishery-related organization)
- 1-2. What are the operational characteristics of your work (e.g. duration and spatial range of operation, frequency, number of crew/employees)? Please describe.
- 1-3. How many years have you been involved in the(se) fishing work?
- 1-4. How many years have you lived in the current fishing village (if applicable)?
- 1-5. Do you consider yourself a full-time or a part-time fisher?
   □ Full-time fisher □ Part-time fisher □ Others: \_\_\_\_\_
- 1-6. Roughly how much percentage of your yearly income is coming from fishing work?
   □ Less than 50%
   □ About 50%
   □ More than 50%
   □ Others:
- 1-7. Do you have other income-generating activities or work? Please specify.

## Sorting instruction:

The following phrases contain various aspects that may be deemed important in creating a healthy, productive coastal fishery and fishing life. As someone involved in the fishery, how would you place the following aspects in terms of their importance? Please place the cards into the three categories ranging from 'very important', 'somewhat important', and 'little important', in any way you like in the provided grid.

- 1. Healthy marine ecological system
- 2. Fishing village without conflicts
- 3. Equal fishing opportunity amongst fellow fishers
- 4. Freedom to decide when and where to fish
- 5. Comprehensive knowledge on marine ecosystem
- 6. High economic income from fishing work
- 7. Secure livelihoods from fishing work
- 8. Enjoyment and pleasure in fishery life

- 9. Moderate catch target
- Sense of pride for working in the fishing industry
- 11. Integrity in fisheries governing system
- 12. Cohesion among the members of fishing community
- 13. Strong leadership in fishery management
- 14. Public recognition of fishing work
- 15. Young people taking interest in fishing tradition
- 16. Acceptance of fishery rules and regulations
- Please rank the cards in the 'very important' category from the most important being placed in the left.
- 2-2. Why do you consider these cards to be very important?



#### Important aspects of coastal fisheries

Sorting instruction:

The following statements describe several ways as to how coastal fisheries management can be carried out. In your opinion, how important is each statement in guiding coastal fisheries management in your area? Please place the cards in the three categories ranging from 'very important', 'somewhat important', and 'little important', in any way you like in the grid provided in front of you.

- 1. Fishery rules should be set at the community level
- 2. Fishing grounds should be used exclusively by the designated fisher groups
- better respond to rapid changes in fishing conditions
- 4. Fishery rules should be made based on scientific data
- 5. Central government should provide financial support to fishing communities
- 6. More closed seasons should be established
- 7. Overfishing should be prevented in all fishing operations
- 8. Fishing should be done without disrupting ecosystem integrity

- 9. Fishery policy should address fishers' needs
- 10. Fishing technology should be enhanced such that fish can be caught with less effort
- 3. Fishery rules should be reviewed frequently to 11. Benefits of fishery policy should be applied fairly to all fishers
  - 12. Access to use a fishing ground should be first granted to those who live near it
  - 13. License fees should be charged to fishers for the privilege of using public resources
  - 14. Fishery management should be carried out with the participation of fishers
  - 15. Cooperation among fishers and fishery organizations should be increased
  - 16. Governing authority should be considered legitimate by fishers
- 3-1. Please rank the cards in the 'very important' category from the most important being placed in the left.
- 3-2. Why do you consider these cards to be very important?

# Guidelines important in managing coastal fisheries



\_\_\_\_\_

\_ \_

\_

\_ \_

\_\_\_\_\_

- 4-1. Can you give us a couple of words that come to your mind about the natural environment of your coastal area?
- 4-2. Can you give us a couple of words that come to your mind about your fishing life?
- 4-3. Can you give us a couple of words that come to your mind about the central government in the context of fisheries?
- 4-4. Can you give us a couple of words that come to your mind about the relationship between the central government and fishers?

5-1. Do you think your view is shared by others?

 $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  No  $\Box$  Do not know

- 5-1-1. If Yes, with which group of stakeholders? (Check all that apply)
  - Other fishers in your community
  - □ Other fishers outside of your community
  - □ Non-fishing members of your fishing village
  - □ Government officials and researchers
  - Other: \_\_\_\_\_
- 5-1-2. If No, why not? Please explain.
- 5-2. Have you heard of the Javul programme?
  - $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  No  $\rightarrow$  If No, go to Question 5-5.
  - 5-2-1. If Yes, does what it aims to do fit well with your view of fisheries? Please explain.
    - 🗆 Yes 🗆 No
- 5-3. Has the Jayul programme affected the way you view the fisheries? Please explain.
   □ Yes □ No
   5-3-1. If yes, how are your new perspectives on fisheries different from the past?
   5-3-2. If no, why not?
- 5-4. Do you think the Javul programme is a good idea? Please explain why/why not.
- 5-5. Do you think the fisheries that you are involved with will be \_\_\_\_\_ in five years from now?
  □ Better □ Worse □ Same □ Other: \_\_\_\_\_

5-6. Age: 5-6-1. Your gender: 
Male 
Female

5-7. What is the highest level of education you have completed?

Elementary school	Middle school	
University/college	Graduate school 🛛 🗆 Other:	

Appendix II Survey instrument (for managers/researchers)





January 2012

Dear Sir/Madam:

We are conducting research concerning the management of Korean coastal fisheries and the *Jayul* programme, as part of a PhD study at the Department of Geography at Memorial University in Canada. Through the use of this survey, we wish to learn about what you judge to be important aspects of coastal fisheries and your views on how coastal fisheries should be carried out.

The objective of this survey is to obtain opinions of fishers, fishing community members, central and county government officials, and members of non-governmental organizations concerning the underlying priorities in the management of coastal fisheries. The responses will be analyzed and, along with other information revealed in the study, will contribute to the discussion about how to improve coastal fisheries management to address the current issues and challenges, and ultimately enhances the fishing way of life in coastal communities.

The survey contains five sections: Section 1 – Your involvement in fisheries Section 2 – General importance sorting exercise Section 3 – Management guideline importance sorting exercise Section 4 – Keywords exercise Section 5 – Your viewpoint about fisheries The survey should take about 30 minutes to complete.

Please note that there are no trick questions and there are no right or wrong answers. Your participation is completely voluntary and your responses will be kept <u>strictly confidential and anonymous</u>. If at anytime you wish not to continue, please feel free to withdraw from the study. There are no penalties for an incomplete survey. The survey results will be numerically transformed and recorded in a spreadsheet for further analysis. Qualitative information will be coded but without direct identifying information to protect your anonymity. All data will be kept in a locked storage facility for five years before being destroyed. By completing the survey, it is understood that we have your permission to use the information you have provided for the purpose of this research.

This survey has been reviewed by the Interdisciplinary Committee on Ethics in Human Research and found to be in compliance with Memorial University's ethics policy. If you have ethical concerns about the research (such as the way you have been treated or your rights as a participant), you may contact the Chairperson of the ICEHR at icehr@mun.ca or by telephone at +1 (709) 864-2861.

If you have comments or questions, or wish to receive a copy of the final report, please contact myself or my supervisor, Dr. Ratana Chuenpagdee, at ratanac@mm.ca or by telephone at +1 709 864-3157.

We truly appreciate you participation and sincerely thank you for your kind assistance!

Sincerely,

Andtheng

Andrew Song 🖀 +82 (0)10 5536 1473 🖂 amsong@mun.ca

- 1-1. What type of fishery or aquaculture-related work are you engaged in? (organization, expertise, main tasks etc)
- 1-2. How many years have you been involved in the(se) fishery-related work?
- 1-3. Are there types of fishery, coastal areas or fishing villages that you are most familiar with?
- 1-4. More specifically, what are your roles and responsibilities relating to coastal fishery management or policy, if any?
- 1-5. Do you have, or have you had, any involvement in the development or implementation of the Javul programme?

#### Sorting instruction:

The following phrases contain various aspects that may be deemed important in creating a healthy, productive coastal fishery and fishing life. As someone involved in the fishery, how would you place the following aspects in terms of their importance? Please place the cards into the three categories ranging from 'very important', 'somewhat important', and 'little important', in any way you like in the provided grid.

- 1. Healthy marine ecological system
- 2. Fishing village without conflicts
- 3. Equal fishing opportunity amongst fellow fishers
- 4. Freedom to decide when and where to fish
- 5. Comprehensive knowledge on marine ecosystem
- 6. High economic income from fishing work
- 7. Secure livelihoods from fishing work
- 8. Enjoyment and pleasure in fishery life

- 9. Moderate catch target
- Sense of pride for working in the fishing industry
- 11. Integrity in fisheries governing system
- 12. Cohesion among the members of fishing community
- 13. Strong leadership in fishery management
- 14. Public recognition of fishing work
- Young people taking interest in fishing tradition
- 16. Acceptance of fishery rules and regulations
- Please rank the cards in the 'very important' category from the most important being placed in the left.
- 2-2. Why do you consider these cards to be very important?

Very important				
Somewhat important				
Little important				
Very imp. ranked				

#### Important aspects of coastal fisheries

#### Sorting instruction:

The following statements describe several ways as to how coastal fisheries management can be carried out. In your opinion, how important is each statement in guiding coastal fisheries management in your area? Please place the cards in the three categories ranging from 'very important', 'somewhat important', and 'little important', in any way you like in the grid provided in front of you.

- 1. Fishery rules should be set at the community level
- 2. Fishing grounds should be used exclusively by the designated fisher groups
- 3. Fishery rules should be reviewed frequently to 11. Benefits of fishery policy should be applied better respond to rapid changes in fishing conditions
- 4. Fishery rules should be made based on scientific data
- 5. Central government should provide financial support to fishing communities
- 6. More closed seasons should be established
- 7. Overfishing should be prevented in all fishing operations
- 8. Fishing should be done without disrupting ecosystem integrity

- 9. Fishery policy should address fishers' needs
- 10. Fishing technology should be enhanced such that fish can be caught with less effort
- fairly to all fishers
- 12. Access to use a fishing ground should be first granted to those who live near it
- 13. License fees should be charged to fishers for the privilege of using public resources
- 14. Fishery management should be carried out with the participation of fishers
- 15. Cooperation among fishers and fishery organizations should be increased
- 16. Governing authority should be considered legitimate by fishers
- 3-1. Please rank the cards in the 'very important' category from the most important being placed in the left.
- 3-2. Why do you consider these cards to be very important?

#### Guidelines important in managing coastal fisheries

Very important				
Somewhat important				
Little important				
Very imp. ranked				

\_\_\_\_\_

\_\_\_\_\_

\_ \_

\_

\_ \_

\_

- 4-1. Can you give us a couple of words that come to your mind about the natural environment of your coastal area?
- 4-2. Can you give us a couple of words that come to your mind about your fishing life?
- 4-3. Can you give us a couple of words that come to your mind about the central government in the context of fisheries?
- 4-4. Can you give us a couple of words that come to your mind about the relationship between the central government and fishers?

## Section V: Your view of fisheries

5-1. Do you think your view is shared by others?

Yes No Do not know

- 5-1-1. If Yes, with which group of stakeholders? (Check all that apply)
  - □ Fishers participating in the Javul programme for many years
  - □ Fishers participating in the Javul programme for few years
  - □ Fishers not participating in the Javul programme
  - Non-fishing residents in fishing villages
  - Other government officials and researchers
  - Other: \_\_\_\_\_
- 5-1-2. If No, why not? Please explain.

## 5-2. Have you heard of the Javul programme?

- $\Box$  Yes  $\Box$  No  $\rightarrow$  If No, go to Question 5-5.
- 5-2-1. If Yes, does what it aims to do fit well with your view of fisheries? Please explain.
  - 🗆 Yes 🗆 No
- 5-3. Has the Javul programme affected the way you view the fisheries? Please explain.
   □ Yes □ No
   5-3-1. If yes, how are your new perspectives on fisheries different from the past?
   5-3-2. If no. why not?
- 5-4. Do you think the Javul programme is a good idea? Please explain why/why not.
- 5-5. Do you think the fisheries that you are involved with will be \_\_\_\_\_ in five years from now?
  □ Better □ Worse □ Same □ Other:
- 5-6. Age: \_\_\_\_\_ 5-6-1. Your gender: D Male D Female
- 5-7. What is the highest level of education you have completed?
  □ Elementary school □ Middle school □ High school
  □ University/college □ Graduate school □ Other: \_\_\_\_\_\_